
1

Agenda pack

North West London Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Monday 27 January 2020 at 3.00 pm

Committee Room 3, Kensington Town Hall, 
HorntonHornton St, Kensington, London, W8 7NX

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



N o t i c e  o f  M e e t i n g 

North West London Joint Health and 
Overview Scrutiny Committee 

          

Monday 27 January 2020 at 3pm 

Committee Room 3, Kensington Town Hall, Hornton 
Street, W8 7NX 

Contact: Gareth Ebenezer 

Tel: 020 7361 2947 

E-mail: gareth.ebenezer@rbkc.gov.uk 

Website: www.rbkc.gov.uk 

Issue Date:    17 January 2020 

Chief Executive - Barry Quirk 

 

 

Membership 
 
Councillor Mel Collins (London Borough of Hounslow) – Chair 
Councillor Daniel Crawford (London Borough of Ealing) – Vice-Chair 
Councillor Ketan Sheth (London Borough of Brent) 
Councillor Lucy Richardson (London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham) 
Councillor Rekha Shah (London Borough of Harrow) 
Councillor Robert Freeman (Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea) 
Councillor Monica Saunders (London Borough of Richmond) 
Councillor Lorraine Dean (City of Westminster) 
 
Substitute Members: 
 
Councillor Shaida Mehrban (London Borough of Hounslow) 
Councillor Joy Morrissey (London Borough of Ealing) 
Councillor Neil Nerva (London Borough of Brent) 
Councillor Bora Kwon (London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham) 
Councillor Vina Mithani (London Borough of Harrow) 
Councillor Max Chauhan (Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea) 
No fixed substitute (London Borough of Richmond) 
No fixed substitute (City of Westminster) 

 

Public Agenda 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Received from Councillor Monica Saunders (London Borough of Richmond) and Councillor 

Lorraine Dean (City of Westminster).  Councillor Jim Glen (City of Westminster) is 

substitute for Councillor Dean. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Any Member of the Committee, or any other Member present in the meeting room, who has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, in a matter to be considered at the meeting is reminded to disclose the interest to the 
meeting and to leave the room while any discussion or vote on the matter takes place.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1

http://www.rbkc.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Members are also reminded that if they have any other significant interest in a matter to be considered at 
the meeting, whether registered or not, which they feel should be declared in the public interest, such 
interests should be declared to the meeting. In such circumstances Members should consider whether a 
member of the public, with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard the interest as so 
significant that it is likely to prejudice their consideration or decision making. If the Member considers that to 
be the case, they should leave the room while any discussion or vote on the matter takes place. 

 

4. MINUTES OF LAST TWO JHOSC MEETINGS: 

 22 July 2019  

 30 October 2019 (both enclosed) 

 

5. UPDATE ON LONG TERM PLAN (Discussion item) 

 

6. BABYLON GP AT HAND AND ANY POTENTIAL IMPACT ON NW LONDON (enclosed) 

 

7. NHS ESTATES STRATEGY FOR NORTH WEST LONDON (enclosed) 

 

8. WORK PLANNING PROGRAMME (Discussion item) 

 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

 

10. NEXT MEETING 

 9 March 2020 (Venue – LB Richmond upon Thames) 

 

11. CLOSE 
[Note: Each written report on the public part of the Agenda as detailed above: 

(i) was made available for public inspection from the date of the Agenda; 

(ii) incorporates a list of the background papers which (i) disclose any facts or matters on which that report, 
or any important part of it, is based; and (ii) have been relied upon to a material extent in preparing it. 
(Relevant documents which contain confidential or exempt information are not listed.); and 

(iii) may, with the consent of the Chairman and subject to specified reasons, be supported at the meeting by 
way of oral statement or further written report in the event of special circumstances arising after the 
despatch of the Agenda.] 

Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There are no matters scheduled to be discussed at this meeting that would appear to disclose confidential 
or exempt information under the provisions Schedule 12A of the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985. 

Should any other matters arise during the course of discussion of the above items or should the Chairman 
agree to discuss any other such matters on the grounds of urgency, the Committee will wish to resolve 
to exclude the press and public by virtue of the private nature of the business to be transacted.   

Page 2



           
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 

 

NORTH WEST LONDON 
JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the North West London Joint Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee held on Monday 22 July 2019 at 3.00pm at Westminster City 
Hall, 64 Victoria Street, London SW1E 6QP. 
 
 
Members Present:  
 

Councillor Mel Collins (Chairman)  LB Hounslow 
Councillor Daniel Crawford   LB Ealing 
Councillor Lorraine Dean    Westminster City Council 
Councillor Robert Freeman   RB Kensington & Chelsea 
Councillor Lucy Richardson   LB Hammersmith & Fulham 
Councillor Monica Saunders   LB Richmond 
Councillor Rekha Shah    LB Harrow 
Councillor Ketan Sheth      LB Brent 
 
 
Apologies for Absence: None. 
 
 
 
1.  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 
 
1.1 Councillor Lorraine Dean (City of Westminster) welcomed Committee 

Members, Officers and visitors to the meeting.  
 
 
2. MEMBERSHIP 
 
2.1 There were no changes to Membership. 
. 
2.2  The Committee noted that Councillor Robert Freeman (RB Kensington & 

Chelsea) would be standing down from the Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee (JHOSC) and that this would be the last meeting he would attend. 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Freeman on behalf of the Committee for his 
helpful and constructive contributions, and wished him well for the future. 

 
 

 DRAFT MINUTES 

Page 3



3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
3.1 Councillor Ketan Sheth (LB Brent) declared that he was the Lead Governor at 

Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL). Councillor 
Robert Freeman (RB Kensington & Chelsea) declared he was a member of the 
Council of Governors of the Royal Marsden Hospital; and Councillor Lorraine 
Dean (Westminster City Council) declared that she was also a Governor at 
CNWL.  

 

 
4. MINUTES 
 
4.1 RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2019 be signed 

by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 
4.2 Issues Arising 
 
4.2.1 Minute 7: Case for a Single CCG and Borough Arrangements and Development 

of Integrated Care 
  
 The Committee was informed that the deadline for responses to the 

consultation had been extended from 24 July 2019 to 24 August 2019.  
 
 

5. UPDATE ON THE COMMISSIONING REFORM CASE FOR CHANGE 
 
5.1 The Committee received an update from Mark Easton (Accountable Officer of 

NW London Collaboration of CCGs and Rory Hegarty (Director of 
Communications & Engagement, NW London Collaboration of CCGs) on 
engagement for the Commissioning Reform Case for Change; and on 
proposals for governance, local scrutiny and engagement. The Committee also 
received an outline of the draft operating model, and heard from Dr Madhukar 
Patel (Chair of Brent CCG), who commented on the initiatives that were being 
taken forward by Brent CCG.  

 
5.2 Since launching the Case for Change on 28 May 2019, the eight NW London 

CCGs had been engaging with partners and staff to give stakeholders the 
opportunity to influence the design of the proposed single CCG. This had 
included meetings with staff, patient groups, GP practices and local authorities.  

 The NHS long-term plan had included the re-organisation of the health service, 
and it had been proposed that the current number of 190 CCGs in England 
should be significantly reduced to 44, which would reflect the number Strategy 
and Transformation Partnerships (STPs).  

 
5.3 It was believed that the reorganisation would enable a stronger approach to be 

taken in establishing best practice pathways; standardising costs; and reducing 
health inequalities. It was anticipated that the reorganisation would also provide 
greater opportunities for integration and enable more straightforward decision 
making.  

 

Page 4



5.4 The core principles under which the single CCG would operate included 
working together as one system to benefit the whole population of NW London 
and to address health equalities; and moving away from the payment by results 
system to place-based budgets based on population need. It was noted that the 
population had risen by 5% over the past five years, while spending had risen 
by 18%.  Under the new approach, budgets would be used collectively in a more 
effective way and would focus on prevention and keeping people out of hospital.  
It was proposed that local sub-committees of the Joint Committee of NW 
London CCGs would be created at Borough level, with their own leadership, 
budget and responsibilities. The sub-committees would also have the power to 
commission local community services and manage primary care. Guidance 
related to financial arrangements for deficits and surpluses was still awaited 
from NHS England; and consensus would also be needed for the constitution 
that would govern the eight boroughs.  

 
5.4 The Collaboration of CCGs would continue to engage with stakeholders, and 

were aiming to present the finalised proposals to CCG Governing Bodies in 
September for endorsement. If approved, it was proposed that the CCGs in 
north west London would become a single CCG by April 2020. The Committee 
noted that the launch would be postponed to April 2021 if it was decided that 
more time was needed.   

 
5.5 Councillor Ketan Seth (LB Brent) asked whether eight CCGs was the optimum 

number that could be combined, and Mark Easton confirmed that the CCGs 
within the collaboration had been in the STP footprint for NW London.  The 
Committee also noted that NHS England had required that implementation took 
place on 1 April as a fixed date. Councillor Daniel Crawford (LB Ealing) 
commented on the limited timescale and possibility that some boroughs may 
not have developed the local organisation to the level needed for delivery. Mark 
Easton confirmed that if the application for merger was not ready by 30 
September, NHS England had given assurance that they would accept 
applications by the end of October based on the approval of governing bodies. 
The Committee asked to receive copies of the correspondence between the 
CCG and NHS England. 
 

5.6 Mark Easton informed the Committee that the aim was to standardise services 
across NW London, and that where there was to be a change in service 
consultation would be carried out on a single or multi-borough basis. Councillor 
Lucy Richardson (LB Hammersmith & Fulham) suggested that the extension 
for consultation from 24 July to 24 August 2019 may not provide enough time 
for adequate engagement. Mark Easton agreed that local engagement was 
important, and confirmed that the single CCG would be committed to working 
and talking with people in smaller groups. 

 
5.7 Dr Madhukar Patel (Chair of Brent CCG) informed the Committee that the single 

CCG would obtain information from the Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) 
dashboard, which was a local based system that drew and collated data from 
GP services. The dashboard would also contribute to the strategic direction for 
NW London, and Dr Patel agreed to arrange a demonstration of the WSIC 
dashboard for the Committee. 

Page 5



 
5.8 The Committee discussed the eligibility criteria for continuing healthcare 

between CCGs, and noted that although there should be no change to existing 
agreements interpretation could differ between boroughs. Mark Easton 
acknowledged the need to be consistent, and confirmed that the NHS had been 
looking to standardise the process.   

 
5.9 Councillor Rekha Shah (LB Harrow) sought clarification of how local authority 

representation on the new single CCG Governing Body would be decided, and   
Mark Easton confirmed that the proposal currently provided for one local 
government representative who could be a senior officer. Councillor Crawford 
suggested that one member may be inadequate, and not reflect the diversity or 
need across the eight boroughs. Mark Easton agreed to consider increasing 
the number of local authority representatives on the Board to two; and the 
Committee confirmed that the two representatives should be officers, provided 
accountability was maintained.  Scrutiny and accountability of the single CCG 
would continue to be done at meetings of the JHOSC and at borough Scrutiny 
Committees; and a scheme of delegation was being prepared that would 
describe how scrutiny and accountability would work.  

 
5.10 Councillor Robert Freeman (RB Kensington & Chelsea) commented on 

integration between local authorities in NW London, and Dr Patel suggested 
that the single CCG would be the start of a process that would enable the way 
services were delivered to change with artificial barriers between boroughs 
being removed. The NW London CCGs currently had an operating deficit of £30 
million per year which was being met by NHS England; and it was anticipated 
that by the third year of operation the long-term recovery plan would enable the 
single CCG to achieve financial balance.  

 
5.11  Councillor Lorraine Dean (City of Westminster) asked how the NW London 

Collaboration would drive quality after centralisation. Mark Easton confirmed 
that a NW London Quality Committee was currently operating in shadow form 
and looking at specialist care. Part of the corporate objectives of the Quality 
Committee were that each of their providers would get a Continuing Health Care 
(CHC) rating of ‘good’ or better. The Collaboration was also beginning to work 
in a more integrated way, with quality being under a single system with a shared 
approach. The Committee noted that there would still be an important role for 
quality to be driven at a local level.  

 
5.12 Councillor Dean also asked for details of the initiatives that were proposed to 

attract people to work in NW London rather than elsewhere bearing in mind the 
changes that could happen post-Brexit. Mark Easton confirmed that hospitals 
were already seeking overseas recruitment outside of the EU, and that all of 
the NHS institutions in NW London were offering to pay application fees for staff 
who wanted to seek resident status.  A new direct entry nursing grade was also 
being introduced, and additional pharmacists were being sought. Mark Easton 
acknowledged the need to upskill existing staff and home care workers.  

 
5.13 The Committee noted that the CCG was carrying out health inequalities 

assessments, which would form part of the documentation to governing bodies. 

Page 6



 
5.14 The Chairman thanked the Committee and representatives from the NHS for 

attending the meeting and for their contributions. It was noted that the next 
meeting was scheduled for Friday 20 September 2019.    

 
5.15 RESOLVED:  That the update on the Commissioning Reform Case for Change 

be noted. 
 
 Actions Arising: 
 

1. That the Committee receive copies of the correspondence between the 
CCG and NHS England on the submission of applications after the 
September deadline. 

 
2. That a demonstration of the Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) 

dashboard be arranged for the Committee. 
 
3. That the number of local authority representatives on the new single CCG 

Governing Body would be increase to two. 
 
4. That the results of health inequality assessments carried out by the CCG 

would be circulated to Members of the JHOSC as soon as they were 
available.   

  
 

6.  OTHER BUSINESS 
 
6.1 No other business was reported.  
 
 
7. TERMINATION OF MEETING 
 
7.1 The meeting ended at 4.48pm.   
 
 (The Minute taker at this meeting was Andrew Palmer.) 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN _____________________  DATE ________________ 
   

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Draft Minutes 
 

Wednesday 30 October 2019 
 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Members Present: 
Councillor Mel Collins (Chair) London Borough of Hounslow 
Councillor Daniel Crawford  London Borough of Ealing 
Councillor Lorraine Dean  City of Westminster  
Councillor Robert Freeman Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea  
Councillor Lucy Richardson London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
Councillor Monica Saunders London Borough of Richmond  
Councillor Rekah Shah  London Borough of Harrow 
Councillor Ketan Sheth  London Borough of Brent  
 
 
NHS Representatives Present:  
 
Richard Ellis, Joint Associate Director, Primary Care Transformation Joint, North 
West London Collaborative of CCGs; Associate Director, Primary Care 
Transformation, Rory Hegarty, Director of Communications and Engagement, North 
West London Collaborative of CCGs; Mark Easton, Accountable Officer, North 
West London of Collaborative CCGs; and Dr Mohini Parmar, Long-Term Plan 
Clinical Director and Chair of Ealing CCG. 
 

 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 
Councillor Lucy Richardson, as the representative member of the host borough, 
Hammersmith & Fulham, welcomed members and officers to the meeting. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

2.1 None. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3.1 Councillor Ketan Sheth (LB Brent) declared that he was the Lead Governor at 
Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL). Councillor 
Robert Freeman (RB Kensington & Chelsea) declared he was a member of the 
Council of Governors of the Royal Marsden Hospital; and Councillor Lorraine 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Dean (Westminster City Council) declared that she was also a Governor at 
CNWL.  
 

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

4.1 The minutes of the 22 July were deferred and will be agreed at the next 
meeting. 
 

4.2 The outstanding actions arising from the previous meeting were briefly outlined 
by officers.  These, together with those arising from the meeting would be 
circulated.  Mark Easton provided the following response to outstanding actions 
which were to have been reported to the meeting on 10 December (it was noted 
that this meeting would be rescheduled): 
 
1. That the Committee receive copies of the correspondence between the 

CCG and NHS England on the submission of applications after the 
September deadline. 
 
It was agreed that this information was no longer relevant given that the 
date for the merger had been postponed to April 2021. 

 
2. That a demonstration of the Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) 

dashboard be arranged for the Committee.  
 

Mark Easton confirmed that a suitable date for the demonstration would 
be agreed with members of the Committee. 

 
3. That the number of local authority representatives on the new single CCG 

Governing Body would be increase to two. 
 

Mark Easton referred to his previous comment on the postponement of 
the merger and reiterated that a view about this would be formulated early 
in 2020, as part of the further work on the development of the CCG. 

 
4. That the results of health inequality assessments carried out by the CCG 

would be circulated to Members of the JHOSC as soon as they were 
available. 

 
4.3 Mark Easton confirmed results of the health inequality assessment had been 

delayed and would not be available until early in the New Year, following the 
development work.  It was explained that the views of stakeholders had been 
noted and so the NWL CCGs would take a more measured approach in 
developing arrangements for a merged CCG.  
 

5. NORTH WEST LONDON FINANCIAL RECOVERY  
 

5.1 Mark Easton referred to the paper that had been circulated and briefly 
highlighted key points which set out a whole system approach the financial 
position of the NHS in North West London. Small overspends still generated 
large sums given the overall NHS budget of £3.5 billion.  In context, the cost of 
treatment and unit costs had increased significantly ahead of funding levels and 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

acute activity had increased by 18%. The challenge of the QIPP (quality, 
innovation, productivity and prevention) was to ensure that savings targets 
were met.  The intention was not to achieve a balanced budget but to address 
a deficit of £50.9 million.  Following a deficit in 2018 an agreement had been 
reached with regulators that the financial year would end deficit as it would not 
be possible to clear the accumulated amount within a year. Mark Easton 
referenced the four strands of the financial recovery plan and in particular 
Strand three, which might impact on patient experience. 
 

5.2 Councillor Mel Collins (LB Hounslow) enquired about the 3.4% increase in the 
budget and how this would be targeted to achieve stability in patient satisfaction 
levels. If savings of 20% were sought, he also asked how this would impact on 
patient satisfaction.  In a related third query, Councillor Collins sought further 
details about Strand three.  Mark Easton referred to an example annotated in 
the report regarding consultant to consultant referrals which was to enforce 
clinical policy agreed in 2014. Enforcing the policy would streamline referrals 
from clinician to clinician and avoid confusion in non-urgent elective cases.  It 
was confirmed that there would be no reduction in patient safety and improve 
the efficient use of NHS resources.   

 

5.3 Councillor Daniel Crawford (LB Ealing) referred to recent media coverage 
which suggested that the consultant to consultant referral policy would cease. 
Greater clarity was necessary to ensure that NHS messaging was clear and to 
avoid confusion.  There had to date been variations in reinforcing the policy, 
but it was important to explain that it did not mean that patients would not be 
referred. Rory Hegarty added that the NWL Collaborative were in discussions 
with Healthwatch, local authorities and the voluntary sector organisations to 
ensure greater clarity in NHS communications where there was a distinction 
between urgent (cancer) and elective care referrals. In the discussion which 
followed Mark Easton responded to Councillor Robert Freeman’s concerns.  He 
clarified that constitutional standard patient waiting times would not be 
exceeded.  Rory Hegarty commented on NHS communications with reference 
to the recent changes to prescriptions as an example.  It was acknowledged 
that there had been inconsistencies in the communications campaign around 
this.   

 

5.4 Replying to Councillor Collins first two questions, Mark Easton explained that 
the 3.4% increase reflected an uplift but much of this had already been 
earmarked and the financial position improved.  Essentially this would alleviate 
the budget deficit through a five-stage process which included contract 
variations, demographic and non-demographic growth (technology 
implementation) and pay awards. The QIPP programme also offered some 
leeway and contributed to a reduction in the overall deficit.  Councillor Crawford 
observed that despite factoring in contingency plans this would be a prolonged 
financial recovery process over an extended period. He was keen to 
understand the level of success expected in achieving hoped for outcomes. It 
was acknowledged that there were risks and that the spend would be monitored 
monthly to ensure that the plans were delivering as expected. With a payment 
by results system the NHS spend was expected to be equal to the providers 
cost but there were inherent risks within this that could be overstated.  
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

In response to a query from Councillor Freeman, Mark Easton explained that if 
no further action was taken the deficit would continue to accrue.  Continuing 
with the current operating plan would reduce the deficit and deliver modest 
improvements.  However, he acknowledged that it took time to adjustment and 
implement measures and that a more challenging control target could be 
warranted.  
 

5.5 Councillor Ketan Shah invited Mark Easton to elaborate further on each of the 
four strands and how any risks might be mitigated.  Referring to Appendix 1, 
Mark Easton sited the use of £2 million in CCG reserves, with no identifiable 
risk.  There were inherently higher risks in localising services, with the intention 
that local treatment could be more financially efficient.  Guidance would need 
to be provided to GPs regarding the referral process.  This was a complex and 
untested process and would be rag rated amber as the nature of the risk was 
unknown.  With regards to strand three and patient choice, Mark Easton offered 
an assurance that patient choice would not be diluted.  Most would continue to 
benefit from patient choice and a conversation between a clinician and patient 
which would facilitate shared decision making. He acknowledged that all 
appointments needed to be digitised and that referrals needed to be made 
properly so that no residents missed out on treatment. In terms of how 
widespread this issue was, Mark Easton clarified that it varied from borough to 
borough across North West London and according to GP practice.  He 
concurred that all appointments needed to be electronic and that there was a 
need to ensure that referrals were made properly.   
 

5.6 In response to a comment from Councillor Crawford, Mark Easton 
acknowledged that the extent of the impact might vary in different boroughs.  
He did not have a figure on the percentage of patients were affected by referrals 
(this was a relatively low number and the information could be provided) but 
the overall aim was to achieve a more streamlined pathway.  

 

5.7 Councillor Collins asked that if in future meetings this particular issue remained 
on the agenda to be monitored.  It was important that the members of the 
committee were able to properly with their scrutiny remit and act as critical 
friends.  It was suggested that the committee formally drafts a letter to the 
Secretary of State expressing its deep concern about the NWL Collaborative 
of CCGs collective financial position. 
 
 
 
 
ACTIONS: 
 

 That the GP at Hand overspend of £10.2 million represented a 
significant portion of the overall all deficit and that this would be 
brought back to a future meeting for closer examination;  

 Mark Easton to consider whether it would be possible to provide borough 
level analysis (across all eight boroughs).  This would need to be 
discussed locally and a response prepared accordingly;  

 Members to be provide with the figures for the number of patient 
referrals; and 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 JHOSC to draft a letter to send to the Secretary of State expressing 
concern about the funding of the NWL Collaborative of CCGs. 

 
6. NHS LONG-TERM PLAN SUBMISSION  

 
6.1 Councillor Collins requested that the treatment needs of the 18-25 years of age 

regarding the Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service and support for 
this, be included within the presentation.  
 

6.2 Dr Parmar briefly explained that the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) response set 
out a clear sense of direction as to the delivery of services, covering areas of 
delivery, robust provision of care, primary care, mental health, prevention and 
personalisation of care.  Three specific areas were urgent and emergency care 
which had increased, early cancer diagnosis and digitised services. The LTP 
submission sets out the NWL Collaborative’s draft response.  The LTP 
implementation framework had recently been published and they were now in 
the process of analysing services and would track the trajectory of the projected 
service.  Focusing on long term care, the key areas were described as included 
same day emergency response where a patient presents at A&E, allowing 
people to spend time in receiving care in the best way possible, strong 
maternity services.  In Ealing, the CCG were also looking at services for 
children and young people in the context of early years provision and long- term 
conditions, acknowledging that there were clear outcomes being sought  in 
terms of responding to children in mental health crises.  
 

6.3 Service delivery through 49 Primary Care Networks in London would be 
facilitated by 2021 meeting the needs of 30-70 thousand people. It was 
important that the delivery and support of community health services worked in 
tandem with PCNs.  It had recently been announced that the UK had lost its 
measles elimination status and that this was a recognised problem in West 
London. In terms of improving wait times for cancer treatment, Dr Parmar 
confirmed that the standard wait time was 62 days but that no patient should 
be required to wait this length of time to start treatment. 
 

6.4 With reference to the financial recovery plan, commissioners and providers had 
worked together.  The formation of integrated care partnerships (ICPs) would 
align with each borough and combine to offer a place-based approach and 
reflected the Mayor of London’s primary focus on obesity and homelessness 
which were key issues for Londoners. 
 

6.5 Councillor Collins observed that it was unclear how the CCGs would engage 
with voluntary sector, an essential component of ensuring the delivery of 
community, placed-based services.  He asked how they planned to address 
rental issues faced by many voluntary organisations who needed to vacate 
premises which they could no longer afford to rent. Councillor Collins was also 
keen to understand how the CCG intended to work with local authorities and 
the voluntary sector and how they would develop pathways. Councillor Collins 
viewed the proposed scheme as positive but felt that it lacked sufficient detail 
to ensure successful execution. Dr Parmar responded that the implementation 
framework had only recently been published but concurred with Councillor 
Collins.  Referring to the work being undertaken in Ealing, Dr Parmar explained 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

that local government and local voluntary organisations had set up an ICP 
board (chaired by her) to facilitate and deliver place-based care.  Richard Ellis 
added that in terms of engagement with the voluntary sector the LTP embodied 
new and innovative ideas.  These would embed and sustain areas of working 
that had been in train for several years and represented a combined and 
collective approach to working with provider stakeholders.  
 

6.6 Dr Parmar explained that they hoped to progress improvement under each of 
the four headings of achieving integrated care (combining health, social care 
and community provision), prevention, patient safety and digitisation.  Mark 
Easton responded to Councillor Collins query regarding rental rents for 
voluntary bodies and explained that the trusts did not own the estate, this was 
owned by the NHS and therefore commercial rates were charged.   
 

6.7 Councillor Lucy Richardson enquired if the LTP was a draft and if there would 
be further iterations.  Mark Easton responded that they had hoped to repeat 
some of the mistakes made during the 2016 STP (Sustainable Transformation 
Plan) process.  This had been criticised for its lack of transparency and so a 
different approach had been taken to foster greater engagement.  The LTP had 
been published in draft form as comments were still being sought but it had 
been recognised that there were inherent difficulties in consulting large 
populations. Healthwatch events had been poorly attended and so they hoped 
to review local consultation methods.  Rory Hegarty confirmed that the level of 
public attendance at these events had been poor despite being well-advertised 
with local roadshows and information. The LTP had tight response deadlines 
and the CCG recognised the importance of sustaining continuous 
conversations with people.  Rory Hegarty commented that the LTP was a huge 
plan and required ongoing outreach and engagement and the need to improve 
the public involvement model was accepted.   
 

6.8 Councillor Richardson concurred that having conversations with Healthwatch 
and patient participation groups was a key starting point requested that a 
timetable for reviewing the LTP be provided so that members could contribute 
to the process.  It was observed that an ICP had been established in Ealing 
and noted that LBHF had not progressed as far.  Councillor Richardson asked 
that a more detailed presentation about ICPs be provided.  Rory Hegarty 
responded that engagement on the formation of ICPs was welcome.  
 

6.9 Councillor Freeman highlighted the importance of consulting with providers in 
addition to patient groups given the extent of the aspirational aims presented 
in the LTP.  He enquired about the cost of the changes being proposed and 
whether this would be cost neutral.  Mark Easton confirmed that the LTP was 
not intended to be primarily for commissioners and that it was a whole systems 
approach.  The question of money and cost was still being explored but the 
Secretary of State for Health promise of extra funding was predicated on the 
LTP.  It was anticipated that it would not be cost neutral but that the NWL 
budget might increase by approximately £250 million, some of which was 
already earmarked.  
 

6.10 Returning to Councillor Richardson’s earlier point, Mark Easton confirmed that 
further details about ICPs could be provided and explained that the exact 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

composition of arrangements for the formation of ICPs varied from borough to 
borough. Hounslow had progressed the developments of ICPs furthest which 
indicated different strengths and challenges.  It was further explained that there 
might be a single CCG with delegated budged, effectively managed by local 
teams, or, larger, more formal partnerships with corresponding delegated 
budgets.  Mark Easton stated that it was not possible to predict a timeline or 
the extent of the possible variations but confirmed that the ICP would not hold 
its meetings in public.  He acknowledged that the estates were a concern and 
that many estates in West London were not fit for purpose, unable to suitably 
meet the needs of the local population. 
 

6.11 Councillor Crawford responded to Richard Ellis’s comment regarding increased 
capital investment in developing and delivering more digitised services which 
linked to the issue of estates management.  There would be many patients that 
would find it difficult or be unable to access the digital offer and he expressed 
concern regarding the lack of progress made on estate management.  
 

6.12 Councillor Freeman highlighted concerns regarding childhood obesity and low 
take up of inoculations and asked how these would be addressed by the CCG.  
Dr Parmar responded that there was currently a immunisations crises and that 
they were working with Public Health to tackle this through primary care or 
pharmacy services. Councillor Freeman explained that RBKC, through Public 
Health, had invested funds in addressing these issues and welcomed any 
further insight that would ensure that this would be supported by the CCG. Dr 
Parmar confirmed that funding for these areas would feed through the primary 
care networks.   
 
ACTONS: 
 

 To provide the Committee with a review timetable for the LTP process; 

 That the Committee be provided with a more detailed presentation about 
the formation and implementation of ICPs; 

 That more information about placed based boards include financial 
details and when this will take place; 

 Dr Parmar to provide a response on preventing eating disorders raised 
(by Councillor Collins) with an answer to provide outside the meeting. 

 
7. JHOSC WORK PROGRAMME  

 
7.1 Following discussion members agreed the agenda items for the next meetings 

would include estates and GP at Hand.  An item on the Citizens Panel would 
be taken at the February meeting.  
 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Work Programme be amended to reflect the amended Agenda 
planned for the next meeting.  
 

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
8.1 It was noted that the meeting date for the next had been moved from December 

to 14th January 2020. [later moved to 27th January 2020]. 
 

Meeting started: 2pm 
Meeting ended: 4pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 16



 

1 
 

 

 
  

 

  First draft submission  

27 September 2019 

 

The North West 

London Health and 

Care Partnership 

 

Strategic Delivery Plan  

for the NHS Long Term Plan 

 

 

 Page 17



 

2 
 

I - Foreword 

This North West London (NW London) response to the NHS Long Term Plan marks 

a new chapter for our health and care partnership, setting out our commitments to 

each other as members of the partnership, our local communities and patients and 

those that work across health and care in NW London. 

Our partnership has a long history working together and we have made strides in 

improving health and care services since we formally came together in 2016 

including: 

 Our maternity services are recognised nationally for developing new ways of 
working, which have improved care and specifically continuity in the midwives 
women see. We also launched the NW London ‘Mum and baby’ app, which 
includes care plans and information about all aspects of maternity and baby 
care. This successful app has now been adopted by other health partnerships 
across the country. 
 

 Using digital tools to improve access to health services – we are leading the 
way in developing and testing new ways for patients to access health and 
care services digitally. Online consultations, allow patients to email their GP 
through a secure form on the GP practice website, removing the need to call 
or book an appointment to ask for advice. The launch of our self-help and 
service directory app ‘Health help now’ has helped over 100,000 people so 
far. Our ‘Whole Systems Integrated Care Dashboard’ is recognised nationally 
as one of the best health data sets available and clinicians are using it to 
improve the care and treatment. 
 

 Our diabetes programme is starting to see real success with a 50% increase 
(last year) in the numbers of patients attending an education course to help 
them better manage their own diabetes. This programme of work is being built 
on and has already seen the growth in hospital admissions for diabetes-
related complications has been almost halved to 4.9% in 2018/19 from 8.3% 
in 2017-18.  
 

 Care for those with dementia has significantly improved with all areas of NW 
London exceeding national standards for early diagnosis of the disease. This 
means more people are getting the right advice and support at the early 
stages of the disease. 
 

 We have a world-leading reputation for some of our acute hospitals and the 
research work connected with them, through our Academic Health Science 
Centre. 

 

The launch of our new five-year plan allows our partnership to build on this success 

and take a fresh look at how we deliver high quality, best value, and safe care for the 

residents of NW London. We need to work together to continue to reduce 

Page 18



 

3 
 

inequalities for our residents, improve our staff experience and deliver the optimum 

value for the NHS.  

Prevention and supporting our population to start well, live well and age well are also 

key ambitions for the success of our plan.  We want to work ever more closely with 

local people and across health and social care, building on the successful plans we 

have put in place. 

Clinically safe and sustainable services require financial stability and our plan sets 

out a suite of ambitions to improve care and services, but there are some real 

financial challenges we also need to address over the next year, five years and 

beyond.  

In NW London we collectively have an underlying NHS deficit of £324million across 

our clinical commissioning groups and service providers, with financial challenges 

also present for our local authorities. 

Currently the services we provide cost more than we are allocated to deliver them 

and we need to address this. We know there is variation in the quality and cost of 

services we provide across NW London and as a partnership we are committed to 

improving this. 

We will have difficult decisions to make if we want to ensure that we continue to offer 

world-class care to our residents and aid London to be the healthiest global city.  

Led by our clinicians we will work as a system, rather than a series of individual 

organisations, to reduce the variation in our services, maximise the value and ensure 

consistent, high quality for our patients.  We are committed to engaging with local 

residents and our stakeholders to ensure the right decisions are made to meet the 

needs of all who live and work in NW London. 

A key focus to ensuring delivery of high quality care whilst also tackling our financial 

deficit and delivering our ambitions set out in this plan will be the development of our 

integrated care system (ICS). This will provide opportunities for us to support each 

other and focus our collective budget to improve outcomes for all residents. NW 

London has a strong history of working together to improve care for our residents 

and through our Health and Care Partnership we have established robust 

governance that brings us together. We will further develop and strengthen this to 

become an Integrated Care System by April 2021. 

Alongside the development of our integrated care system we will, subject to the 

necessary approvals, move to create a single clinical commissioning group (CCG) 

for NW London. We see this change to the way our CCGs operate as an opportunity 

to streamline systems and processes, reduce duplication and improve the 

consistency in our offer of care to NW London residents. In doing this, we will learn 

from the experience of previous large-scale operating models, ensuring that we 

Page 19



 

4 
 

maintain a strong focus on public and stakeholder engagement in each of our eight 

boroughs. 

Work is also underway to develop integrated care partnerships (ICPs) locally to 

ensure the right services are available for our specific population needs. Our 

integrated care partnerships will bring together local GPs through the newly-formed 

primary care networks, community nurses, therapists, social care and others, 

working with our residents to improve health and care outcomes for people as a 

whole, not as separate services provided to someone. 

There will be a lot of change to the way health and care is planned, provided and 

bought in NW London and as a partnership we are looking forward to being able to 

do things differently and in the process drive out some of the variation that is seen in 

the services we provide. 

This plan summarises the next steps for the development of our health and care 

partnership and covers a wide range of services and systems we will shape and 

improve in order to deliver the ambitions set out by NHS England to all of our two 

million residents in NW London. 

 

Mark Easton 

Accountable Officer  

NW London Collaboration of CCGs 

 

Lesley Watts 

Senior Responsible Officer 

NW London Health and Care Partnership 

  

Page 20



 

5 
 

Contents 

Section Title and subsection Page 
number 

i Foreword 2 
 Contents 5 
1 Introduction 6 
2.0 Our vision and clinical and care strategy  8 
2.1 What people have told us  12 
2.2 The London vision 15 
3.0 Our population 17 
4.0 New ways of working  22 
4.1 Communities as the building block for integrated care 

(developing ICPs) 
27 

5.0 Delivering the NHS Long Term Plan 44 
5.1 Transformed ‘out-of-hospital care’ and fully integrated 

community-based care 
45 

5.2 Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services 53 
5.3 Giving people more control over their own health and more 

personalised care 
57 

5.4 Prevention  62 
5.5 Digitally-enabling primary care and outpatient care   67 
5.6 Improving cancer outcomes 72 
5.7 Improving mental health services 77 
5.8 Shorter waits for planned care 83 
5.9 Population health 87 
6.0 Care and quality outcomes  
6.1 A strong start in life for children and young people 91 
6.2 Maternity 96 
6.3 Learning disabilities and autism 101 
 
6.4 
6.5 
6.6 

Better care for major health conditions  
- Cardiovascular disease and stroke care 
- Diabetes 
- Respiratory disease 

 
107 
111 
116 

6.7 Research innovation and genomics 119 
7.0 Enablers  
7.1 Workforce (volunteering) 122 
7.2 Digital 128 
7.3 Estates 134 
7.4 Finance 137 
8.0 Glossary  

 

  

  

Page 21



 

6 
 

1.0  Introduction 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 

As medicine advances, health needs change and society develops, the NHS has to 
continually move forward so that in 10 years’ time we have a service fit for the future. 
The NHS Long Term Plan is drawn up by frontline staff, patients groups, and 
national experts to be ambitious but realistic. 

 
In NW London our health and care partnership is a collaboration of over 30 
organisations, including the NHS, local authorities, voluntary sector and 
Healthwatch. Bringing eight boroughs together, serving a population of 2.4million, 
makes us the largest health and care partnership in the country. 
 
This is our partnership’s plan for the next five years to meet the new national 
requirements set out in the NHS ‘Long Term Plan’, to improve the quality of patient 
care and health outcomes, while focusing on building an NHS fit for the future. 
 
This plan covers a broad range of services and key areas, with a focus on reducing 
local health inequalities and variation in services across NW London. It also looks at 
tackling current workforce pressures and using national funding to upgrade technology and 

digitally enable care across services. Along with these priorities we want to develop 
services that: 

 

 enable everyone to get the best start in life 

 help communities to live well 

 help people to age well. 

 

This plan sets out some significant changes in the way we operate as a partnership 
on a NW London level as an integrated care system and locally as we develop our 
integrated care partnerships to continue to provide and develop local, place-based 
care. The recent launch of primary care networks across boroughs will provide local 
clinical leadership. 
 
In order to deliver the ambitions set out in the long term we are focusing on seven 
interconnected areas, which we have embedded across our health and care 
partnership focusing on: 
 

 Healthy communities and prevention 
 Maternity, children and young people 
 Primary, social and community care 
 Urgent and emergency care 

Page 22



 

7 
 

 Mental health, including learning disabilities and autism 
 Cancer care 
 Hospital and specialist care 

 

Through this plan you will find more detail and outcomes from these work areas and 

their plans for the future to deliver the ambitions of the NHS Long Term Plan and 

improve care for all NW London residents over the next five years. We have also 

used NHS England’s ‘Gold Diagnostic’ to help shape priorities in care for NW 

London.  

Our plan also has shared ambitions with our neighbouring partnerships across 

London to improve health outcomes and reduce variation across all of the capital 

and:  

o Reduce childhood obesity 
o Improve the emotional wellbeing of children and young people 
o Improve mental health and progress towards zero suicides 
o Improve air quality 
o Improve tobacco control and reduce smoking 
o Reduce the prevalence and impact of violence 
o Improve the health of homeless people 
o Improve services and prevention for HIV and other STIs 
o Support Londoners with dementia to live well 
o Improving care and support at the end of life 

 
Our plan has been developed through many conversations with residents and staff. 
Nationally, the Long Term Plan was developed through engagement with over 
3.5million people from all around the country to set national priorities for change. We 
have further developed our local plan in partnership with frontline health and care 
staff, patients and their families through our working groups, boards and local 
engagement with the public, to ensure we can deliver these priorities in the right way 
for those that live and work in NW London. 
 

Our engagement and discussions do not end with the publication of this document. 

We will ensure that as we progress with the implementation of this plan we will 

continue to engage and incorporate public feedback into our decision making and 

service development. 

We look forward to working with all our partners and communities across NW 

London to deliver real change, in order to provide services that are fit for purpose 

now and in the future. 

Juliet Brown  

Health Care Partnership Director  

Page 23



 

8 
 

 2.0 Our vision and clinical and care strategy 

Across NW London, our health and care partners, residents and patients have come 
together to describe a vision for care.  
 
We want to create an integrated health and care system that works together to 
maximise benefits for all residents and staff: 
 

 giving every child and family the best start in life and continuing to support people 
to deliver healthy lives 

 making sure there is care and support when residents need it 

 and for those who need to be in hospital ensuring they receive high quality care 
and spend the appropriate time there. 

 

Through a series of workshops, supported by regular meetings, our senior clinicians 

– medical directors, CCG Chairs, GP leaders, nursing directors, other professional 

representatives and service user representatives have articulated our clinical and 

care strategy to realise this vision.  

The clinical and care strategy sets out our expectations of care – as professionals 

working across the system in London, as stakeholder organisations accountable to 

our communities, and as patients, carers and residents in our local areas. 

This clinical and care strategy supports our commitment to deliver the key national 

priorities of the NHS Long Term Plan and the London Vision as well as our local 

strategies for the health and care needs of our population. It also provides the 

foundations and framework for this strategic delivery plan.  

As a health and care partnership, the clinical and care strategy will underpin our 

operating plans to deliver sustainable improvements to health and wellbeing 

outcomes and to reduce health and care inequalities.  

It is designed to achieve consistency of outcomes and the highest achievable quality 

of care, for every one of our 2 million-plus residents – along with rewarding working 

conditions for the thousands of staff working in our health and care services. 

 

Page 24



 

9 
 

 

Delivering our clinical and care strategy 

Our clinical and care strategy is developed in seven interconnected programme 

areas. 

1 – Healthy communities and prevention 

2 – Maternity, children and young people 

3 – Primary, social and community care 

4 – Urgent and emergency care 

5 – Mental health 

6 – Cancer 

7 – Hospital care 

Our ‘strategy on a page’ (below) shows how these programme areas interlink with 

our enabling strategies, to deliver our key outcomes for our whole population. 

To ensure a robust approach to delivering our strategy, we have established system 

transformation groups for each of the seven delivery areas. Each has a senior 

responsible officer, a lead clinician, programme lead and resident input. These 

groups report into our Clinical and Quality Leadership Group and the Parternship 

Operations Group. 

These seven programmes areas are the bedrock to ensure we deliver our long term 

plan commitments. Throughout this document as we discuss our approach to 

deliving the specific commitments within the long term plan, each is clearly mapped 

to these interconnected programme areas.  

Page 25



 

10 
 

  

Page 26



 

11 
 

Ensuring financial sustainability 

Our clinical and care strategy needs to ensure that we are able to provide both high 

quality, clinically sustainable services and financially sustainable services. Currently 

the services we provide cost more than the resources allocated to us and we need to 

address this. In NW London as at April 2019 we collectively have an underlying NHS 

deficit of £324million across our clinical commissioning groups and NHS service 

providers, with financial challenges also present for our local authorities.  

The NW London system now faces some difficult choices as we work to ensure we 

are able to continue to deliver world-class care and realise the ambition of London 

being the healthiest global city within the financial and staffing resources available to 

us. We have to review each one of the Long Term Plan commitments and assess 

how we are able to deliver it and over what time scale and importantly we have to 

leverage the synergy of working as a system. We will use the experience and 

knowledge of our clinicians working together across organisations to standardise and 

consolidate our services so that all our residents are provided equal opportunity to 

access high quality care when they need it. 

To provide more financially sustainable services each of our interconnected 

programme areas are working to three key aims as they deliver their programmes:  

 ensuring we maximise the amount of money available to spend on direct care 

delivery through reducing our back office, administration and supplies costs 

Page 27



 

12 
 

 maximising value and delivering our services as cost effectively as possible 

through standardising our approaches, enabling our staff to operate at the top 

of their licence 

 developing more proactive and preventative care thereby managing demand 

for high-cost hospital services.  

Within these broad areas we will specifically focus on the following areas as we 

work to reduce the gap in our system finances. We believe that these give us the 

greatest opportunity to reduce expenditure, improve value and increase the 

quality of care our residents receive.  Our approach to these drives our 

transformation focus and is embedded within our integrated programme areas.  

Maximising expenditure available for direct care  

 Reducing our back office costs and developing more shared services. 

 Moving to the top quartile for procurement. 

 Managing the cost of our medicines. 

 Assessing and reducing our programme costs. 

 Reducing the cost of our estates and maximising the digital opportunity to 

drive automation and less intensive care models. 

 Working as a single CCG to reduce duplication and fragmented 

commissioning. 

Maximising cost effectiveness of services 

 Developing consistent and standardised pathways within the community and 

through our acute providers. 

 Enabling our staff to work at the top of their licence, introducing new roles and 

standardising roles. 

 Reducing the number of people staying in hospital for a very long time  

 Focussing on how we use our drug budgets. 

 Using our clinical expertise and tools such as the GOLD diagnostic to identify 

services that can be provided across providers. 

Managing demand 

 Support to GPs and consistent referral arrangements. 

 Working with our new primary care networks and integrated care partnership 

to drive this consistent and proactive approach. 

 Developing alternatives to A&E so patients and professionals feel confident 

being cared for outside hospital. 

 Developing a more proactive approach to managing long term conditions. 

 Better detection of cancer.  

Page 28



 

13 
 

2.1 What people have told us 

Both nationally and locally staff and patients have helped develop the NHS Long 

Term Plan. NHS England shaped the focus of the plan through engagement with 

over 3.5 million people.  

Locally we have spoken to more than 1750 people over the last four months to help 

form our local response.  

NW London Healthwatches held 18 events and spoke with 257 local people, 

ensuring that local issues, concerns and understanding of what is working well has 

been captured in our plans for improving health and care services over the next five 

years. 

Engagement teams across the NW London health and care partnership have also 
asked local people for specific feedback on this plan. The team spoke to people at 
community events, in shopping centres, A&E and outpatient departments, GP 
centres and public focus groups. They captured views and used the sessions as a 
good opportunity to tell people about some of the work that has already been 
undertaken to improve service access. 500 people have completed written feedback 
forms on our plan. 
 
On the whole there was support for the aims of our plan, but there are fears about 

the affordability of the ambitions.  

‘You said we did’ 

Feedback from both the Healthwatch events and our health care partnership 

engagement is reflected throughout this report, under each chapter with the heading:  

 

‘What do we know people are concerned about?’  

 

Each chapter then looks at programmes of work over the next five years that will 

address and improve upon feedback provided. 

 

Full reports of these two engagement exercises can be read here.  

 

 
Key learning from the Healthwatch engagement report: 
 
 
Communication – local people would like: 
 

 Good levels of communication. 

 Information that is consistent, accurate and up-to-date. 

 Clear oral and written language and information in accessible 
formats. 

Page 29

https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/about/patientsandthepublic/longtermplan/draftltp


 

14 
 

 Choice of electronic, oral or written communication. 

 To be aware of existing services, and advised on which to use. 

 Timely information and engagement on service changes. 

 Engagement between services and the ‘wider community’. 
 

 
 
Staffing, training and continuity – local people would like: 
 

 Good working conditions and working environment for staff (example, 
employers to observe the ‘Anchor Organisations’ principles). 

 Adequate staffing levels and well resourced specialists. 

 A well trained workforce (both hard and soft skills). 

 Continuity (choice of professional) if required. 

 A named contact. 
 
Service access – local people would like: 
 

 Good telephone access. 

 Reliable and easy-to-use booking systems. 

 Punctuality of services and communication from staff when this is not 
the case. 

 Priority for those with a particular need (such as Autism). 
 
Coordination and consistency – local people would like: 
 

 Consistency across services.  

 Services in different localities, and of different specialities to work 
together. 

 Staff to be aware of, and actively utilise Health Passports. 
 
Local people would also like: 
 

 Recognition of their disability, condition or need. 

 To be included, involved and respected. 

 Good levels of awareness (training for staff). 
 

 

This, our local response to the NHS Long Term Plan, includes work that is already in 

motion, that we are looking to further implement and improve. To ensure that we are 

developing programmes that are right for our local communities, we have an on-

going engagement programme, both going out and meeting people and using online 

surveys to capture views on specific topics. Patients and public representatives also 

make up the membership of all of our leadership boards and working groups. This 

plan has been developed using the insight and feedback captured through all of 

these channels. 

Page 30



 

15 
 

The publication of this plan and our priorities for the next five years does not by any 

means mark the end of our engagement on the areas of work included. This is just 

the beginning and as we further develop and implement programmes we will 

continue to work with staff, patients and the public, to ensure we shape and tailor the 

right support, services and outcomes for people in NW London.  

To ensure that more people than ever before can comment regularly on our work, we 

are developing a citizen’s panel that will launch in 2020. This panel will be in addition 

to our current engagement activities and will be made up of 3000+ patients and 

public representatives from across all walks of life. We hope this panel will help 

improve the diversity of our engagement and capture a broader range of views into 

our work. 

Through this plan we want to deliver care and services to all residents of NW London 

were all interactions generate positive responses like these captured by the 

Healthwatch report: 

 

 

  

“There is a course for informing people about avoiding diabetes – very 

good for prevention and awareness.” 

 

“It’s easier to book online or in person (than it was).” 
 
“I got a telephone triage – I phoned, described my symptoms and they 
were able to tell me if I needed to come in. Very good service.” 

 

“My pharmacist gave me a ‘My Medication Passport’ – excellent idea! 

“GP did a good initial assessment and sent to the hospital, where I was 
diagnosed with a serious condition the next day and operated on.” 

 

“I felt listened too and the support I was provided really helped me get 

back on track.” 

Page 31



 

16 
 

2.2 The London vision 

Working together to make London the healthiest global city, and the best 

global city in which to receive health and care services. 

London is a major global city that is dynamic and diverse. Like many big cities, 

London offers a wealth of opportunities for people to lead healthy and happy lives, 

but it also presents issues and challenges to health. In London, where there are 

significant and persistent inequalities, these issues and challenges are experienced 

most by those in our most deprived neighbourhoods and communities. That is why 

concerted and coordinated efforts are needed across public services and wider 

society to make the most of opportunities for good health, and to tackle the issues 

that cause poor health. 

We are working as part of partnership, which is made up of the Greater London 

Authority, Public Health England, London Councils and the National Health Service 

(NHS) in London. It exists to provide coordinated leadership, a shared ambition to 

make our capital city the world’s healthiest global city and the best global city in 

which to receive health and care services. This is because no single organisation 

can achieve this alone, and shared action makes us greater than the sum of our 

parts. We have formed our partnership in order to address priority issues that require 

pan-London solutions, to support pan-London actions that enable more effective and 

joined-up working at the level of the neighbourhood, the borough and the sub-

regional system, and to make the most of the very direct social, economic and 

environmental roles we each play as major anchor organisations in London. 

Initiatives such as the Thrive LDN mental health movement, child mental health 

trailblazers, school superzones, and the London Estates Strategy show just what can 

be achieved when we work together.  

Building on significant work between our organisations over several years, our 

London Vision sets out our proposals for the next phase of our joint-working. It 

reflects the Mayor’s Health Inequalities Strategy, London Councils’ Pledges to 

Londoners, the Prevention Green Paper and the NHS Long Term Plan. It highlights 

ten key areas of focus where we believe partnership action is needed at a pan-

London level. This includes issues such as air quality, mental health and child 

obesity, and we set out our ambition for deeper and stronger local collaboration in 

neighbourhoods, boroughs and sub-regional systems so that services are genuinely 

integrated, and Londoners can start well, live well and age well. Our Vision is not a 

description of the multitude of actions that are taking place locally, nor a population 

health plan, rather it sets out the areas where our shared endeavours seek to 

complement and add value to local action. 

 

Page 32



 

17 
 

Areas of focus for pan-London working: summary of commitments 

 

Details of local commitments to each of these actions can be found in 

chapters 5 and 6.  

Area of focus Commitments 
Reduce childhood 
obesity 
 
 

 We will achieve a 10% reduction in the proportion of 
children in reception (age four or five) who are 
overweight by 2023/24, delivered through bold citywide 
actions and targeted support for those most at risk 

Improve the emotional 
wellbeing of children 
and young people 

 We will ensure access to high quality mental health 
support for all children in the places they need it, starting 
with 41 Mental Health Support Teams in schools, 
maximising the contribution of the Mayor’s/GLA’s Healthy 
Schools London Programme and Healthy Early Years 
London Programme, and extending the use of digital 
support technologies. 

Improve mental health 
and progress towards 
zero suicides 

 We will ensure that all Londoners have access to mental 
health care, support and treatment, especially those 
experiencing health inequalities 

Improve air quality  We work together to reach legal concentration limits of 
Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and working towards WHO limits 
for particulate matter2.5 concentrations by 2030. 

Improve tobacco 
control and reduce 
smoking 

 We will speed up a reduction in smoking prevalence in 
London, especially among groups with the greatest 
health inequalities 

Reduce the prevalence 
and impact of violence 

 We will work collaboratively with the London Violence 
Reduction Unit to develop and implement effective ways 
of reducing violence, including addressing its root causes 

Improve the health of 
homeless people 

 We commit to drive action to improve, grow and innovate 
services that improve the health of rough sleepers, 
including expanding the pan-London rough sleeping 
services funded by the Mayor, building on existing good 
practice, piloting new models of care and data collection, 
and developing plans to build more integrated services in 
London 

Improve services and 
prevention for HIV and 
other STIs 

 We will broaden partnership working to focus further on 
tackling health inequality and a wider range of sexually 
transmitted diseases 

Support Londoners 
with dementia to live 
well 

 We will ensure that Londoners receive a timely 
diagnosis, ongoing support and are able to live well in 
their community 

Improving care and 
support at 
the end of life 

 We will ensure that all Londoners in their last year of life 
have access to personalised care planning and support 
that enables them to die in their preferred place 

 

Page 33



 

18 
 

3.0 Our population 

In NW London we have a population of over 2.4 million people. 

Our population is diverse in many ways, both culturally and socially; with significant 

differences between those living with wealth and in poverty.   

We are one of the most multicultural areas of the capital, around half of our 

population is from a black minority or ethnic background; and across some of our 

more central boroughs we also have distinct groups with differing health needs, 

homelessness presents a stark contrast to the large influx of commuters we see 

during the working week. 

Each borough also has its own unique population profile, but within each of these 

areas are also many shared health needs. Understanding all these aspects of our 

population’s health is necessary to develop the right services and support for 

everyone living and working in NW London. 

 

NW London has:  

 over £2.4million people 

 an annual health spend of over £3bn 

 8 boroughs 

 360 GP practices 

 10 acute specialist hospitals 

 4 community and mental health service providers 

 A range of voluntary sector organisations 
 

 

 

Borough populations 

Each of our boroughs supports 

a different population size, with 

Brent, Ealing and Hillingdon having populations 

that are double the size of some of our central 

London boroughs. 

 

 

 

 

316,000 

254,000 

336,600 

349,000 

276,000 

182,000 

156,000 

253,000 

Page 34



 

19 
 

Black and minority ethnic communities 

In NW London we have some of the most 

multicultural boroughs in the capital.  

 

 

Overview of poverty and inequalities 

across NW London 

Out of 32 London boroughs all eight of our NW London boroughs have areas of 

deprivation and inequality that are rated as being the worst in London. 

This interactive table compares poverty, child poverty, inequality, homelessness, 

temporary accommodation, evictions, affordability, unemployment, low pay, benefits, 

council tax support, GCSE attainment, infant mortality and premature mortality.  

(Data source Trust for London) 

 

The high rates of poverty and inequality are reflected in life expectancy between the 

most and least deprived communities and highlight dramatic differences across 

individual boroughs and across gender. Some NW London boroughs have the 

highest life expectancy differences in England. 

 

Page 35



 

20 
 

  

 

Life expectancy compared to the national average 

While life expectancy for many is very good, there are still areas we need to improve. 

The prevalence of cardiovascular disease is still a big killer and suicide rates in our 

central London boroughs are high compared to the national average.  

 

(Data source: Public Health England) 

Key stats  

Use of hospital or acute services 

Since 2015, expected growth in our population has been outstripped by increased 

demand for hospital care. The NW London population has grown by 5%, while the 

numbers of people needing acute care has increased by 18%. In particular, 

unplanned care has risen by 25%. 

Obesity 

 On average a quarter of all our 10-11-year-old school children in NW London 

are obese and across all boroughs one in five of all children are obese. 

 

 It’s not just children across all boroughs we have high incidences 20-30% of 

obesity in all ages up to 65.  

 

Page 36



 

21 
 

 

Diabetes 

 This is also reflected in the high levels of diabetes also seen across NW 

London. With around 240,000 people or one in 10 diagnosed with diabetes or 

non-diabetic hyperglycaemia (NDH). 

Smoking 

 The number of people who smoke has reduced compared with previous 

years, but we still have on average more than 13% of our population smoking 

regularly. 

 Smoking attributes to 1500 hospital admissions and over 350 emergency 

COPD admissions a year.  

 The annual cost of smoking in NW London is estimated at more than 

£450million, including loss in productivity, NHS social care and fire services. 

Alcohol 

 On average 576 people per 100,000 of the population are admitted to hospital 

each year, with issues related to alcohol. That’s around 14,000 people across 

NW London. 

 More than 7000 children are living with alcohol dependant adults. 

 One in five adults drink more than 14 units per week. 

 582 deaths and 7802 years of life are lost due to alcohol related conditions. 

 The social economic impact is £3,847,418 a year. 

 

A&E usage  

 Over the last year 17/18 to 18/19 there has been a 3.4% increase in the 

numbers of people attending urgent and emergency (same day) care 

services. This includes A&E, urgent treatment centres and walk-in services. 

The total number of people who used these services last year was close to 

£1.2million people, with 567,000 people visiting an accident and emergency 

department. 198,000 people were taken to A&E by ambulance but this was a 

2.4% reduction on the previous year. 

Air pollution  

 Urban environment issues such as congestion, air quality and high levels of 

road traffic accidents. Parts of the City are among the worst performers in air 

quality tests in Europe.  

 In Ealing 7.2% of all deaths are related to long term exposure to particulate air 

pollution compared to 5.6% across UK.  

Page 37



 

22 
 

 Carbon emissions in Hammersmith are the 6th highest in London and the 

proportion of deaths attributable to air pollution is estimated to be the 

7thhighest nationally. 

Maternity 

 30,000 babies are born in NW London every year. Giving every baby the best 

start in life is one of our main priorities. 

Mental Health (children and young people (CYP)) 

 32,287 CYP aged between 5 and 19 years have a mental health disorder.  

 16,671 females and 6,478 males aged between 5 -19 years show signs of an 

emotional disorder.  

Developing our plan to support local needs 

This section sets out key areas of challenge for our local population which have been 

addressed throughout chapters 5 and 6 of this plan. 

  

Page 38



 

23 
 

4.0 New ways of working 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As one of the pioneers of integrated care with our Whole Systems Integrated Care 
(WSIC) programme, health, council and voluntary sector partners have a long history 
of working together in NW London. We have seen the benefits of investing our 
energy and passion in co-creating and working with our local communities in a more 
integrated way for the benefit of all NW London residents and we want to build on 
this into the future. 
 
Over the past 18 months we have formalised this joint approach as we work through 
our health and care partnership to become an Integrated Care System (ICS) and 
deliver our agreed vision of maximising benefits for residents and staff by: 
 

 Giving every child and family the best start in life and continuing to support 
people to deliver healthy lives. 

 Making sure there is care and support when residents need it. 

 And for those who need to be in hospital ensuring they receive high quality 
care and spend the appropriate time there. 

 
To deliver this vision we need to work as an integrated care system across NW 
London to ensure equity of standards, outcomes and provision for our residents 
whilst also developing strong place-based teams who are able to understand, adapt 
to and work with communities to improve the health of their populations. This place-
based care is driven by our new groupings of general practices and community 
providers called Primary Care Networks (PCN), who are brought together into 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) within our boroughs. 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 
 
‘We will continue to develop Integrated Care Systems (ICS), building on the progress 
the NHS has already made. By April 2021 ICSs will cover the whole country, growing 
out of the current network of Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships 
(STPs)….Every ICS will need streamlined commissioning arrangements to enable a 
single set of commissioning decisions at system level. This will typically involve a 
single CCG for each ICS area. CCGs will become leaner, more strategic 
organisations that support providers to partner with local government and other 
community organisations on population health, service redesign and Long Term Plan 
implementation.’ 

 

Page 39



 

24 
 

Leading our health and care partnership 

Effective system leadership is crucial to the success and impact of our partnership. If 
we are to achieve these new ways of working, we need to reimagine a future health 
and care system where our relationships across organisations and with our 
communities and partners are no longer based on delivery of activities and 
transactional relationships.  Instead they need to be based on trust and transparency 
where we are all able to act and deliver beyond our organisational boundaries for the 
benefit of our communities and the system. 
 
We have a strong leadership team: 

 Lesley Watts, CEO Chelsea and Westminster Hospital and STP Lead 

 Mark Easton – CCG Accountable Officer 

 Dr Mohini Parmar – Clinical lead 

 Sean Harris – CEO Harrow Council and Council lead 

 Supported by Juliet Brown – Health and Care Partnership Director  

 Currently recruiting an Independent Chair. 

We have formalised effective governance arrangements through our Health and 

Care Partnership Board and Partnership Operations Group. Our Partnership Board 

enables all partners to develop and inform our strategy whilst the Partnership 

Operations Group drives the delivery of our strategic priorities by directing our seven 

interconnected programme boards. These leadership groups are also informed by a 

series of system wide specialist groups: 

 Clinical and quality leadership group that brings together medical directors, 

GPs, nursing leads, public health and others 

 Lay partners group – patients, carers and residents  

 Chief finance officers group 

 Chief operating officers and managing directors 

 Digital board 

 Workforce board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

   

   
   
   

   
   
   

   
   
   

Page 40



 

25 
 

 Lay partners group – patients, carers and residents  

By bringing our organisational leads together we can pool expertise and best 

practice to develop and recommend policy and provide a consistent system 

approach.   

 
 
Developing further as an Integrated Care System 
 
NW London intends to become an Integrate Care System by April 2021. With a clear 
vision and robust governance arrangements supported by a well-developed 
population health approach, we are well on our way to achieving this goal. Working 
with NHS England/Improvement we have undertaken a maturity assessment to 
agree further areas to focus and we are now working with the national ICS 
Accelerator programme. This programme is focussed on realising the benefits of an 
ICS; promoting financial sustainability and developing clear vision. This will be 
achieved through the clear alignment of our primary care networks and integrated 
care partnerships through to our ICS. Promoting and encouraging strong community 
and place-based care, and by clear areas for system focus so as to ensure equity of 
provision and experience for all residents in NW London.   
 
Developing a system approach to commissioning 

Subject to the necessary approvals we will move to create a single clinical 

commissioning group (CCG) for NW London from April 2021. We see this change to 

the way our CCGs operate as an opportunity to streamline systems and processes, 

reduce duplication and improve the consistency in our offer of care to NW London 

Page 41



 

26 
 

residents. In doing this, we will learn from the experience of previous large-scale 

operating models, ensuring that we maintain a strong focus on public and 

stakeholder engagement in each of our eight boroughs. 

A system of health providers coming together 

In NW London we have four acute trusts, two community trusts and two mental 

health and community trusts all of which offer a wide range of high-quality specialist 

and more general services. The reputation of our services and clinicians is such that 

they attract people from all over the world both to work within services and to seek 

the care that is offered. 

However, with increased specialisation, workforce shortages and a challenging 

financial environment we need to work differently if we are to continue to deliver 

world class services and achieve the ambition of London being the healthiest global 

city. 

Working as a system affords us opportunities that are not available to us if we work 

as competing and separate organisations. Working as a system we are able to pool 

our clinical expertise, share best practice, standardise care pathways, and maximise 

opportunities from technology so that our population are able to access the same 

high quality care wherever they live in NW London and that we can continue to 

attract the highest calibre workforce and build on our reputation as offering 

international centres of excellence. 

Over the past years we have been increasingly developing this way of working. For 

example:  

 community providers are developing common pathways and standards for 

rapid response services - so people are able to get equal access to crisis care 

in their homes 

 Imperial College Healthcare and Chelsea and Westminster Hospital have 

brought together clinical leaders to develop HIV services 

 all our acute service providers have been working with GPs to develop 

common guidance for use of outpatient services.  

Increasingly we will work across our organisational boundaries to ensure we are 

harness our optimising and ensuring best value in our specialist services. 

Delivering the financial stability required to be a successful Integrated Care 
System  
 
Working collectively as an integrated care system affords us new models to facilitate 

the delivery of our challenging transformation agenda to drive improved quality and 

financial sustainability. Aggregating control totals across our organisations, 

incentivises partners to work together and release the synergy presented by taking a 

system approach.  

Page 42



 

27 
 

Our aim is to work as two clusters embedded within our ICS and supported by our 

integrated care partnerships, outer NW London and inner NW London. These 

clusters bring together providers and commissioners grouped around the common 

issues that are driving inequality of expenditure and higher demand in the cluster.  

 

4.1 Communities as the building block for integrated care 

(Developing ICPs) 

The majority of services will continue to be planned and coordinated at a borough 

level where: local health, council, voluntary sector and resident partnerships take 

shared responsibility to improve the health and care system for their local population 

- linking health, social care and the wider determinants of health. Through integrated 

care partnerships and working with their constituent primary care networks, partners 

will plan, develop and coordinate services based on agreed outcomes.  

All areas are actively meeting and working to develop local plans based on local 

population needs and this section summarises the arrangements, priorities and 

ambitions of each integrated care partnership.  

In this section you will find information on the development of integrated care 

partnerships in each of the eight boroughs across NW London. 

 Brent 

 Ealing 

 Hammersmith and Fulham 

 Harrow 

 Hillingdon 

 Hounslow 

 West London 

 Westminster (Central London) 

  

 

 

Page 43



 

28 
 

 

P
age 44



 

29 
 

 

P
age 45



 

30 
 

 

P
age 46



 

31 
 

 

P
age 47



 

32 
 

 

P
age 48



 

33 
 

 

P
age 49



 

34 
 

 

P
age 50



 

35 
 

 

P
age 51



 

36 
 

 

P
age 52



 

37 
 

 

P
age 53



 

38 
 

 

P
age 54



 

39 
 

 

P
age 55



 

40 
 

 

P
age 56



 

41 
 

 

P
age 57



 

42 
 

 

P
age 58



 

43 
 

 

  

P
age 59



 

44 
 

5.0 Delivering the NHS Long Term Plan 

This next section looks at all the programmes of work that will be undertaken across 

NW London to fulfil the priorities of the long term plan for patient care and 

prevention. These nine sections are supported by the priority work programmes 

already established to deliver the NW London clinical and care strategy (see chapter 

2 for more information on the clinical and care strategy). 

 Transformed ‘out-of-hospital care’ and fully integrated community-

based care 

o Primary social and community care 

 Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services 

o Urgent and emergency care 

o Primary social and community care 

o Hospital care 

 Giving people more control over their  

own health and more personalised care 

o Healthy communities and prevention 

o Primary social and community care 

 Prevention  

o Healthy communities and prevention 

o Primary social and community care 

 Digitally-enabling primary care and outpatient care   

o Healthy communities and prevention 

o Primary social and community care 

 Improving cancer outcomes 

o Cancer 

o Hospital care 

 Improving mental health services 

o Primary social and community care 

o Maternity children and young people 

o Healthy communities and prevention 

o Mental Health 

o Urgent and emergency care 

 Shorter waits for planned care 

o Hospital care 

 Population health 

o Healthy communities and prevention 

o Primary social and community care 

 

 

  

Page 60



 

45 
 

 

5.1 Transformed ‘out-of-hospital care’ and  

fully integrated community-based care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our primary care strategy has a strong digital focus, this chapter 

should be read in conjunction the chapter ‘Digitally enabling 

primary care’.  

 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘People will be empowered, and their experience of health and care will be 
transformed, by the ability to access, manage and contribute to digital tools, 
information and services… The NHS App will create a standard online way for 
people to access the NHS… Support for people with long-term conditions. 

‘Care will be improved by interoperability of data, mobile monitoring devices and the 
use of connected home technologies over the next few years… Patients’ Personal 
Health Records will hold a care plan [with] information added by the patient 
themselves, or their authorised carer. 

‘We will support the workforce to develop the digital skills they need… and mobile 
access to digital services to allow health and care workers to work more flexibly. 

‘Patients, clinicians and the carers working with them will have technology designed 
to help them... Over the next five years, every patient will be able to access a GP 
digitally, and where appropriate, opt for a ‘virtual’ outpatient appointment… 
Technology will enable the NHS to redesign clinical pathways. 

‘The use of de-personalised data… will enable more sophisticated population health 
management approaches and support world-leading research. 

‘In the coming years Artificial Intelligence will make it possible for many tasks to be 
automated, quality to increase and staff to focus on the complexity of human 
interactions that technology will never master. 

The four strategic priorities for community health services are:  
(i) delivering improved crisis response within two hours, and reablement care within 
two days  
(ii)providing ‘anticipatory care’ jointly with primary care 
(iii) supporting primary care to developed Enhanced Health in Care Homes 
(iv) building capacity and workforce to do these three things, including by 
implementing the Carter report and using digital innovation.  

Of these, (ii) and (iii) are a joint enterprise with GP practices as part of PCN delivery. 

 

 

Page 61



 

46 
 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 NW London residents want to be able to access their GP and practice nurses 

quickly and through a variety of means including online and over the phone. 

They want better standards of premises and treatment facilities, delivering 

high quality care close to home. 

 

 Better coordination of services is also important so you do not have to repeat 

medical history. Our residents want staff to deliver a personalised service that 

is not rushed and is sensitive to individual needs, particularly of people with 

mental health issues.  

 

 They want to know which service to ask for and have a choice of ways to get 

treatment and advice, receiving information about their condition and choices 

that is easy to understand. 

 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Extended GP access services are now available for all patients in NW London 

from 8am to 8pm Monday to Sunday. Direct bookings can be made by NHS 

111. 

 

 New GP premises have been opened, and a recent stocktake report has been 

carried out on current planning for new community-based facilities, to assess 

value for money, accessibility and opportunities to upgrade further.  

 Complete population coverage by Primary Care Networks (PCNs), ranging in 

size from 30,000 to 80,000 people. 

 

 There is improved access to psychological therapies (talking therapies) 

through primary care, with additional staff trained and in post. See the 

‘Improving mental health’ chapter for more information. 

 

 More data is available to support GP decision-making including: activity and 

quality dashboards for practices and networks to help them track, compare 

and improve patient outcomes and interventions for urgent care and patients 

with long-term conditions. (Part of the NW London Whole Systems Integrated 

Care dashboard.) 

 

 Rapid response services delivered by nurses and therapists are available in 

every borough, providing a two-hour response time for people experiencing a 

crisis. 

 

Page 62



 

47 
 

 Our intermediate care services support people to get home from hospital 

sooner (when they are clinically ready), with care provided in peoples’ homes 

to get them back to their usual selves after an unexpected admission. 9000 

people in NW London have used this service between August 2019 and May 

2017. 

 

 Over 1200 care home staff have received clinical skills training to help them 

identify when one of their residents’ health is deteriorating. We have 

developed and published a pocket guide which supports this training. 

 

 Over 50 care home registered managers have undertaken leadership 

development training to help them get the best out of themselves and their 

staff, to deliver high quality care to their residents. 

 

 A 24 hour telephone clinical advice service offering specialist end of life care 

is now available to the majority of care homes. 

What do we plan to do next? 

We are determined that primary and community care works for everyone – for 

patients, carers, staff, professionals in general practice and the wider system. We 

will provide services that empower people to take control over their own health, 

address the inequalities in access and outcomes and provide accessible and 

responsive care for everyone, to achieve this, we will: 

 Strengthen the new PCNs so that general practice teams build relationships 

with all staff across their network.   

 

 Ensure each network has the tools they need to deliver care, with the right 

digital services for patients and staff, modern facilities and services developed 

through robust data and evidence-based outcomes. 

 

 Ensure staff in each network have access to professional training and skills 

development, to get to a point where all practices are rated ‘good’ or 

‘outstanding’ by the Care Quality Commission, with individualised career-

pathways that make NW London the best place to work in the capital. 

 

 Develop sustainable systems of care that enable us to provide care within our 

financial envelope of resources, while making appropriate use of energy and 

recyclable materials. 

 

 Embed systems for capturing the patient and public voice across our diverse 

communities, engaging patients, carers and the public in the development and 

delivery of PCNs. 

Page 63



 

48 
 

 

In particular, primary care will provide three key delivery models: 

Accessible care: 

 Use consistent standards to improve and ensure equality in service access for 

patients. 

  

 Increase GP practice capacity to help more patients, by improving the use of 

self-care and digital technology.  

 

 Deliver a two-hour community-team response time for people in a crisis. 
 

 Ensure it is easy to get the right community care support, whether you are a 

patient, a carer or a health or social care professional. 

 

 Develop single operating standards for core community services (district and 

community nursing, intermediate care and rapid care) so every resident can 

expect the same access to and offer of care. 

 

 Match the skills and abilities of staff with clinical interventions required by 

patients. This will be done through training, development of competencies and 

relationship building, to improve range and speed of access. 

 

Proactive planned care:  

 Use population health information to identify cohorts of patients that can be 

supported through proactive planned care. 

 

 Use dashboards and benchmarking data to improve quality, reduce variation 

and deliver evidence-based interventions. 

 

 Develop holistic personalised care and support planning for patients and 

carers. 

 

 Use community, mental health and voluntary sector staff working in the PCN 

to provide a full package of social support for people. 

 

 Develop prevention and supported self-management work for key groups of 

patients (conditions). 

 

Page 64



 

49 
 

 Embed NW London outpatient referral guidelines to improve patient access to 

specialist care. 

 

 We will help more people understand when they are reaching the end of their 

life and support them to plan their care, enabling their wishes to be recorded 

and respected by all health and care professional. Personalised care planning 

for everyone identified as being in their last year of life will deliver better 

quality care and more people will be able to die in a place they have chosen. 

 

Co-ordinated care: 

 Support collaboration between multidisciplinary teams (MDTs) within PCNs, to 

ensure access to multi-professional skills addressing physical, mental and 

social needs.   

 

 Pro-active coaching to support Patient Activation Measure assessments and 

self-management. 

 

 Develop rapid access home care (including to residents of care homes). 

  

 Agree consistent clinical and non-clinical care pathways to reduce variation of 

approach and clinical outcome. 

 

 Develop integrated frailty models between networks and secondary care. 

 

 Encourage MDTs to review patient data in real-time to support pro-active 

interventions, avoiding deterioration and the need for patients to be admitted 

to hospital, and to ensure an effective discharge following an admission. 

 

 Provide improved care to care home residents including stronger links 

between primary care and care homes, consistent support for a team of 

healthcare professional, including named GP support, good oral health, 

nutrition and hydration and rehabilitation and better sharing of information. 

 

Planned activities  

 

 All digital activities cited in the chapter: Digitally enabling primary care. 
 

 Identify funding for investment in infrastructure and implement shared 
clinical systems to support Primary Care Networks, taking advantage of the 
capabilities of SystmOne and EMIS.  
 

Page 65



 

50 
 

 Develop PCN specifications which include input from community and 
mental health services partners.  
 

 Review and approve local estates development to ensure sustainability. 
  

 Develop standard operating principles across core community 
services. 
 

 Provide PCNs with a package of ‘best practice’, data and other 
resources to be able to deliver impactful support to care homes. 
 

 Deliver a workforce strategy to embed clinical competencies necessary to 
support population health needs. 
 

 Establish a community services dashboard to monitor demand and the 
capacity of and outcomes of community services. 
 

 Recruitment of additional staff at PCN level – recruit a clinical 
pharmacist and social prescribing link worker to each PCN, with expansion 
of the clinical pharmacist roles and a common NW London induction 
programme for social prescribers. We will also recruit our share of the 60 
physicians associates, while prioritising the retention of those already in 
post. 
 

 Develop a network of primary care and community training hubs the 
current configuration of PCNs means that every network has a training 
practice that will link to a well-established community and primary care 
training hub. Our intention is to strengthen these links, and consolidate the 
training and education offer at borough level and above.  

 
 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Each PCN workforce has a plan that outlines how the integrated primary and 

community workforce will work and train together, with a particular focus on 

retention of GPs and GPNs. They will also have a public and patient voice 

plan that includes the public’s role in co-production, plans for social 

prescribing and care navigation.  

 

 All PCNs use integrated care dashboards to review patients’ needs and plan 

care in their network. 

 

 All PCNs use the NW London referral guidance for the agreed outpatient 

specialities. 

  

Page 66



 

51 
 

 By March 2020, 60% of people with serious mental illness will have had their 

five key physical health checks, with further coverage from 2020 onwards. 

  

 75% of people at expected end of life have a care plan on Connect My Care 

(CMC) that is used by the multidisciplinary team caring for them. 

 

 75% of people with a new diagnosis of cancer will have had their diagnosis by 

stage 1 or 2. 

 

 95% of children in each PCN will have had their MMR vaccination. 

 

 Reduced variation in the three diabetes treatment targets of HbA1c, BP and 

Cholesterol that outlines a 3% improvement per year. 

 

 Fewer people will be going to hospital for conditions that could be treated in 

the community. 

 

 More people will have their long term conditions better managed closer to 

home so their needs do not escalate  

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Shared premises and facilities, and improved work and care environments, 

will offer healthy places for patients and staff. 

 

 High-quality primary care services support good mental health for patients 

and professionals. 

 

 Better access to information about health and care services, (and better 

understanding their health and care status through access to records and 

online advice about conditions) will enable people to take more responsibility 

for their own health and care and improve outcomes. 

 

 People will be able to access more care, in and closer to their home, more 

easily. 

 

 Better access to outpatient care (specialist care) and reduced waiting times. 

 

 People will be able to make one phone call to get the care they need rather 

than multiple calls to different teams, as services will be better coordinated 

around the needs of the individual. 

 

Page 67



 

52 
 

 Everyone can expect and receive the same level of community care that 

meets their needs, no matter where they live in NW London. 

 

 Those who have made care plans about how and where they want to be 

treated will their wishes respected. 

  

Page 68



 

53 
 

5.2 Reducing pressure on  

emergency hospital services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Busy services. 

 Long waits to be seen. 

 Knowing which service to access. 

 Greater use of health passports. 

 Receiving clear consistent information. 

 Awareness of NHS 111 and GP access services. 

 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Implemented a range of alternate care pathways for ambulance crews so that 

they can treat patients on the spot rather than taking them to hospital. For 

example, in 2018/19, 1,355 patients accessed community based rapid 

response or district nursing services at home rather than being conveyed to 

hospital in an ambulance. 

 

 Standardised the standard of urgent treatment services provided across all of 

NW London, so that patients receive the same high level of care, regardless 

of where they attend an urgent treatment service. 

 

 Developed hospital front door frailty services at a number of hospital sites 

which has reduced the number of frail patients being admitted unnecessarily 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

 

‘We have an emergency care system under real pressure, in the midst of profound 

change… by expanding and reforming urgent and emergency care services the 

practical goal is to ensure patients get the care they need fast, relieve pressure on 

A&E departments, and better offset winter demand spikes. 

‘Children and young people account for 25% of emergency department attendances 

and are the most likely age group to attend A&E unnecessarily. Many of these 

attendances could be managed effectively in primary care or community settings… 

areas will design and implement models of care that are age appropriate, closer to 

home and bring together physical and mental health services.’ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

54 
 

and reduced the clinical risk associated with extended stay in hospital. This 

clinical model was first implemented at Hillingdon Hospital. In 2018/19, Over 

2,500 patients were seen by frailty experts in the emergency department 

(ED), with more than 60% able to go home on the same day from ED, with 

enhanced care and support at home. 

 

 Implemented same day emergency care in all seven A&E sites across NW 

London (services that can provide a patient treatment or intervention without 

the need for an overnight stay). 

 

 Started to reduce the number of patients spending over 21 days in hospital. 

What do we plan to do next? 

Our health and care partnership is looking to transform urgent and emergency care 

services in our system, through a joined up approached between health and social 

care. We will work to ensure people receive the right care, in the right place, at the 

right time. We will look at innovative ways to reduce demand on acute hospital 

emergency services by helping people to more proactively manage their condition 

and access appropriate urgent care services closer to home, minimise unwarranted 

variation and maximise the value of every pound spent on urgent emergency care 

provision. 

We will develop ambulance “Hear and Treat” and “See and Treat” services, and 

improve access to admission avoidance schemes.  

The 24/7 integrated urgent care service will be the gateway to urgent care system 

and offer timely advice and support to both patients and clinicians. Where possible, 

enabling people to remain independent and cared for in or close to their home. We 

will strengthen services at the front door of the hospital including the expansion of 

same day emergency care and acute frailty services. We will also work to make our 

processes for leaving patients hospital slicker by enhancing our links to social care 

and community services and use discharge to assess and home first principles. 

 

Planned activities 
 
Data and variation: Work to ensure activity and demand data across NW 
London.is comparable. This will allow us to benchmark, compare and continuously 
improve services. 
 
Understanding why are people attending: deep dives with each A&E delivery 
board to understand specific local drivers of demand. 
 
Same day emergency care: Scaling up existing same day emergency care 
(SDEC) models with the aim of seeing 30% of non-elective admissions via SDEC. 

Page 70



 

55 
 

Acute frailty: Expand acute frailty model to all seven A&E sites in NW London 
with the objectives of reducing 75+ rate of admission by 3%. 
 
High intensity user: Manage high intensity service users in a more proactive and 
planned way through a pan NW London hub (as per Right Care best practice). 
 
Extended length of stay:  Continue to reduce avoidable harm for patients who 
have unnecessarily prolonged stays in hospital and free up further 100 beds by 
April 2020. 
 
LAS demand management: Further scale a range of schemes to increase the 
use of alternate care pathways for ambulance crews: district nursing, rapid 
response referral, falls and GP in and out of hours pathways. Further initiatives 
with NHS111, LAS clinical hub and re-triaging service. 
 
UTC: Review the provision of urgent treatment centres (UTC) and GP access 
centres to ensure they are offering maximum value to the system and taking 
pressure from A&Es. 
 
Care plans and working with primary care to manage variation: We will first 
ensure high intensity users of urgent and emergency care services all have 
personalised multi-disciplinary care plans, to help them manage their complex 
health and social care needs. 
 
Flu:  Increase vaccination rates for staff and population and minimise flu related 
urgent emergency care (UEC) activity. 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

By providing the most effective access to emergency care and the best quality care, 

and by reducing pressure on emergency services, our local people can: 

 be better able to prevent crises and unnecessary visits to hospital, avoidable 

admissions or lengthy stays in hospital. 

 have access to the right treatment in a timely way to stabilise their condition 

and manage their needs. 

 Achieve the best clinical outcomes from the treatment provided and a positive 

experience of care.  

 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 More 111 calls triaged by a clinician and referred to appropriate primary care 

and community services. 

 

Page 71



 

56 
 

 More people who dial 999 are seen and treated without a conveyance to 

hospital or are treated by clinicians over the phone. 

 

 Sustain or reduce ambulance conveyances to hospital and non-elective 

admissions (particularly those related to care homes, falls and a range of long 

term conditions such as diabetes). 

 

 Front door frailty services at all A&E sites so these patients can receive the 

best possible care, receive a comprehensive geriatric assessment and avoid 

admission or lengthy stays in hospital. 

 

 Increase the proportion of patients with ambulatory sensitive conditions 

treated on the same day of their attendance to hospital and avoiding 

unnecessary overnight stays. 

 

 If patients attend the hospital, more patients are treated in the most 

appropriate setting for their condition.  

 

 Fewer people stay more than 14 or 21 days in both 

acute and community hospitals. 

 

 More patients seen at home by rapid response and district nursing teams. 

  

Page 72



 

57 
 

 

5.3 Giving people more control over their own 

health and more personalised care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the chapters on Prevention, 

Transformed out of hospital care, Better care for major health conditions – 

Diabetes and Digital. 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Information that is easy to read. 

 Access to self-help and peer support. 

 Taking responsibility for own health. 

 Innovation and the use of technology – seen as useful – but needs explaining 

 Choice and control over condition and care. 

 Shared decision making and making it work for everyone. 

 Social prescribing is seen as a good idea, but how will it work? 
 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Over 40,000 people with a long term condition have completed the patient 

activation measure or PAM assessment) since 2016. Patient activation is 

defined as ‘an individual’s knowledge, skills and confidence for managing their 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘Over 1,000 trained social prescribing link workers will be in place by the end of 
2020/21 rising further by 2023/24, with the aim that over 900,000 people are able to 
be referred to social prescribing schemes by then. 

‘We will support people who are newly diagnosed to manage their own health by 
further expanding provision of structured education and digital self-management 
support tools, including expanding access to HeLP Diabetes an online self-
management tool for those with type 2 diabetes. 

‘We will roll out the NHS Personalised Care model across the country, reaching 2.5 
million people by 2023/24 and then aiming to double that again within a decade. 

‘We will accelerate the roll out of Personal Health Budgets to give people greater 
choice and control over how care is planned and delivered. Up to 200,000 people 
will benefit from a PHB by 2023/24. 

Page 73



 

58 
 

health and healthcare.’  The PAM score is produced through a patient’s 

response to 13 statements. 

 

 Over 2,000 patients have accessed a digital diabetes type 2 structured 

education course.  

 

 Over 7,000 patients received self-management support for diabetes since 

April 2018 and over 8000 patients benefited from the Diabetes Prevention 

Programme since April 2018.  

 

 Over 600 patients have access the NHS approved myCOPD digital self-care 

tool. 98% of those surveyed said they would recommend it to others. 

 

 The ‘Digital Citizen’ programme (started in 2018) to educate the population on 

digital health services.  

 

 Staff trained to be digital ambassadors.  

 

 Every secondary school has access to the Digital Healthy Schools Platform, 

to support children and young people to find the right self-care and service 

information. 

 

 Q1 2019/20 – NW London has the highest number of patients in London 

managing their own Personal Health Budgets. 

What do we plan to do next? 

Our aim is for over 37,000 NW London patients to receive personalised care and 

support plans by 2023/24. 

 Tailor self-care and service to individual patient needs - through the use of the 

Patient Activation Measurement. By 2023/24 we aim to have over 30,000 

people with long term conditions annually assessed and have had their care 

planned with them according their knowledge, skills and confidence in 

managing their conditions.  

 

 Digital self-care - By end of 2019/20, 3000 people with type 2 diabetes will 

have accessed a diabetes digital structured education (behaviour change) 

programme.  With greater ambitions to build on this year on year. 

 

 By 2020/21 20% of moderate and severe patients with a COPD being 

supported to self-manage their condition, through the myCOPD digital tool.  

 

Page 74



 

59 
 

 Implement phase one of the heart failure and asthma digital projects to be 

completed, to inform future roll out.   

  

 By 2022/23 digital self-management tools will be available for the six mayor 

long term conditions. 

 

 The Digital Citizen and Workforce Education Programme will support the 

workforce to develop the digital skills they need in order to support and up skill 

patients, the volunteer digital ambassadors will train citizens on a variety of 

digital health tools for free. The digital healthy schools programme is a key 

enabler for prevention. Over the next two years every secondary school will 

be able to access a platform to help young people understand health and 

wellbeing much more and know how to protect themselves from online 

predators, harmful practices and safeguard their mental health. 

 

 Digital Healthy Hubs will help those that don’t even have basic digital access 

(an email address) and will support them and answer questions about data 

etc. Our intention is not to leave anyone behind. 

 

 A minimum of one link worker in place across all PCNs supporting people to 

access social prescribing support within their communities. Link workers to be 

supported by local training programme and peer support. Between 20/21 to 

23/24 number of link workers increased in line with GP contract funding 

resulting in over 32,000 people receiving social prescribing. Social prescribing 

supported by an increased voluntary, community and social enterprise and 

community support capacity. 

 

 Personal Health Budgets (PHB) – our working group is expanding the use of 

PHBs across different groups of people.  This work will require major change 

and engagement across all care providers. Digital tools will be critical to allow 

us to work consistently across all borough. We are currently developing early 

adopters for digitalised personalised care and support plans and management 

of personal health budgets. By 23/24 over 5100 people will be empowered 

with personal health budgets.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



 

60 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planned activities 
 

 Embed PAM assessments across NW London with people’s care planned 
according their knowledge, skills and confidence in managing their long 
term condition(s). 
 

 Digital self-care will be available for all people with major long-term 
conditions. 
 

 Enable all local agencies able to refer people to a social prescribing ‘link 
worker’ to connect them into community-based support, building on what 
matters to the person as identified through shared decision 
making/personalised care and support planning, and making the most of 
community and informal support. 
 

 Personal Health Budgets will be default offer for all Continuing Healthcare 
and NHS funded wheelchair service user. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Supporting people with long term conditions according to their levels of 

knowledge, skills and confidence will ensure we focus on the support that 

matters for the patient and target resources appropriately. This targeted 

Patient Activation measure (PAM) 

“The Barbara had cancer twice and had recently suffered a broken hip, due to brittle 

bones. She also suffers from cellulitis that causes one of her legs to be swollen and 

twice the size of the other, this is a very painful condition. 

As part of Barbara's rehabilitation she was provided with a My Care My Way case 

manager, who discussed rehabilitations options with her to get her out and about 

and build confidence.   

A PAM score of 55.7 was recorded for Barbara at this stage and she was referred to 

a walking support service. 

“it was slow progress, at first I could only go to the end of the road and back – not 

very far. But with support each session allowed me to walk a little further and gain 

confidence with my walking stick, I would not have been confident to do this alone.” 

Barbara's confidence for her own self-care improved significantly and she feels her 

risk of falling has significantly reduced - her PAM score on increased to 67.8. 

Page 76



 

61 
 

approach will provide the platform for patients to achieve their potential in 

managing their long term conditions. 

 

 Introducing a range of high quality digital tools to support will empower people 

to manage their long-term condition(s), and help improve, management of the 

condition, quality of life and outcomes. School age children will be able to find 

and use NHS approved apps that can help support their and their families 

health and wellbeing. 

 

 Social prescribing link workers will connect people to wider community 

support which that can help improve their health and well-being and to 

engage and deal with some of their underlying causes of ill health. 

 

 Personal Health Budgets represent a new relationship between people, 

professionals and the health and care system. Owning a personal health 

budget provides a positive shift in power and decision making that enables 

people to have a voice in the management of their care. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 More people with low knowledge, skills and confidence feel supported to 

manage more aspects of their long term condition.  

 More people with long term conditions accessing digital self-care support 

tools. 

 More people accessing pulmonary rehabilitation (physical exercise 

programme and information & advice on managing condition).   

 Decrease in number of emergency admissions for health needs related to 

flare-ups in a long term condition 

 Increased referrals to social prescribing. 

 Patient satisfaction – people feel they have choice and control over their care 

and able to self-manage the health and care outcomes. 

 Increased number of personalised care and support plans and personal 

health budgets. 

 Increased voluntary, community and social enterprise and community support 

capacity across eight boroughs (number of different support groups). 

  

Page 77



 

62 
 

 

5.4 Prevention  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

With reference to our work on diabetes, this chapter should be read in 

conjunction with the chapter: Better care for long term conditions (diabetes). 

What do we know people are concerned about?  

 Having access to early intervention and education. 

 Equal access to services, education and support 

 Information that is easy to read. 

 Cultural awareness. 

 Innovation and the use of technology.  

 Mental health support for rough sleepers. 

 How the NHS can support them with healthy eating – want to but find it hard 
to. 

 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 The Healthy Communities and Prevention Board has been established to lead 

on specific prevention priorities (in addition to prevention being embedded 

within other programmes). This is led by a Director of Public Health with 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘By 2023/24, all people admitted to hospital who smoke will be offered NHS-funded 
tobacco treatment services... [together with] expectant mothers, and their partners, 
long-term users of specialist mental health, and in learning disability services. 

‘The NHS will provide a targeted support offer and access to weight management 
services in primary care for people with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes or 
hypertension with a BMI of 30+ (adjusted appropriately for ethnicity) …  

‘We are now committing to fund a doubling of the NHS Diabetes Prevention 
Programme over the next five years, including a new digital option. We will … test an 
NHS programme supporting very low calorie diets for obese people with type 2 
diabetes. The NHS will continue to take action on healthy NHS premises… We will 
ensure nutrition has a greater place in professional education training. 

‘Hospitals with the highest rate of alcohol dependence-related admissions will be 
supported to fully establish Alcohol Care Teams. 

‘While wider action on air pollution is for government to lead, the NHS will work to 
reduce air pollution from all sources. 

 

Page 78



 

63 
 

membership across third sector, CCGs and lay partners. Prevention priorities 

for 19/20 include childhood obesity and alcohol misuse.  

 

 To tackle childhood obesity, workshops are taking place with partners 

including lay partners, health care and local authority to develop a 

collaborative NW London plan, sharing best practice and pooling resources to 

support our population with this increasing issue. 

 

 An alcohol strategy has been developed with key stakeholders including local 

authority, health care, lay partners and the third sector focussed on five key 

deliverables. 

 

 A review of pregnant women at the Chelsea site found a 10-fold difference in 

prevalence of smoking at time of delivery between those living in the most vs 

least deprived areas. We worked together to identify points of intervention to 

increase the number of smoke free pregnancies. Opportunities at booking, 

scan appointments and post-partum were identified so smoking cessation 

trained midwives or Maternity Support Workers could available during booking 

clinics. Between Jan to Aug 2019, we have seen a 47% increase in referrals, 

compared to the same period the previous year.  The quit conversion rate has 

remained steady, despite increased referrals. In Brent, Ealing and Harrow 

public health teams are working with midwives at Northwick Park and Central 

Middlesex Hospitals to strengthen the smoking cessation offer for pregnant 

women and streamline pathways to services. 

 

 Plans are in place for a rough sleepers programme - four NHS trusts in 

London are piloting new ways of working, as part of a new two-year 

programme funded by the Mayor of London and MHCLG. In each area, a 

dedicated team of mental health practitioners will work with people sleeping 

rough along with homelessness outreach teams, accompanied by initiatives to 

improve learning and collaboration between the mental health and 

homelessness sectors. Central and North West London NHS Foundation 

Trust and West London NHS Trust have co-developed a local service in their 

areas in partnership with the local homelessness outreach teams and 

borough rough sleeping commissioners.  

 

What do we plan to do next? 

Alcohol misuse - we have developed a multi intervention strategy including: 

o a communication campaign to inform the public regarding the negative 

impact of alcohol and signpost to available services. 

 

Page 79



 

64 
 

o identifying high risk drinking through digital systems. 

 

o reducing alcohol consumption through training frontline staff to screen 

and deliver alcohol interventions.  

 

o extending access to alcohol interventions through a digital tool.  

 

o using population measures to limit excessive alcohol consumption 

across boroughs.  

 

Childhood obesity - Three priority areas have been highlighted to focus on:  

o pregnant women and new parents 

o BME parents of young children and schools  

o Weight management services.  

 

Rough sleepers - The delivery of the new services will commence in autumn 2019, 

with funding from the Mayor and MHCLG for a two-year pilot.  

Smoking - By 23/24 all people admitted to hospital that smoke will be offered NHS-

funded tobacco treatment services. Model developed in West London, Brent, Harrow 

and Ealing to support NW London approach for expectant mothers and their 

partners, with a new smoke free pregnancy pathway. 

Planned activities 
 

 Address rising challenge of alcohol by delivering behavioural interventions 
to high risk drinking individuals as well as promoting a population cultural 
shift to no drinking and / or low risk drinking to prevent the harmful health 
effects of alcohol. Those hospitals with the highest rate of alcohol 
dependence-related admissions will be supported to fully establish alcohol 
care teams. 
 

 Rollout smoking prevention model developed in Brent, Harrow and Ealing 
across NW London approach for expectant mothers and their partners. 
 

 Childhood obesity will have a focus on top risk behaviours, including 
physical activity and poor diet and a targeted focus on oral health promotion 
campaigns. This will include working with local BME leaders to develop 
plans to prevent and tackle childhood obesity, training for professionals to 
improve interactions with people who have excess weight, so they can 
communicate confidently and sensitively with individuals and working with 
schools to ensure healthy food policies are adopted.   
 

Page 80



 

65 
 

 Homelessness outreach teams will work with the new teams to identify 
people sleeping rough who may have mental health needs and are in 
need of support or treatment. The dedicated teams of mental health 
practitioners will then carry out a range of activities, which may include 
conducting mental health assessments and or/mental health act 
assessments, undertaking the role of care co-ordinator and connecting 
people with other services. Additionally, there will be cross-sector training 
and learning and in each area with local innovation projects which will seek 
to further improve collaboration and the support which rough sleepers 
receive.  
 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Informing the general public about the wide ranging and long-term impact of 

alcohol, we can promote individual behaviour change in combination with a 

cultural shift away problematic drinking. 

   

 Supporting parents to quit smoking will improve the health for both parents 

and children. 

 

 By supporting people to develop and maintain healthy lifestyles from 

childhood to adulthood, and by providing a targeted treatment approach to 

tackling childhood obesity, people in the community can: 

- have information and support they need to lead as healthy lives as 

possible, whilst minimising the risk of obesity  

- access treatment and support to help them return to healthy weight. 

 

 People sleeping rough in NW London who have mental health issues will 

receive flexible, personalised and relationship-focus support. The learning and 

collaboration aspects of the programme will increase understanding of the 

needs of this population across both the mental health and homelessness 

sectors and develop how these two spheres work together to improve 

outcomes.  

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Reduction in percentage of people who are high risk drinking.  

 Reduction in alcohol related A&E attendances, hospital admissions and 

primary care interventions.  

 Increased referrals to alcohol services.  

 Increased referrals to lifestyle services in general and in particular smoking 

cessation uptake rates. 

 Reducing the prevalence in obesity for children in reception and year six.  

Page 81



 

66 
 

 Increased choice of interventions that improve their health and care outcomes 

– and reducing the spend on crisis and acute support through early 

intervention. 

 Referrals into preventative lifestyle services are a greater part of routine 

medical care. 

 People sleeping rough who have mental health need will receive flexible, 

personalised and relationship-focus support.  

 

  

Page 82



 

67 
 

 

5.5 Digitally-enabling primary care and  

outpatient care   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Better access to GP appointments and advice. 

 Good phone access, reliable booking services. 

 Shorter waiting times and a choice of ways to get treatment and advice.  

 More co-ordinated services and joined up records so patients do not have to 

repeat their story multiple times. 

 Quicker access to outpatient appointments. 

 Digital information is good for most people, but not all. 

 Many are not sure of the benefits of digital services.  

 Privacy and confidentiality issues.  

 Loss of face-to-face relationships with their clinicians. 
 

 

 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘People will be empowered, and their experience of health and care will be transformed, 

by the ability to access, manage and contribute to digital tools, information and 

services… The NHS App will create a standard online way for people to access the 

NHS… Support for people with long-term conditions will be improved by interoperability 

of data, mobile monitoring devices and the use of connected home technologies over 

the next few years… Patients’ Personal Health Records will hold a care plan [with] 

information added by the patient themselves, or their authorised carer. 

‘We will support the workforce to develop the digital skills they need… and mobile 

access to digital services to allow health and care workers to work more flexibly. 

‘Patients, clinicians and the carers working with them will have technology designed to 

help them... Over the next five years, every patient will be able to access a GP digitally, 

and where appropriate, opt for a ‘virtual’ outpatient appointment… Technology will 

enable the NHS to redesign clinical pathways. 

‘The use of de-personalised data… will enable more sophisticated population health 

management approaches and support world-leading research.’ 

 

 

Page 83



 

68 
 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

Digital self-care 
 

 The Health Help Now app is available to all in NW London, 100,000+ people 

are already using the app to get advice on which service to use, book 

appointments and look-up health advice. The app is now being integrated with 

the NHS App and supports the apps listed in the prevention and self-care 

chapters. 

Improved access to direct care 

 

 Bookings to GP extended access services or evening and weekend 

appointments can now be made through NHS 111. 

 

 Online consultations – piloted successfully in two boroughs. Patients can send 

detailed information to their GP practice about their condition via the surgery 

website, patients receive advice or an appointment within two days. 

Clinician to clinician interoperability 
 

 All GP to hospital referrals are now made using e-Referrals.  

Improving efficiency and productivity 
 

 Clinical systems are now able to share records across GP practices and 

PCNs, supported by the new NW London’s new information governance 

framework. This supports clinical staff to see patient’s records across a range 

of services. 

 

 A digital consultation blueprint, to support the new PCNs in reviewing online 

queries and requests for appointments to common standards – saving time for 

patients and reducing the admin burden for practices. 

 

 Using our data dashboards, (Whole Systems Integrated Care) GP practices 

are able to look at and compare patient outcomes and interventions for urgent 

care and long-term conditions, which means they are able to offer advice and 

treatment early on and better monitor patients progress. 

What do we plan to do next? 

We are determined that primary care in NW London works for everyone – for 

patients, carers, professionals in general practice and the wider system, our statutory 

and voluntary sector partners, NHS community, acute and mental health trusts, 

community pharmacies, primary care networks and  our GP Federations.  

Page 84



 

69 
 

To achieve this, we will: 

Digital self-care 

 Continue to invest in the Health Help Now app, and integrate it with the NHS 

App, to help people engage with local health and care services 

Improved access to direct care 
 

 Provide all patients access to online consultations, which will help provide 

better access to GPs and primary care services without the need to call the 

surgery or book an appointment. 

 

 Improve systems and processes for patients, reduce waiting times and 

improve access to secondary care by using technology to support referrals 

with more clinical information to support faster decision making by specialists 

e.g. use of images in dermatology referrals. 

Clinician to clinician interoperability 
 

 Use data and to support patient care and further develop evidence supported 

by robust data and evidence-based outcomes and care-pathways. 

 

 Roll out of teledermatology, with the use of an app for GPs to securely send 

images of skin lesions to a specialist for swift triage and ongoing care. 

 
Improving efficiency and productivity 
 

 Ensure each PCN has the tools they need to deliver care, with a ‘Digital First’ 

service offer. 

 

 Continue to develop a new cyber secure network (CASSIUS) to improve 

cyber security and improve access to digital systems for staff who work 

across more than one site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 

70 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planned activities 
 

Digital self-care 
 

 Develop an app strategy to help people manage their own health, care and 
wellbeing. This will link to the ‘NHS App’ and NW London’s ‘Health Help 
Now’ app, as a ‘front door’ for public digital support. 
 

Improved access to direct care 
 

 Build on NW London’s online consultation programme – by the end of 2020, 
75% of GP practices will provide online consultation services, with all 
patients having access to online or video consultations by April 2021. 

 
Clinician to clinician interoperability 
 

 Add to the population health management database and dashboards to the 
functionality needed to manage PCNs; incorporate children’s data and 
develop algorithm logic for children’s care, including the risk stratification 
tool; alongside facilitating greater use of anonymised primary care data from 
WSIC for research purposes (Ongoing agreement for revenue funding in 
19/20 and 20/21 will need to be agreed). 
 

 Further explore how technology can improve the flow of clinical information 
and speed up referrals to specialists for a clinical decision. 

 
Improving efficiency and productivity 
 

Online consultations  

To use the service, patients simply go online and visit their GP practice website and 

fill in the online consultation form. The form is easy to fill in and patients can describe 

their symptoms and provide their GP with all their details in the comfort of their home. 

The form goes through all the questions a doctor would ask at an appointment.  

The secure online service also means there is no need to hang on the phone to try 

and book an appointment, and a doctor will review and get back in touch with the 

patient within one working day. 

“Once the online consultation form was sent, a receipt email was returned with a 

scheduled time to have my query responded to, which was met. The GP called and 

clearly evidenced knowledge of my case and the next steps required. I was made to 

feel at ease and not rushed.” – patient feedback on online consultations 

Page 86



 

71 
 

 Design an exemplar digital GP practice and urgent treatment centre, to 
model all sites on in the future. 
 

 All primary care sites to have super-fast broadband by April 2020. 
 

 Identify funding for investment in infrastructure and implementation of 
shared clinical systems to support PCNs taking advantage of the 
capabilities of SystmOne and EMIS. 

 

 Link primary care records across health and social care (Health and Care 
Information Exchange) – making GP patient data securely available in other 
care settings, sharing data with GPs from providers in other STP footprints 
through the One London LHCRE programme. 
 

 Develop and launch a network to join up all primary care sites, to improve 
access and cyber security. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Faster access to clinical decisions in both primary and secondary care, 

improving patient experience and outcomes.  

 Shorter waiting times for access to the services and information. 

 Improved access to care records and online advice for patients about their 

conditions, will enable people to take more responsibility for their own health 

and care and improving outcomes. 

 Delivering safe and high quality care, and listening to patient and carer 

experience – we can improve population health, reduce unwarranted 

variation, improve staff experience, and improve value to achieve healthier 

lives across NW London. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Patients have better access to their GP online through online consultations.  

 All PCNs use the WSIC dashboards regularly to plan care in their network.  

 Reduced waiting times and faster triage of GP to specialist services. 

 Patient records will be joined up, improving continuity of care for all patients. 

 Health and care services will be offering services fit for the digital age we live 

in. 

  

Page 87



 

72 
 

 

5.6 Improving cancer outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Better communication and information about treatment. 

 Having a named contact. 

 Good levels of communication. 

 Consistency across services. 

 To be included and involved in care planning, treatment and decisions 

making. 

 More emphasis on prevention and education. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Introduction of integrated primary and secondary care cancer partnership 

boards, working closely with our Cancer Alliance, Transforming Cancer 

Services Team, Macmillan and Cancer Research UK.  

 

 Working together during 2018/19 we have regularly achieved the 62 day 

standard. As of May 2019 performance for our Cancer Alliance was the 

highest nationally, and NW London STP performance was fourth highest 

nationally. 

NHS Long Term Plan: 

‘Patients diagnosed early, at stages 1 and 2, have the best chance of curative treatment 

and long-term survival… We will raise greater awareness of symptoms of cancer, lower 

the threshold for referral by GPs, accelerate access to diagnosis and treatment and 

maximise the number of cancers that we identify through screening. 

‘By 2021, where appropriate every person diagnosed with cancer will have access to 

personalised care, including needs assessment, a care plan and health and wellbeing 

information and support. After treatment, patients will move to a follow-up pathway that 

suits their needs, and ensures they can get rapid access to clinical support where they 

are worried that their cancer may have recurred.  

‘Cancer is now the biggest cause of premature death among children and young people 

aged 5-14 years. We will therefore develop and implement networked care to improve 

outcomes for children and young people with cancer, simplifying pathways and 

transitions between services and ensuring every patient has access to specialist 

expertise.’ 

 

Page 88



 

73 
 

 Our one year survival rates are significantly higher than England as a whole. 

Significantly higher survival rates are also seen in specific tumour groups: 

Breast, Colorectal, Kidney, Lung, Myeloma, Non Hodgkin’s Lymphoma and 

Prostate cancer. 

 

 Full roll out of FIT for low risk symptomatic patients (NICE DG30) - this new 

test enables earlier diagnosis of bowel cancer and ensures more appropriate 

referrals to secondary care. 

 

 Continued work to improve compliance with GP e-referrals to cancer services. 

 

 50% of all GP surgeries participating in the cervical screening pilot, showed 

an increase in screening uptake. 

 

 A pilot to increase screening uptake in bowel cancer has been undertaken 

and results are awaited. A similar pilot conducted in SW London showed a 

25% increase in screening uptake as a result of being telephoned. 

 

 Rolled out best practice pathways – ‘Straight To Test’ for colorectal cancer 

and successful piloting of the HSJ award winning RAPID prostate pathway. 

 

 Rolled out of Macmillan funded psych-oncology support for London North 

West University Healthcare NHS Trust. 

 

 All trusts are in the process of completing optimisation audits for CT, 

endoscopy and most recently MRI. 

 

What do we plan to do next? 

 Working collaboratively with our Cancer Alliance and system partners we aim 

to drive and support improvements across all cancer standards, supporting 

the strategic priorities of the national cancer strategy. 

 

 We will: 

o develop and redesign services and pathways to improve cancer 

diagnosis at stage 1 and 2 

o meet national waiting times standards for diagnosis and start of 

treatment 

o improve survival rates 

o maintain performance in the face of increasing referrals and cancer 

prevalence; current data shows 5.7% of urgent referrals are diagnosed 

with cancer. 

 

Page 89



 

74 
 

 Particular focus will be given to: 

o improving access and use of primary care diagnostics 

o further improvements in screening uptake facilitating earlier diagnosis  

o focussing on system improvements to reduce emergency diagnoses of 

cancer 

o the “Living Well and Beyond Cancer” agenda and stratified follow up 

pathways. 

 

Planned activities 
 
Screening: 

 Build on the success of 18/19 and further improve screening uptake 
of bowel, breast and cervical screening to detect cancers earlier. 

 Work closely with screening providers and commissioners to improve 
our Faster Diagnosis Services (FDS). 

 Work with primary and community care providers to increase bowel 
screening uptake by phoning non-responders to screening invitations 

 Increasing access to cervical screening by providing additional, 
suitable clinic times 

 Work with endoscopy units to increase capacity to accommodate 
current and future demand. 

 Extend HPV vaccination programme to boys aged 12-13 from 
September 2019. 

 
Earlier and faster diagnosis: 

 Complete current targeted lung health check pilot in 

Hillingdon/Hammersmith & Fulham CCGs to contribute to national 

learning. 

 Work towards establishing one rapid diagnostic centre for a defined 
population/geographical area. 

 Work with local trusts to record faster diagnosis standard data 
reporting to support 28 day patient diagnosis improvements. 

 Roll out of RAPID prostate pathway, timed oesophago-gastric (OG) 
and lung pathways to improve patient experience and support Faster 
Diagnosis Standard pathways. 

 Work with emerging Primary Care Networks to improve early 
diagnosis. 

 Deliver GP cancer educational events 2019/20. 

 Pilot the GP decision and at risk patient management tool “C the 
Signs” to improve referral quality and patient management to reduce 
emergency diagnoses of cancer. 

 
 
Treatment: 

 Development and establishment of local radiotherapy networks. 

 Delivery of children and young people’s cancer services networks. 

Page 90



 

75 
 

 Support greater access for children to clinical trials 

 Working with Genomic Laboratory Hub (GLH) and NHS Genomic 
Medicine to ensure local access for eligible patients is available for 
appropriate cancer genomic testing. 

 Ensure that genomic testing is delivered by designated providers.  
 
Personalised care: 

 Working with RM Partners and Macmillan partners continue to roll 
out and improve quality of personalised care interventions such as 
needs assessments, care planning and health and wellbeing support. 

 Continue to roll out stratified patient pathways for post cancer 
treatment support, for breast (by 2010); prostate and colorectal 
cancer by 2021. 

 
Workforce: 

 Deliver local actions to improve recruitment and retention of Clinical 
Nurse Specialist and support workers to ensure all cancer patient 
have access to the right expertise and support - 2019-2024. 

 Highlight and promote careers in cancer nursing through career and 
educational development. 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Improved uptake of screening programmes, prompt diagnosis and treatment, 

and support to people living with and after cancer. 

 Prompt access to diagnostic services and where necessary, to high quality 

treatments. 

 Information sensitively and fully explained. 

 Cancers will be found earlier which results in earlier curative treatment leading 

to better patient experience, and survival rates. 

 Use of care navigators to co-ordinate the care of patients and link to 

community support. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Improvement in early diagnosis of cancers by 2028; the proportion of cancers 
diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 will rise from around half (now) to three-quarters 
of cancer patients.  

 An improvement in the percentage of patients who commence treatment <62 

days from GP urgent referral.  

 Patients having positive experience – patient experience surveys; National 

Cancer Patient Experience Survey. 

 Improvement in survival rates. 

 Improvement in uptake of FIT testing.  

 Reduction in ‘don not attend’ DNA rates for first outpatient appointment and 

diagnostic tests. 

Page 91



 

76 
 

 Reduction in number of late inter-trust transfers. 

 Reduction in number of patients starting treatment >104 days. 

 Achievement of new 28DFD standard in 2019-20 alongside 62 day standard. 

performance, which includes percentage of patients waiting <2 weeks from 

GP referral to first consultant appointment (including breast symptomatic). 

 Increased screening coverage and uptake performance. 

  

Page 92



 

77 
 

 

5.7 Improving mental health 

services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Perinatal mental health 

Perinatal mental illness will affect one in ten women. Maternal suicide is the third 

largest cause of direct maternal deaths occurring during or within 42 days of the end 

of pregnancy. However, it remains the leading cause of direct deaths occurring 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘We will continue to expand access to IAPT services, with a focus on those with long-
term conditions. We will then set clear standards for patients requiring access to 
community mental health treatment... New and integrated models of primary and 
community mental health care will support adults and older adults with severe mental 
illnesses.’ 

‘The NHS will provide a single point of access and timely, universal mental health crisis 
care for everyone…We will also increase alternative forms of provision for those in 
crisis. Specific waiting times targets for emergency mental health services will take 
effect from 2020… Ambulance staff will be trained and equipped to respond effectively 
to people in a crisis.’ 

‘We will contribute to ending acute out of area placements by 2021, allowing patients to 
remain in their local area – maintaining relationships with family, carers and friends.’ 

‘Through increasing access to Individual Placement and Support, the NHS will support 
[more] people with severe mental illnesses where this is a personal goal to find and 
retain employment by 2023/24.’ 

‘By 2023/24, at least an additional 345,000 children and young people aged 0-25 will be 
able to access support via NHS-funded mental health services, including through 
schools and colleges. 

‘The Government has pledged £1.25 billion by 2020 to support improvements in 
children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing, along with £150 million for 
eating disorder services. 

‘Funding to deliver the NHS Long Term Plan includes further additional investment, and 
this will grow faster than both NHS funding and mental health investment overall. 

 

Page 93



 

78 
 

within a year after the end of pregnancy (MBRRACE-UK, 2019).There is high and 

rising overrepresentation of people with mental health problems amongst 

unemployed and economically inactive people. 

What progress have we made as a system so far? 

 Achieved full coverage of perinatal mental health services which means that 

women with mental health needs during pregnancy and the post-natal period 

can receive psychological support when needed. 

Improving mental health services for children and young people 

Mental health issues have high prevalence amongst NW London’s children and 

young people (CYP). Over 32,000 CYP aged between 5 and 19 years have a mental 

health disorder; 4,811 of these CYP have three or more mental disorders. Over 

16,000 females and 6,000 males aged between 5 and19 years show signs of an 

emotional disorder.  

Fifty per cent of all cases of diagnosable mental illness begin by age 14 and 75% by 
the age of 24. Helping CYP at an earlier stage can avoid them falling into lifelong 
struggles with poor mental health. 

What progress have we made as a system so far? 

 Worked with children and young people to develop and implement a 

comprehensive plan to transform CYP mental health services, working across 

health, care, education and the justice system. 

 Ensured access to services that is in line with national standards. 

 Strengthened the relationship between education and mental health services 

through the rollout of CYP trailblazers in West London and Hounslow in 

2018/19.  

What do we plan to do next? 

 A key element is the expansion of access to community mental health 

services: with an additional 1,514 children and young people across NW 

London to access services by 2024 (in part delivered by schools based mental 

health support teams). 

 Rollout mental health support teams in schools across Ealing, Central 

London, Hammersmith & Fulham and the expansion of teams in Hounslow. 

 Development and implementation of a comprehensive model of care to 

support seamless care through the transition for children and young people’s 

mental health services to adult mental health services. 

 Ensure 24/7 access to crisis care via the NHS 111 single point of access.  

 

Page 94



 

79 
 

How will we know we are making a difference? 

 By 2020/21, 35% of CYP with mental health needs will be able to access 

services.  

 Continue to ensure that of 95% CYP with an eating disorder receive treatment 

within one week for urgent cases, and four weeks for routine cases.  

 Inpatient stays will take place where clinically appropriate and have the 

minimum possible length of stay as close to home as possible.  

 All commissioned providers of CYP mental services will flow data to the 

Mental Health Services Minimum Data Set (MHSMDS). 

Planned activities  
 
CYP mental health 

 Further strengthening of the relationship between education and mental 
health services through the rollout of CYP Trailblazers – Ealing, Central 
London, Hammersmith & Fulham and the expansion of Hounslow in 
2019/20. 

 Develop a comprehensive 0-25 support offer.  

 Development work on CYP eating disorder services, to ensure that children 
are provided with a consistent offer across the locality.  

 Harnessing digital transformation to further improve access to children and 
young people’s mental health services. 

 

 

Improving mental health services for adults with common and severe mental 

health needs 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Londoners experiencing chronic and relapsing mental health needs do not 

consistently experience timely access to Community Mental Health Teams 

(CMHTs), or the quality of care and support that would ensure they have the 

best opportunity to avoid a mental health crisis. 

 People in NW London in mental health crisis do not consistently experience 

timely access to mental health crisis responses. It is also known that care 

whilst in crisis does not meet the basics of dignity, respect and high quality 

compassionate care. Services are often not delivered in the right environment 

to help people recover.  

 People in mental health crisis are often denied access to HBPoS sites and 

Emergency Departments (EDs), left in the back of police cars and 

ambulances, or transferred unnecessarily between EDs and HBPoS sites due 

to a lack of appropriate and co-ordinated care. 

 In 2017, there were 568 suicides in London; 110 of these (19.3%) were in NW 

London. 

Page 95



 

80 
 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Through the IAPT-long-term conditions programme, we have increased 

referrals to IAPT services and data shows a reduction in people with long-

term conditions using other NHS services after intervention with ‘Talking 

Therapies’/IAPT-LTC. 

 Taken learning from significant outreach work as part of the response to 

Grenfell to implement initiatives that support access within our communities, 

such as outreach to mosques. 

 Secured funding for the expansion of Individual Placement and Support (IPS) 

services at Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust and the 

development of services at West London NHS Trust. In 2018/19 the current 

IPS service supported 565 service users with around a third being supported 

into work.  

Recently started developing transformation plans to introduce new community 

services through stable and more developed PCNs. 

Through the crisis care concordat, NW London has improved mental health 

crisis care for its local population. 

 Developed a proposal to provide bereavement support to families in NW 

London affected by suicide, as well as worked with our two main mental 

health providers to develop plans to achieve the zero suicide inpatient 

ambition. 

What do we plan to do next? 

Community mental health services 

Future provision of community care will be based on a core model of delivery of care 

with specific provision for patients with a personality disorder, eating disorder and 

have complex rehabilitation needs.  

This will include strengthening local relationships between primary care, secondary 

care, local authorities and voluntary care services. We will also be testing two 

different models of community mental health services across a total of 36 PCNs. 

Crisis care 

 2019/20 and 2020/21 proposals developed to expand Community Resolution 

Home Treatment Teams (CRHTTs) and alternative crisis services.  

 Funding will ensure fidelity to the CRHTT model, clearer allocation of resource 

to Tier 1 and Tier 2 functions (MH provider trusts and CAMHS), improvements 

to waiting times for assessment and quality of service.  

 A focus on increased levels of staff to support older people and additional 

crisis response in areas of high need e.g. long wait periods in A&E. 

 Work with Thrive London to establish the regional deployment of bereavement 

support services. 

Page 96



 

81 
 

Planned activities  
 
Community mental health services 
 
Testing two community models: 
 
1) Provided by CNWL, a new model of care to redesign and reorganise 
existing borough-based community resource to form new ‘Community Mental 
Health Hubs’ (CMHH), each of which would be aligned to the local PCNs in 
Harrow, Hillingdon and Central London. Working in this way allows each CMHH to 
have a consistent core structure and function but also allows flexibility to tailor 
staffing and provision of services to meet the needs of the local PCN population.  
 
2) Provided by WLT, the proposed primary and community integrated mental 
health (PCIMH) model, will enable the achievement of greater integration between 
primary care, secondary and community services. This will be tested across 
Hammersmith & Fulham, Ealing CCG and Hounslow.  
 
Both models will support streamlined integrated care, joint management of 
demand on services so that care is delivered that provides satisfaction for both 
patients and staff, and ensure appropriate standardisation of good quality care to 
mitigate current variation (between CCGs, PCNs and individual practices) whilst 
allowing tailoring of services to meet specific local needs.  
 
Crisis care 
 
At least one crisis/acute alternative will be provided (either a new service or 
increasing capacity in existing services).  Funding will offer support to further 
develop the following crisis interventions, including roles for peer support workers: 
 

 Crisis haven – inner boroughs serving Kensington, Chelsea and 
Westminster  

 Crisis haven – outer boroughs serving Harrow, Brent  

 Crisis café – Ealing  

 Assessment lounge pilot – the Gordon Hospital, Northwick Park Hospital 

 Enhanced work in Amadeus Recovery House – Ealing  

 Safe Haven – Hounslow  
 

 
What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 People will have better access to and experience of crisis care. 

 More people will use and understand the benefits of talking therapies, 

especially those managing long term conditions. 

 Adults and older adults with severe mental illnesses will have greater choice 

and control over their care and be supported to live well in their communities 

via new and integrated models of primary and community care. NW London 

will also test four-week waiting times for adult and older adult community 

mental health teams. 

Page 97



 

82 
 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

Community mental health services: 

 60% of those on the SMI register will receive the complete list of physical 

checks and follow up  

 At least 56% of people aged 14-65 experiencing their first episode of 

psychosis will start treatment within two weeks with 50% of services to be 

graded at level 3  

 Increased access to Individual Placement and Support (IPS) services   

 Adults and older adults with SMI (including care for people with eating 

disorders, mental health rehabilitation needs and a ‘personality disorder’ 

diagnosis) receiving care from integrated primary and community mental 

health services. 

Crisis care 

 100% coverage of 24/7 adult Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams 

operating in line with best practice. 

 More alternatives for people in mental health crisis to be cared for in, 

preventing attendances to emergency departments and admissions to 

hospital. 

The North West London Health and Care Partnership has developed outcome measures to 

understand how our mental health system is performing as part of an integrated care 

system, identify areas for service improvement and to reduce health inequalities and 

address unwarranted variation. 

 

 

  

Page 98



 

83 
 

 

5.8 Shorter waits for planned care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 
 

 Planned hospital appointments and planned surgery being cancelled and 

rearranged. 

 The process for being referred to hospital care is confusing. 

 Inconsistent care between NHS trusts. 

 Hospital waiting times. 

 Slow waiting times for diagnosis.  

 Is the care being offered over the phone or online as good as face-to-face in a 

hospital?  

 Chronic and long-term conditions – being unable to access a specialists 

during a flare up. 

 Poor communication between hospitals and GPs. 

 

 

 
NHS Long Term Plan says: 
 
‘Waiting times remain low by historic standards, and GP referrals are flat, but in recent 
years treatment capacity has not grown fast enough to keep up with patient need, and 
the number of patients waiting longer than 18 weeks has been steadily increasing. 
 
‘Under the Long Term Plan, the local NHS is being allocated sufficient funds over the 
next five years to grow the amount of planned surgery year-on-year, to cut long waits, 
and reduce the waiting list. 
 
‘The NHS will continue to provide patients with a wide choice of options for quick 
elective care, including making use of available Independent Sector capacity. 
 
‘This will be supported by continued roll out of Capacity Alerts as a tool for CCGs to use 
to support GPs and patients to make informed decisions about where to have their 
treatment. Patients will continue to have choice at point of referral and anyone who 
has been waiting for six months will be reviewed and given the option of faster 
treatment at an alternative provider, with money following the patient to fund 
their care.’ 

 

 

Page 99



 

84 
 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Clinicians have been working together to develop care plans that are 

consistent across our acute hospitals.  

 Clinically agreed common referral forms across six specialities that ensure 

that when a patient is referred to a specialist as much appropriate information 

is transferred with them.  

 Senior clinicians now review referrals upon receipt to identify whether a 

patient could be better managed by their GP with advice and support, or 

through community services, rather than attending a hospital appointment. 

 Initial development of a tele-dermatology service which allows GPs to 

securely take photographs and attach them to dermatology referrals. 

Dermatologists can then review the photograph, in some cases saving an 

unnecessary hospital appointment and delivering rapid specialist advice. 

 

What do we plan to do next? 

 Further develop our care plans and associated common referral forms. 

 Attach images to all dermatology referrals for faster diagnosis.  

 Further develop paths for how patients with long-term conditions can access 

support when their condition flares up.  

 Increase GP access to advice and guidance for all clinical areas, meaning 

that GPs will be able to access expert advice from specialist without making a 

referral. 

 Scaling up of virtual appointments, particularly for follow up care, to reduce 

unnecessary hospital attendance. 

 Collectively initiatives will reduce referrals by 20% within 3 years. 

 We are keen to use Capacity Alerts as an information tool for GPs and their 

patients, and are working through the operational issues encountered during 

the first pilot phase. 

 We are actively costing the future management of waiting-lists, alongside a 

review of how lists are managed and appropriate ways to manage demand. 

The requirements for 26 week choice  will cause significant transactional cost 

pressures at Trusts, and the consequences and management of this are also 

being reviewed. 

 Work is in hand to minimise the risk of patients waiting for more than 52 

weeks for treatment. 

Planned activities 
 

 Develop clinical care plans and common referral forms for use by all 
specialist and GPs across NW London for the following specialties: 

 Respiratory 

Page 100



 

85 
 

 Neurology 

 Urology 

 Haematology (non-cancer) 

 Endocrinology 

 ENT 

 General Surgery 
 

 Embed patient initiated follow up (where patients request a follow up as 
they need it or have a flare up, rather than being called into routine follow 
up appointments) for chronic long term conditions including Irritable Bowel 
Disorder (IBD) and Crohn’s Disease. 
 

 Improve GP access to education and support through advice and guidance 
for all clinical specialities. 
 

 Increase the use of digital care and consultation methods, including 
telephone and video calls.  

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Having care in place that is consistent across NW London will ensure that all 

residents are able to access the right clinical advice when they need it, 

avoiding the need to go to hospital when their GP can provide care closer to 

home.  By changing which patients and which cases we refer to hospital we 

can also ensure that hospitals have more capacity to deliver a more 

responsive service. 

 

 Ensuring that GPs carry out necessary tests prior to making a referral will 

reduce the necessity for some referrals to be made and ensure hospital 

appointments are not wasted as all the right results will be available to the 

specialist when attending an appointment requests. 

  

 Introducing digital methods of care, including telephone and video calls will 

mean that patients spend less time attending appointments in the hospital.  

This will reduce the need for travel and substantially reduce the impact upon a 

patients’ daily life. 

 

 Attaching photographs to dermatology referrals will mean that dermatologists 

can provide rapid support to patients, identifying those patients who need 

further investigation but also ensuring that those patients who do not require a 

hospital appointment are supported by their GP. 

 

 Providing more advice and guidance for GPs from consultant experts has the 

potential to avoid unnecessary hospital referrals and means that patients are 

Page 101



 

86 
 

not required to attend a busy outpatient clinic. 

 

 Ultimately this should mean that our outpatient services are more focussed 

upon delivering the right care to the right people at the right time, valuing our 

patients’ time and supporting them in getting the right care, in the right place 

at the right time. 

 

 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 We will see a reduction in the number of referrals sent to our hospitals and 

help to reduce demand on their services. 

 

 Patients will only need to attend a face-to-face specialist appointment when 

there is a real clinical need.  

 

 By ensuring all necessary tests i.e. blood tests or scans are available at 

specialist appointments, it will make the appointment outcome better for the 

patient and allow the specialist to provide the right support first time. 

 

 Follow-up care for those with chronic and long term conditions will be 

provided in new ways, that don’t require a face-to face appointment including: 

over the phone, advice passed on from specialist to GP and email.  

 

  

Page 102



 

87 
 

 

5.9 Population health 

 

  

 

 

 

 

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the chapter: London Vision 

and chapter 3: Our population. 

NHS and social care services recognise that our contributions to preventing ill-

health, promoting wellness and wellbeing, and treating illness and disease must be 

reinforced by local, London-wide and national strategies to tackle employment air-

quality, road systems, housing provision, safer streets, healthy eating, poverty and 

social or economic inequalities – and many other factors that contribute to a 

‘Wellbeing Index’ that is meaningful for individuals, families and communities (see 

our ‘London Vision’) 

What health and social care partners are doing is to work with public health 

specialists and local communities themselves – ‘the real experts’ – to identify the 

factors that we can have a direct impact on, and the areas that we, and other system 

stakeholders, can influence together. 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Knowing how to access relevant and trusted advice on looking after 

themselves and their families, and how to navigate the health and care 

system for further support. 

 Consistent messages from schools, care professionals, voluntary sector about 

health. 

 Communication and co-ordination between health and care professionals, so 

that they are receiving personalised advice, based on an understanding of 

their own or their family’s history. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 A range of case-finding tools have been developed to identify adults who are 

high A&E attenders, or with a high rate of non-elective admissions, and those 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 
 
Develop collaborative and inclusive multi-professional system leadership, partnerships 
and change capability, with a shared vision and objectives…improving patient 
experience, outcomes and addressing health inequalities.  
 

 

Page 103



 

88 
 

with an out-of-date care plan, or recently diagnosed with a long-term 

condition. 

 

 Significant advances have been made in joining up acute, community and 

primary care sources of information to build ‘Whole Systems Integrated Care’ 

dashboards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we plan to do next? 

• We will develop a similar risk-stratification algorithm for children (to include 

healthy children, children diagnosed with long-term conditions, and children 

with complex health needs) and incorporate that alongside the current adult 

model, to include links to their family’s records. 

Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) dashboards 

The Whole Systems Integrated Care Dashboards (WSIC) are a suite of tools 
available to clinicians and care professionals who are providing direct care to 
patients. 

The WSIC dashboards provide a linked integrated summary of patient's health and 
social care which can be used to case find and case manage patients who require 
more targeted and proactive care. Foe example for patients with a long term 
condition, they can show if a patient has had trips to A&E, or changes in test 
results as a result of their condition is not being managed as well as it could be. 
The dashboards have a series of flags that highlight patients that clinicians should 
proactively see to help manage their condition better. 

Using WSIC in GP practices – case study 

The WSIC dashboard was used to identify patients with poorly controlled Asthma 
based at a GP practice. Patients were identified through frequency of A&E 
attendances which are flagged in red on the WSIC dashboard 

For one practice the WSIC dashboard identified 12 most ‘at risk patients’. The GP 
reviewed these patients’ compliance with inhaler therapies and regularity of annual 
asthma reviews to see how these patients could be helped. 

Discussions with nurses & GPs at the practice led to the recommendation of 
initiating group consultations. This was seen as a better choice for patients as 
opposed to the conventional asthma review clinic and an opportunity for patients 
and children alike to meet with families going through similar issues. These 
sessions now provide regular support for this group of patients, reducing the need 
for attendances to A&E for help. 

• A group consultation was created and the practice is now inviting patients who can be 

helped to attend.  

 

Page 104



 

89 
 

• We will work with social care to include further appropriate details from social 

care records into the dashboard. 

Planned activities 
 
The key first steps are to: 
 

 Understand in detail the nature of the local population and identify key 
groups for whom improvements in care specifically need to be made – 
including vulnerable groups due to age, background, previous or current 
health status, and language or other social skills. 
 

 Enable targeted interventions - by segmenting the population into groups of 
people with similar needs - for both these population cohorts and the 
individual citizen within. 
 

 Stratify by risk the individuals and groups for whom health and care 
interventions can make the most difference to their health and wellbeing, 
whether by immediate intervention at time of crisis, pro-active support to 
prevent future deterioration, or co-ordinated care between several agencies. 
 

 Provide appropriate support by the right professional at the right time to 
achieve the right outcome for both the individual and the population group 
as a whole. 
 

 Develop Quality Improvement models to help teams to sustainably and 
iteratively use these tools to demonstrate improvement in care delivery. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Overall improvements to health and wellbeing for individuals, their families 

and the people they care for. 

 Development of accessible and trusted provision of advice, information and 

urgent care. 

 Reduced waste, inefficiency or duplication of care. 

 If we do risk-stratification well, we will reduce the incidence of people having 

unplanned care. 

 Improved co-ordination of care, and more pro-active, rather than reactive, 

care. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Multi-disciplinary teams working with a case management approach across 

both health and social care, for the most complex clients. 

Page 105



 

90 
 

 Networked teams of general practice staff working to assess population needs 

and design integrated care services, for their ‘rising risk’ and moderately 

complex clients. 

 Local general practice, as the first point of contact, providing collaborative 

planning and delivery of holistic accessible trusted care, 8am – 8pm 7 days a 

week, via shared hubs where necessary. 

 Digital technology working to support individuals and care professionals. 

 Using informatics and key performance indicators to demonstrate sustainable 

improvement in care outcomes, experience and cost reduction. 

 

 

 

  

Page 106



 

91 
 

6.0 Care and quality outcomes 

6.1 A strong start  

in life  

for children and 

young people 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 More health checks in school. 

 More health and wellbeing advise and support. 

 Cultural awareness. 

 Partnership working with community groups. 

 More education around vaccinations. 

 Parent education. 

 Use more technology to engage young people. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Established a local children’s and young people (CYP) board with named 

clinical and management leaders from across the NHS, local government, 

Children’s Services and Directors of Public Health other partnership to design 

and deliver transformation for the system.  

 Asthma primary care audit and use of WSIC dashboards to improve care and 

outcomes. 

 Designed a CYP transformation programme comprising three child health 

work streams based on the following segments of the CYP population:   

 

o 1. The Early Years - First 1,000 days and Oral Health 

o 2. Children with Long term conditions  

o 3. Children with complex needs  

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

 ‘By 2028, children and young people in England will have better physical health, 
mental health and wellbeing. 

‘Children and young people, and their parents and carers, will experience a seamless 
service delivered by an integrated health and care system. 

‘There will be a skilled workforce that listens to them, responds, and meets their needs. 

‘Improved care for children with long-term conditions, such as asthma, epilepsy, 
diabetes, and complex needs; through the development of epilepsy, diabetes and 
asthma networks.’ 

 

 

 

Page 107



 

92 
 

Each work stream is focusing on achieving a number of ambitious outcomes.  

1. The First 1,000 days project is a joint CYP and maternity programme focusing 

on prevention and education opportunities in early years of life. This is, a 

critical phase of life during which the foundations of a child's development are 

laid down. An early priority for this work-stream will be to explore 

how childhood screening and immunisation rates can be improved.  

The team will also focus on improving oral health in early childhood to reduce 

the number of children admitted to hospital for extraction.  The team have set 

an ambitious target of reducing admissions by 10% which will generate 

significant savings that can be used to further educate children and young 

people in living health lives.   

2. Children with Long Term Condition work-stream will focus on improving the 

care delivered to children with asthma. This will be delivered in part by 

ensuring that all children with asthma have a comprehensive care plan. It is 

intended that this will reduce attendances and admission to hospital by 5% and 

improve the provision of same day emergency care. The team will also focus 

on system-wide working to improve other long term conditions such as 

diabetes and epilepsy.  

 

3. Children with complex needs can spend a great deal of time in hospital.  These 

stays can often become extended as arranging a safe discharge requires 

multiple organisations to work with each other to support the family.  

 

The aim of this group is to focus on patient / family experience by ensuring 

children with complex needs have a comprehensive life plans. These plans will 

be agreed with the families and form the basis of a co-ordinated approach to 

care delivery.   The plans will allow greater co-ordination between health and 

social care organisations and will be designed around the patient and family’s 

needs.  The plans will empower patients and families to take more control 

ensuring better care management thereby reducing unnecessary healthcare 

use.   

What do we plan to do next? 

Healthy child (first 1000 days)  

 Improving uptake of immunisations across PCNs.  

 Reduce emergency attendances at urgent treatment centres and A&E for 

jaundice, feeding problems and gastroenteritis through improved education 

and prevention. 

 Improve provision of perinatal mental health support. 

 

Page 108



 

93 
 

Healthy child (focus on oral health)  

 Improve inequalities across communities and reduce the number of under by 

fives affected by tooth decay by 10%. To do this we will ensure every child:  

 sees a dentist before their first birthday 

 aged 2-3 is enrolled in a supervised brushing programme 

 of reception age receives oral health advice at school. 

Long term conditions (focus on asthma)  

 Over the next three years, we will reduce unwarranted variation in care of 

children and young people with asthma by improving our approach to 

correctly identifying and diagnosing asthma, ensuring every child: 

 has a co-designed Asthma Action Plan (and receives the education 

that is in the plan). 

 has an annual check and teaching session around inhaler technique  

 has a clinical review, by a trained professional, after any exacerbation 

of asthma. 

Children with complex needs  

Two main areas of focus: 

 identifying all children and young people who have complex health 

needs 

 offering all of these children and young people access to a Personal 

Care Record - #mylifeplan - (e.g. a digital Care Information Exchange 

record) that they and their parents / carers can use to improve their 

care and their wider life. 

 

Planned activities 
 
Healthy child ‘The First 1,000 days’ (a joint Maternity/CYP project) 

 Improve immunisation rates across PCNs. 

 Embed health visitor across PCNs to support transition from antenatal to 
perinatal period and infant feeding, to help reduce the number of CYP 
attendances to UCC and A&E.  

 
Healthy child (oral health) 

 Co-design stories, health messages, and educational support. 

 Introduce a collaborative approach to drive these improvements across 
PCNs.  

 Establish a programme that trains up a wide and diverse group of people 
across our communities in ‘community organising’ methods. 

 Establish a measurement system that allows near real-time monitoring of 
the two main outcomes (a) the incidence of dental caries and (b) the 

Page 109



 

94 
 

number of admissions to hospital for dental extraction for children under 5 
at PCN level. 

 Develop a seamless universal oral health prevention system in nurseries, 
children’s centres and schools, with links to community and acute dentistry. 
 

Long term conditions (Asthma ) 
 

 Invite children, young people and families to help with the design of the 
health system, including the development of pilots. 

 Establish multi-disciplinary teams without walls so that children can freely 
access the right level of care for their needs (across primary, secondary and 
tertiary services). 

 Unified approaches and materials will be developed for the education of 
staff and patients for dissemination across PCNs 

 Collection of baseline data for inhaler technique, asthma action plans, 
asthma review numbers, plus outcomes such as emergency department 
and urgent care presentations and school attendance will be collected. 

 Integrate the existing Paediatric Asthma Network to provide leadership for 
this work. 

Children with complex needs 
 

 Professionals will work with CYP and their families to understand their 
needs, improve their skills in order to manage their condition and achieve 
better outcomes.  

 Health care, education and social care staff will be up-skilled to support the 
health needs of CYP.   

 Three-way consultations with MDT (specialists), GP and family to ensure 
better transition at key stages in the CYP journey from pre-school to school 
to adulthood will be introduced. 

  ‘Teams without walls’ will be established– specialists, including general 
paediatricians, children’s community nurses, and paediatric therapists 
supporting complex care in the setting best suited to the CYP.    

 A less bureaucratic ‘Shared Education, Health and Care plan’ will be 
developed through sharing of information across the system so CYP needs 
to tell their story only once.   

 A CYP dashboard will be developed for the purpose of identify children with 
complex needs, enabling greater data linkage between health systems and 
local authority. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Fewer children will:  

 be admitted to hospital for tooth extractions 

 have decayed, missing and filled teeth 

 need to take time off school 

 experience the emotional impact following dental problems. 

Page 110



 

95 
 

 An improved quality of life for children and young people with asthma and 

their families. 

 A reduction in A&E attendances and hospital admissions for CYP with asthma 

and babies need support with feeding difficulties and jaundice. 

 A reduction in avoidable deaths from asthma. 

 More parents and children and young people with complex health needs, 

confident to manage their condition.  

 More CYP with complex needs seen in the GP practice/primary care network 

supported by the broader multidisciplinary team. 

 More parents able to be at work. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference in NW London? 

 Improved dental health for children under five and a 10% reduction in dental 

caries (decay and cavities) and reduce hospital admissions for dental 

extraction. 

 A reduction in the unwarranted variation in care of children and young people 

with asthma in NW London. 

 Fewer A&E and urgent treatment centre attendances for children and young 

people. 

 

  

Page 111



 

96 
 

 

6.2 Maternity 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Mothers want to be given clear consistent information about their maternity 

journey. 

 Care needs to be safe and personal. 

 Good communication. 

NHS Long Term Plan says 
 
‘We will roll out the Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle across every maternity unit in 
England in 2019. To care for women with heightened risk of pre-term birth, including 
younger mothers and those from deprived backgrounds, we will encourage 
development of specialist pre-term birth clinics across England. By spring 2019, every 
trust in England with a maternity and neonatal service will be part of the National 
Maternal and Neonatal Health Safety Collaborative. 
 
‘The NHS will continue to improve how it learns lessons when things go wrong and 
minimise the chances of them happening again. 
 
‘We will continue to work with midwives, mothers and their families to implement 
continuity of carer so that, by March 2021, most women receive continuity of the person 
caring for them during pregnancy, during birth and postnatally. By 2023/24, all women 
will be able to access their maternity notes and information through their smart phones 
or other devices. 
 
‘Care provided by specialist perinatal mental health services will be available from 
preconception to 24 months after birth. Maternity outreach clinics will integrate 
maternity, reproductive health and psychological therapy. Offering fathers/partners of 
women accessing specialist perinatal mental health services and maternity outreach 
clinics evidence-based assessment for their mental health and signposting to support 
… will contribute to helping to care for the 5-10% of fathers who experience mental 
health difficulties during the perinatal period. 
 
‘We will improve access to postnatal physiotherapy to support women who need it to 
recover from birth. 
 
‘We will redesign and expand neonatal critical care services to improve the safety and 
effectiveness of services and experience of families... We will develop our expert 
neonatal nursing workforce… We will enhance the experience of families during the 
worrying period of neonatal critical care.’ 
 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

97 
 

 Continuity of care.  

 To be listened to and involved in decisions.   

 Feel supported. 

 Easy to use booking systems. 

 Cultural awareness about care and choice. 

 Information that is easy to read. 

 Education for new mothers. 

 How to keep well in pregnancy. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 In March 2019, over 20% (up from 1% in 16/17) of all women booked into 

maternity care were allocated a named midwife in a team of 6-8 midwives to 

provide antenatal, intrapartum (birth) and postnatal care. Plans are underway 

to increase the usage of the continuity of carer pathway to 35% by March 

2020. 

 

 All maternity service users can now create personal care plans with their care 

providers. The plans are available in digital, online or paper format. 

 

 Information about all NW London maternity services and information about 

what to expect throughout pregnancy and beyond has been standardised 

across all maternity services. Information is available both in paper booklets 

and a digital app. 

  

 All NW London maternity units are UK UNICEF Baby Friendly accredited. 

 

 Each maternity unit has an active service user group called Maternity Voice 

Partnership, working with the service provider and commissioners to shape 

service design.  

 

 A maternity support worker apprenticeship programme has been developed 

with our education partners, to support the workforce by standardising the job 

role and creating a career pathway into midwifery. 

  

 We are on track to fully implement all aspects of the Saving Babies’ Lives 

version 2 care bundle. 

 

 Professionals from health care, local authorities and voluntary support groups 

are working collaboratively to reduce the number of women smoking at time of 

birth.   

 

Page 113



 

98 
 

What do we plan to do next? 

 Strengthen partnerships between health visiting, maternity and GPs to 

improve care and services offered to parents and children at the start of life. 

  

 The Local Maternity System and Neonatal Operational Delivery Network to work 

collaboratively to produce local plans to implement the neonatal critical care 

review. 

 

 Model and launch new continuity of carer teams targeted at populations 

known to have higher levels of morbidity and mortality. 

 

 Embed the use of personal care plans with staff and users, to improve patient 

choice and continuity of care. 

 

 Develop perinatal mental health services including maternity outreach clinics. 

 

 Support the development of our local maternal medicine network. 

 

 Implement initiatives to increase the number of smoke free pregnancies.  

 

 Develop initiatives to improve provision of and access to women’s health 

physiotherapy services both in the antenatal and postnatal period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planned activities 
 

 Produce a detailed postnatal gap analysis to benchmark for improvements 
to be made to the provision of postnatal care against national guidance.  

 Phase 2 of smoke free pregnancy project. 

 Develop trust level transformation plans to model plans to implement 51% 
continuity of carer by 2021. 

 Implement strategies to increase the number of midwifery led births. 

 Pilot maternity social prescribing for targeted populations. 

 New ways of working to provide continuity of care 

“This new way of working brings joy to our midwives as you can really take the time to 

get to know each woman you are taking care of. Life becomes a lot easier because 

when it’s time for the woman to give birth you won’t have to spend time looking at their 

notes as you will know the woman well already. You get the opportunity to build lasting 

relationships, work in really close-knit teams and for the women, care is seamless.”  - 

Consultant Midwife for Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

 

 

 “The point is sometimes your  

 

Page 114



 

99 
 

 Pilot peer to peer community perinatal support hubs. 

 Develop digital strategy with ambition to provide women with digital access 
to their personal health records. 

 Launch version 4 of Mum & Baby app. Within the next 5 years, this app will 
be connected to the personal health records at maternity departments, 
enabling parents to have an electronic version of the RedBook and access 
to hospital information.  

 Maternity participation in system wide personalisation and obesity work 
groups. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Clear consistent information about maternity services will be available across 

the NW London area, giving women choice and enabling them to access care 

at the right time and in the right place with the right information that they need. 

 

 Fewer women will require medical interventions, meaning that more babies 

and mothers have a healthier start to parenthood.   

 

 Continuity of carer is known to have positive outcomes on mortality and 

morbidity, and providing most women with this resource will make care safer. 

 

 Women from deprived areas and those from BAME communities are more 

likely to suffer adverse outcomes. Improving continuity of carer for this group 

will reduce mortality and morbidity rates. 

 

 Supporting women to initiate and maintain breast feeding will contribute to a 

healthier population. Breast feeding reduces the risks later of diabetes, 

obesity and ill health in infancy. 

 

 Supporting staff to work in new ways and increase skills will aid recruitment 

and retention, providing our population with more midwives. 

 

 Improved provision of postnatal care will ensure that families get off to the 

best start in life.  

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 By March 2021, 51% of women will be booked onto a continuity of carer 

pathway. 

 Increase in the uptake and use of personal care plans. 

 Strong collaborative relationships with our local populations. 

 Increased service user satisfaction. 

Page 115



 

100 
 

 By 2024 a 50% reduction in stillbirth, preterm birth, neonatal intrapartum brain 

injury, neonatal and maternal mortality. 

 Increasing numbers of women giving birth in maternity led settings. 

 Robust measuring of outcomes associated with midwifery led and continuity 

of carer. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 116



 

101 
 

 

6.3 Learning disabilities and autism 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Access to urgent specialist care. 

 More proactive and person-centred community support. 

 Flexible and responsive local services. 

 Improved autism awareness, care and support for autistic people within 

mainstream care settings, especially in mental health care. 

 Improved diagnostic and post-diagnostic integrated autism pathways. 

 Improved support for families. 

 Early identification and treatment of health conditions to prevent premature 

mortality. 

 Having equal access to, experience of and outcomes from health care and 

treatment. 

 Provision of annual health checks for people with learning disabilities which 

lead to health action plans. 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘Action will be taken to tackle the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths in people 

with a learning disability and for autistic people. 

‘The whole NHS will improve its understanding of the needs of people with learning 

disabilities and autism, and work together to improve their health and wellbeing. 

 

‘Over the next three years, autism diagnosis will be included alongside work with 

children and young people’s mental health services to test and implement the most 

effective ways to reduce waiting times for specialist services. 

‘To move more care to the community, we will support local systems to take greater 

control over how budgets are managed… Where possible, people with a learning 

disability, autism or both will be enabled to have a personal health budget. Increased 

investment in intensive, crisis and forensic community support will also enable more 

people to receive personalised care in the community, closer to home, and reduce 

preventable admissions to inpatient services. 

‘We will focus on improving the quality of inpatient care across the NHS and 

independent sector.’ 

 

Page 117



 

102 
 

 Common understanding of pathways of care for people with learning 

disabilities and/or autism: for example, crisis pathways for children and young 

people (CYP).   

 Meaningful and active involvement in planning and developing new services. 

 Having more choice and control, with opportunities to lead a healthy and 

fulfilling life in an inclusive community. 

 Creative and timely transition planning with personalised support. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

Implementation of the Transforming Care Programme has seen a considerable 

reduction in the number of people cared for in an inpatient (overnight bedded) setting 

over the past four years: 67 adults with a learning disability and/or autism were 

receiving inpatient care at the end of March 2019, compared to 95 adults at the end 

of March 2016, when the programme started. As a system we are on track to meet 

our March 2020 adult inpatient target of 58.  

Collaborative patient surgeries have improved our understanding of the needs, 

challenges, and gaps in services, and helped improve discharges and share 

learning. We have produced guidance around establishing risk of admission 

registers, and dynamic support registers are now routinely being used to support 

people with learning disabilities who are in, or approaching crisis, to remain in the 

community. 

We have commissioned training courses including: autism awareness training for 

staff working in mental health services; learning disability and autism awareness 

training for frontline staff working in acute services; family and carer-led training on 

challenging behaviour for families; and Positive Behaviour Support.   

The NW London Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) has also produced a housing 

plan, and supported local authority partners to apply for capital funding to develop 

specialist respite, crisis accommodation and supported living.  

What do we plan to do next? 

 Implementing the NHS Long Term Plan locally in NW London will mean a 

continued focus on reducing the number of CYP and adults who are cared for 

in an inpatient setting, in line with national targets.  

 Our programme of work will also expand, shifting to reflect the broader 

commitments in the NHS Long Term Plan to support people with learning 

disabilities, autism or both to live longer, happier, healthier lives. This will 

mean local work around:  

o Improving the wellbeing of, and reducing inequalities faced by people 

with a learning disability and/or autism. 

Page 118



 

103 
 

o Ensuring that people get the right treatment, in the right place, at the 

right time. Increasingly, this will mean expanding and improving our 

ability to care for people in the community, closer to home. 

o Helping people to recover and stay well. 

o Ensuring that the right activities are in place to enable this programme 

of work – for example, supporting the development of local provider 

collaborations, ensuring that a digital patient flag is in place, improving 

commissioning standards in line with best practice, and involving 

people with lived experience in the planning and checking of our local 

services. 

 

Planned activities 

Improving wellbeing and reducing inequalities: 

 Continued roll-out of ‘STOMP’ and ‘STAMP’ programmes (Stopping over 
medication of people with a learning disability autism or both, and 
Supporting treatment and appropriate medication in paediatrics 
Programmes). From April 2020, as part of the new Structured Medications 
Review and Optimisation Service Specification, PCNs in NW London will 
have a dedicated focus on supporting people with learning disabilities and 
autism through the STOMP programme.  
 

 Work with developing PCNs in NW London to increase the number of 
annual health checks we do for people aged over 14 years with learning 
disabilities, to ensure early identification and treatment of health conditions. 
 

 Work with primary care and experts by experience to explore opportunities 
to deliver further training on autism and learning disabilities. This will be 
done through the Primary Care Network training hubs to help ensure that 
reasonable adjustments are made and the needs of autistic people and 
those with learning disabilities can be better met within primary care. 
  

 Continue to monitor progress with Learning Disability Mortality Reviews 
(LeDeR) and ensure findings are used to address health inequalities. 
 

 Explore options for specialist autism posts within mental health providers, to 
ensure reasonable adjustments are made for people accessing mainstream 
mental health services.  

Right treatment, right time, right place:  

 In line with NHS Long Term Plan investment over the coming years, we will 
improve the capacity of intensive, crisis and forensic community support 
services for CYP and adults. In 2019/20 work will focus on mapping and 
assessing current community provision, utilising the forthcoming national 
tool.  
 

 Modelling work in Q2/3 2019 to review the demands and costs associated 
with the provision of inpatient care. This will help explore the opportunities 

Page 119



 

104 
 

for more local, cost effective care for our population, when specialist 
inpatient care is required.   
 

 Understand the circumstances of CYP admissions to inpatient units and 
identify opportunities for early intervention, improvement and alternatives to 
hospital admissions particularly for autistic children.  
 

 Increase the uptake of Community Care (Education) and Treatment 
Reviews (C[E]TRs) and improve performance of repeat C[E]TRs in line with 
national targets, and evolving national policy.  
 

 Mapping work is underway to understand current provision of diagnostic 
services and support for CYP and families across our eight boroughs, to 
help improve diagnostic wait times for suspected autism. 
 

 In collaboration with local authority partners, progress bids for further capital 
funding to develop housing and alternatives to inpatient placements such as 
respite and crisis accommodation. 
 

 Continued work to ensure the systematic use of dynamic support registers 
by commissioners and local community teams as a tool for proactive crisis 
and contingency planning, including autistic adults where this is not already 
fully embedded.  

Supporting people to recover and stay well: 

 Accelerate the rollout of personal health budgets for people with learning 
disabilities.     

Enabling activities:  

 Map current local forums for people with autism, their families and carers, to 
identify opportunities for co-production.  
 

 Focus local engagement work on community provision for people with a 
learning disability and/or autism, and with CYP with learning disabilities 
and/or autism.   
 

 Refresh our local governance arrangements to support implementation.  
 

 Supporting the development of local NHS-led provider collaboratives that 
will manage specialist learning disability and autism services; this will start 
with the expansion of the current new models of care site in NW London 
from April 2020 to include CYP learning disability and autism inpatient care.  
 

 Work with NHS England to develop a Quality Framework, focusing on 
improving the quality of inpatient care across the NHS and independent 
sector.  
 

Page 120



 

105 
 

 Development and trial of a learning disabilities Whole Systems Integrated 
Care dashboard in Brent and Hillingdon with a view to rolling out across NW 
London. 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 By 2023/24, in NW London, no more than 48 adults with a learning disability 

and/or autism, (consistent with national targets of 30 per million of our 

population), will be cared for in an inpatient unit. For children and young 

people aged under 18 with a learning disability, autism or both, we are aiming 

for no more than 7 to be cared for in an inpatient facility (consistent with 

national targets of between 12 and 15 per million of our population). This will 

represent a significant achievement against our 2015 figures. 

 

 At least 75% of people aged over 14 years with a learning disability will have 

an annual health check and a health action plan. 

 

 Reduced length of stay in specialist inpatient care, when this type of care is 

needed.  

 

 Reduction in the use of restrictive practices. 

 

 Improved quality of life for people who can be supported to identify 

alternatives to overmedication. 

 

 Specialist care, closer to home.  

 

 Reduced diagnostic waiting times for CYP with suspected autism.  

 

 Better support for the most vulnerable CYP with autism and/or a learning 

disability, and their families.  

 

 Improved access to local mainstream health services. 

 

 Reduced morbidity and mortality – people living longer, healthier and happier 

lives. 

 

 Improved choice and control about how care and support is planned and 

delivered. 

 

 

Page 121



 

106 
 

 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 

 

  

Page 122



 

107 
 

 

Better care for major health conditions  

 

 Cardiovascular disease and stroke care 

 Diabetes 

 Respiratory disease 

 

6.4 Cardiovascular disease and stroke care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘We will improve the effectiveness of approaches such as the NHS Health Check, 

rapidly treating those identified with high-risk conditions. Where individuals are 

identified with high risk conditions, appropriate preventative treatments will be offered in 

a timely way. 

‘Expanding access to genetic testing for Familial Hypercholesterolemia (FH), which 

causes early heart attacks and affects at least 150,000 people in England, will enable us 

to diagnose and treat those at genetic risk of sudden cardiac death. Currently only 7% of 

those with FH have been identified, but we will aim to improve that to at least 25% in the 

next five years through the NHS genomics programme. 

‘Increasing the numbers of people at risk of heart attack and stroke who are treated for 

the cardiovascular high risk conditions; Atrial Fibrillation, high blood pressure and high 

cholesterol. This will be supported by the roll-out in 2020 of the CVDPREVENT audit. 

‘People with heart failure and heart valve disease will be better supported by multi-

disciplinary teams as part of primary care networks… A national network of community 

first responders and defibrillators will help save up to 4,000 lives each year by 2028… 

Cardiac rehabilitation … can save lives, improve quality of life and reduce hospital 

readmissions. 

‘Integrated Stroke Delivery Networks (ISDNs)… will ensure that all stroke units will, over 

the next five years, meet the NHS seven-day standards for stroke care and the National 

Clinical Guidelines for Stroke… and will support STPs and ICSs to reconfigure stroke 

services into specialist centres, improve the use of thrombolysis and further roll out 

mechanical thrombectomy.  

 

Page 123



 

108 
 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Access to up-to-date easy to understand information. 

 Fast access to a clinical diagnosis. 

 Good follow-up care and advice. 

 Self-help advice. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 The NW London cardiovascular disease (CVD) programme is being 

developed in partnership with the London Clinical Networks, the London CVD 

Prevention Partnership and specialised commissioning.   

 

 The aims of the programme are to improve care in four main project areas: 

CVD prevention, heart attack, stroke and heart failure.  

 

 Atrial Fibrillation (AF) and hypertension dashboards have been created to 

help better understand the needs of the local population. 

 

 Heart failure lounges at West Middlesex and Ealing hospitals have been 

established with the aim to reduce hospital admissions and prevent people 

from deteriorating. 

What do we plan to do next? 

We will know our population and target prevention opportunities 

The CVD prevention work stream will take learning from across the country and 

use evidence-based interventions to reduce the detection gap for AF, high blood 

pressure and high cholesterol. This includes understanding the population, and 

focusing on prevention and early management, so that patients receive optimal 

care in the community. 

We will detect and diagnose sooner and better  

CVD prevention seeks to improve early detection rates and management of high 

blood pressure, high cholesterol and irregular heart rhythm or rate (known as 

atrial fibrillation, or AF) in primary care.  

We will work together with voluntary sector partners, and community 

pharmacists. GP practices will also provide opportunities for the public to check 

on their health, through tests for high blood pressure and use of technology for 

early detection. We will also identify the number of people in NW London who are 

at risk of heart attack and stroke. This will be supported by the roll-out in 2020 of 

the CVDPREVENT audit. NHS England will help support genetic testing for high 

cholesterol as part of the NHS genomics programme. 

Page 124



 

109 
 

 

 

NW London has already made substantial progress to reduce the amount of time 

that it takes to diagnose AF but there is still more work to do. However, we need to 

identify and treat an additional 2,336 high-risk AF patients in order to meet our 

treatment targets.  

 

We will effectively manage people’s needs in the community 

We seek to offer community based rehabilitation for people with heart conditions. We 

will ensure hospital and community care teams work together to ensure people’s 

needs are managed as close to home as possible. 

We will manage people with complex needs more holistically 

Early treatment of heart attack can improve prognosis, reduce mortality and reduce 

the time people need to stay in hospital, which is better for patients. We will redesign 

the process for providing assessment and treatment, learning from South London 

who have completed this work. 

 We have gathered lots of learning from other NHS regions on their existing 

care plans for heart attacks and stroke. We will use this data and input from 

expert clinicians to reduce variation in care.  Support will also be provided by 

the London Cardiac and Stroke Clinical Network including pilot schemes in 

2020/21 and 2021/22 to increase access to echocardiography and improve 

the investigation of those with breathlessness and the early detection of heart 

failure and valve disease. From 2022/23 funding for wider roll out will be 

included in fair shares allocations to systems. 

Planned activities 
 

 Use technology for early detection of AF and to increase our uptake of 
cardiac rehabilitation referrals. 

 

 NHS England support for pilot schemes in 2020/21 and 2021/22 to increase 
access to echocardiography (ECGs) and improve the investigation of those 
with breathlessness and the early detection of heart failure and valve 
disease.  

 

 Identifying and treating people at risk of high blood pressure, AF and high 
cholesterol. (This will be done by using the whole systems dashboard to 
identify people moving from no risk to some risk to rising risk, so patients 
can be contacted and provided the right advice and treatment)   

 
 Redesign acute pathway for rapid diagnosis and early treatment of heart 

attacks.  

Page 125



 

110 
 

 

 Improve efficiency of stroke care by co-ordinating hospital stroke services 
with community-based stroke rehabilitation. 

 
 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 In general, reaching the detection and treatment targets for both AF and CVD 

will increase survival and improve population health. 

 The right support will prevent ill health and help people manage their own care 
where appropriate.  

 

 Finding the best ways to treat our residents who have any of the three high 
risk conditions (high blood pressure, high cholesterol and atrial fibrillation), will 
improve health and wellbeing. 
 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Reduction in strokes and heart attacks in NW London. 

 Better patient experience and patient reported outcomes for patients with 

CVD conditions in NW London. 

 Early detection, timely and optimal treatment for our patients.  

 Diagnose more people with AF and increase treatment rates. 

 Diagnose more people with hypertension and increase treatment rates. 

 Increase the diagnosis of Familial Hypercholesterolaemia.  

  

Page 126



 

111 
 

 

6.5 Diabetes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Better solutions, including digital, for diabetes self-care. 

 More health and wellbeing advice, and more information on available 

services.  

 More effective management of hospital admissions through better-informed 

referral.  

 Better training for doctors on mental health and diabetes. 

 Reduced risk of experiencing diabetes-related complications.  

 Joined up care for patients with diabetes-related complications.  

 Safe, integrated diabetes care at all levels, providing a positive patient 

experience. 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 
 
‘The NHS will be taking action to prevent type 2 diabetes and reduce the variation in the 
quality of diabetes care. For those people living with a diagnosis of type 1 or type 2 
diabetes the NHS will enhance its support offer. We will support people who are newly 
diagnosed to manage their own health by further expanding provision of structured 
education and digital self-management support tools, including expanding access 
to HeLP Diabetes, an online self-management tool for those with type 2 diabetes. 
  
‘We are now committing to fund a doubling of the NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme 
over the next five years, including a new digital option. We will … test an NHS 
programme supporting very low calorie diets for obese people with type 2 diabetes. The 
NHS will continue to take action on healthy NHS premises… We will ensure nutrition 
has a greater place in professional education training. 

‘The NHS will ensure that, in line with clinical guidelines, patients with type 1 diabetes 
benefit from life changing flash glucose monitors from April 2019, ending the variation 
patients in some parts of the country are facing. In addition, by 2020/21, all pregnant 
women with type 1 diabetes will be offered continuous glucose monitoring, helping to 
improve neonatal outcomes. 
 
‘Through continuing investment in supporting delivery across primary care we will 
enable more people to achieve the recommended diabetes treatment targets and 
drive down variation between CCGs and practices to minimise their risk of future 
complications. Further, for those who periodically need secondary care support we will 
ensure that all hospitals in future provide access to multidisciplinary footcare teams and 
diabetes inpatient specialist nursing teams to improve recovery and to reduce lengths of 
stay and future readmission rates.’ 

 

Page 127



 

112 
 

 Mental health and emotional support especially designed for diabetes 

patients. 

What progress has been made so far? 

 Overall reduction in people diagnosed with diabetes for the first time since 

2005, due to the Diabetes Prevention Programme. 

 

 Over 7,000 patients received self-management support for diabetes since 

April 2018. 

 

 Over 8000 patients benefited from the Diabetes Prevention Programme since 

April 2018. 

 

 Over 1500 healthcare professionals were trained in diabetes management 

programmes such as the Diabetes Ten-Point Training, Cambridge Diabetes 

Education Programme, PitSTOP and Pre-PitSTOP programmes.  

 

 The growth in hospital admissions for diabetes-related complications has 

been almost halved to 4.9% in 2018/19 from 8.3% in 2017-18.  

 

 Continued reduction in hospital activity due to diabetes related complications 

(for example, heart disease, foot complications, amputations, kidney-related 

and eye-related complications) 

What do we plan to do next? 

We will know our population and target prevention opportunities 

The ambition set out in the NW London Diabetes Integrated Specification aims to 

improve outcomes for people with diabetes by standardising diabetes care across 

primary, community and secondary care. This includes the following key 

performance indicators that will be monitored using our business intelligence tools 

like the Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) dashboard. 

 

We will detect and diagnose sooner and better  

  We will improve the detection of non-diabetic hyperglycaemia (NDH) and 

reduce the gap in prevalence between people at risk of diabetes (e.g. with 

NDH) and diabetes prevalence. 

 

 Increase the number of people referred to the National Diabetes Prevention 

Programme, with a target of 65% to have started or completed the 

Page 128



 

113 
 

programme by year 2024/25 of all people eligible to have started or 

completed. 

We will effectively manage people’s needs in the community 

 We will increase the number of people with diabetes (including newly 

diagnosed) attending structured education (as measured over a five year 

period). Target is for 45% of people with diabetes to have attended structured 

education by year 2024/25 compared to just under 10% currently. 

 

 We will increase the number of people with diabetes meeting all 9 key care 

processes (as defined by NICE including sugar control, eye checks, foot 

checks etc.) at their annual check with GPs. Target is for 69% to have 

achieved all 9 key care processes by the year 2024/25 compared to the 

current 60% currently. 

 

 We will increase the number of people with good control of diabetes (as 

measured using blood sugar, blood pressure, cholesterol) to 42% of people 

with diabetes achieving control by 2024/25, compared to 32% currently. This 

will have a significant impact on reducing the subsequent development of 

complications and unwanted hospital admissions. 

 

We will manage people with complex needs more holistically 

 We will reduce unwanted foot amputation rates in people with diabetes by 

50% following successful harmonisation of footcare pathways, early detection 

and early intervention across primary, community and secondary care. 

 

 We will reduce the number of hospital admissions due to diabetes related 

complications (including hyperglycaemia or hypoglycaemia) by 40% by 

2024/25, compared to the current baseline. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Diabetes apps  

“I was diagnosed with diabetes in 2001, it has been a gruelling journey but now I am 

smiling. When my GP spoke to me about these new digital apps, I was desperate to try 

anything. I logged on, got some equipment sent to me, changed my diet and my 

physical activity. I started going on lots of walks which I have grown to love. I 

recommend this to anyone who is living with diabetes, having difficulty losing weight 

and getting their HbA1c down because mine has reduced dramatically. I am delighted 

to have made a turnaround and want to keep it that way. I want to thank my doctor for 

putting me on this trial; my results have given me so much joy.” - Patient in 

Hammersmith and Fulham living with Type 2 diabetes 

 

 “The point is sometimes your  

 

Page 129



 

114 
 

Planned activities 
 

 Full launch of the KnowDiabetes online and telephone service to benefit 
over 300,000 people either with diabetes or at risk of diabetes through 
digital or remote access and face-to-face education and support. 
 

 Roll out the diabetes remission programme to reverse diabetes and 
corresponding risk of complications in over 10,000 patients. 
 

 Redesign the multidisciplinary foot care pathway redesign and launch the 
footcare dashboard to support patient level and population level monitoring 
- and ultimately reduce amputations through better data-sharing and more 
staff.  
 

 Implement NW London diabetes integrated service specification in a 
shadow form to enable providers across primary care, community care and 
secondary care to deliver care that is high quality and outcomes-based. 
 

 Use Whole System Integrated Care dashboards to monitor and benchmark 
diabetes dashboards. This will help monitor patients and provide early 
intervention. 
 

 Train healthcare professionals with the award winning ‘Diabetes Ten-Point’ 
training and Cambridge Diabetes Education programme. 
 

 Update and publish diabetes clinical guidelines for use by health and care 
professionals in managing patients. 

 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 More people with diabetes having access to face to face and digital/remote 

structured education to improve self-care and management of their diabetes. 

More than 25,000 people will do this through the KnowDiabetes service to 

improve their quality of life. 

 Increased numbers of staff trained through ‘Ten Point’ training which will 

reduce clinical errors in hospital and primary care settings. 

 

 Improvement in diabetes control in several thousand more people. This will be 

measured through the three treatment targets (blood sugar, blood pressure 

and cholesterol). This will have a significant positive impact on their health 

and wellbeing.  

 

 Continued reduction in hospital activity due to diabetes related complications 

(e.g. heart disease, foot complications (amputations), kidney related and eyes 

related).  

 

Page 130



 

115 
 

 Diabetes care is more standardised and integrated through the use of the 

integrated service specification for diabetes across providers in NW London. 

 

 Improved diabetes foot pathway and patients getting improved diabetes foot 

care to prevent amputations. 

 

 More patients receiving prevention support via the National Diabetes 

Prevention Programme, with a reduction in new diabetes diagnoses as a 

result of this. 

 

 More patients getting support to reverse their Type 2 diabetes, and using the 

NW London diabetes remission programme to see a sustained impact on their 

health and wellbeing.  

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 People with diabetes will have access to excellent on-going support at home 

and seamless high quality diabetes care across different care settings (e.g. 

GP, hospital and community). 

 There will be a reduction in unwarranted variation in health outcomes. 

 People will be better engaged and informed to make decisions about their 

own health. 

 Fewer people with diabetes will need hospital care, as their condition will be 

well managed. 

 Patients can have more confidence that a wide range of healthcare staff 

understand how to manage diabetes. 

 

  

Page 131



 

116 
 

6.6 Respiratory 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Access to up-to-date easy to understand information. 

 Fast access to a clinical diagnosis. 

 Good follow-up care and advice. 

 Self-help. 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

NW London already has some excellent primary, community and hospital support for 

people with respiratory conditions. For example, there are well developed community 

teams in the inner boroughs where patient care is joined up across local GP and 

community teams and hospital services. In other parts of NW London there are good 

rehabilitation facilities for patients. However the delivery of care and the experience 

of care for people with respiratory conditions is not the same across our region and 

there are opportunities to improve it. 

What do we plan to do next? 

We will know our population and target prevention opportunities 

 We will use our population level data to understand where those most at risk 

of developing respiratory conditions live so we can tailor preventative care to 

their needs. 

 

 We will use flu and pneumonia prevalence data to ensure those most at risk 

are offered vaccinations as soon as possible.  

We will detect and diagnose sooner and better 

 We will improve the diagnosis of COPD in particular, ensuring local 

communities have access to clinicians with recognised training and 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘The NHS will do more to detect and diagnose respiratory problems earlier. New models 

of providing rehabilitation to those with mild COPD, including digital tools, will be offered 

… We will increase the number of patients with COPD who are referred to pulmonary 

rehabilitation … We will do more to support those with respiratory disease to receive 

and use the right medication… Patients identified with community acquired pneumonia 

in emergency departments will be supported to be cared for safely out of hospital by 

receiving nurse-led support.’ 

Page 132



 

117 
 

experience in diagnosing respiratory conditions. By getting a more accurate 

diagnosis, we will ensure quicker access to the right care at the right time and 

enable more people to take control of their health while better able to 

influence it. 

We will effectively manage people’s needs in the community 

 We will improve our community care offer for people with respiratory 

conditions to stop them needing emergency hospital care. We will make our 

community pathways more consistent for everyone. 

 

 Our pharmacists will take a more significant role in supporting people with 

respiratory conditions, particularly reviewing people’s medicines and helping 

them make best use of their inhalers. 

 

 We will support more people to access pulmonary rehabilitation programmes 

through different methods, depending on what they feel most comfortable with 

– this could be face-to-face support or through an app.  

We will manage people with complex needs more holistically 

 Many people have multiple long term conditions and we will join up care better 

for them. For example, we will seek to offer joint pulmonary and cardiac 

rehabilitation for people who have respiratory and heart conditions. 

 

 When people with respiratory conditions are in a crisis, we will keep them in 

hospital for as little time as possible, aiming to give them the treatment they 

need in an ambulatory setting on the same day so they can go home. 

 

 For people at the end of their life, we will ensure they have a say in their care 

plan and their wishes are respected. We will make sure they and their families 

get the right support in the community. 

Planned activities 
 

 Create and use an asthma, COPD, pneumonia and flu dashboard to gain a 
better understanding of the needs of the population and support local 
clinicians to target their support to the right people. 
 

 Improve the training of clinicians in the community who diagnose respiratory 
conditions. 
 

 Support pharmacists in conducting medications reviews and helping people 
to optimise use of their inhalers. 

 

 

Page 133



 

118 
 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 More people able to enjoy daily life to the full without feeling breathless. 

 More people feeling comfortable and confident with their medications, and 

taking fewer medications to better effect and experiencing fewer side effects. 

 More people getting care closer to home. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 Fewer people with respiratory and exacerbations of respiratory conditions 

admitted to hospital in an emergency. 

 Fewer people developing flu or pneumonia and being admitted to hospital with 

these conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 134



 

119 
 

6.7 Research and innovation to drive future outcomes improvement 

Outcomes driven by our research and innovation work have contributed to the 

development of the previous chapters of this document. Examples include: digital 

access to primary care, use of apps in our prevention and improving outcomes work 

and use of the Whole Systems Integrated Care dashboards to drive behaviour 

change and improve early intervention in patient care. 

Research and innovation are key elements for the NHS to improve and deliver care 

for the next generation.  

NW London has a significant commitment to transformation through research and 

innovation and is home to one of the most advanced innovation systems in the 

country with: world leading research organisations, the largest single site academic 

campus at White City and NHS hospital trusts with academic clinicians and 

embedded research facilities. All these contribute to both national and international 

changes in policy, healthcare practice, and improved care for patients.  

Research 

Imperial College London (ICL) and the associated Academic Health Science Centre 
(AHSC) are the "engine room" for health research in the sector. As one of only six 
Department of Health & Social Care-designated AHSCs in England, the Imperial 
College AHSC brings excellence in research and discovery to NW London.  
 
We also work with the Institute of Cancer and NHS providers to provide health 
benefits for patients. 
 
The AHSC is focussed on developing and evaluating new approaches to reduce the 
burden of disease; prevention, detection & diagnosis and better, precision treatments 
for cancer, infection, cardiovascular, respiratory, metabolic and brain disease. 
 
The sector has all of the infrastructure necessary to take promising research out of 
the laboratory into the clinic, from proof-of-concept patient studies through to 
multicentre evaluative clinical trials.  
 
AHSC’s priority programme in health informatics includes linkage with whole 
systems integrated care (WSIC), in association with Imperial College Health 
Partners. In addition, expertise in artificial intelligence research are being applied to 
healthcare challenges around clinical decision making, diagnostics and population 
health analytics across the AHSC partners.  
 
Similarly as NW London moves towards an integrated care system, the AHSC’s 
focus on prevention and early detection of disease will become increasingly relevant. 
Supporting this ambition, the new Imperial vision for its School of Public Health 
includes a renewed and greater focus on interventional studies, child and community 
health.  
 

Page 135



 

120 
 

The AHSC will also support new clinical alignment initiatives in the sector. Working 
with Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust and Chelsea and Westminster NHS 
Foundation Trust, it is already a partner in the new West London Children’s initiative 
and will ensure that the clinical academic model is embedded in this new service 
offering from the outset. Similarly there is also opportunity to align promising 
research technologies developed at Imperial and across the AHSC with the sector’s 
solutions for radiology, pathology and genomics. 
 

Proof of implementation  

The NW London Applied Research Collaboration (ARC) will support implementation 

of research into practice, making tangible improvements for patients, the public and 

to health and care services. The ARC partnership in NW London brings together 

universities, NHS organisations, social care services, leading academics, innovators, 

and local authorities. The investment from the National Institute for Health Research 

will drive ground-breaking new projects that will address the increasing demands on 

the NHS and give patients greater independence and choice about how they 

manage their healthcare.  

Our aim is to improve health in NW London through maximising the effectiveness of 

health improvement in areas such as prevention, early detection of disease, 

management of acute and long-term conditions, reducing unwarranted variation in 

care, and thereby achieving more equitable health outcomes. There will be a strong 

focus on implementation of evidence-based practices and policies, working 

collaboratively with our member organisations, patients and the public, and with 

community organisations. 

Across NW London we will deliver high-quality, evidence-based health and social 

care services, and a greater proportion of services in community settings. We will 

make use of the exceptional clinical, public health, NHS management and academic 

capabilities in the sector to develop a system that allows innovations to be 

developed, adopted and evaluated rapidly. NHS efficiency will be improved and 

resources used more optimally by cutting duplication through the integration of 

services. Achieving these aims is critical to ensuring the UK has a sustainable NHS 

and internationally leading health outcomes. 

Through our networks we are well-positioned to contribute advancements in these 

areas by bringing world-leading academics in public health, primary care, mental 

health, biomedical science and digital technology together with a strong partnership 

of health and care providers, patients and the public. We will continue to make 

significant impacts in care quality, patient outcomes and patient experience; 

addressing areas of significant population need. There will be a sustained focus on 

prevention and health improvement, as well as on mental health and social care, in 

our work. We will embed health economic analysis of interventions across all 

themes. To do so, we will conduct feasibility assessment of economic data 

Page 136



 

121 
 

collection; estimate return on investment from interventions; and use simulation 

modelling to assess long-term cost effectiveness of programmes. 

Adoption and spread  

NW London recognised the need for dedicated support to utilise best practice, new 

technology and service models to transform healthcare some years back. Imperial 

College Health Partners (ICHP) was created and is today working on behalf of all 

NW London healthcare organisations to understand and define their most pressing 

issues, identify existing or emerging solutions backed by evidence, and support the 

sector to implement these solutions.  

ICHP is also a dedicated Academic Health Science Network (AHSN), helping the 

sector implement seven national innovation programmes, supporting the uptake of 

high priority solutions identified by the Accelerated Access Collaborative (AAC) as 

well as the Innovation Technology Payment schemes.  

Enabling patients to benefit from better quality care, proactive care management and 

breakthrough discoveries is key to care in NW London. A new Digital Innovation Hub 

(DIH), is now hosted in NW London; this hub links the Discover patient register and 

health data from the Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) Dashboards.  

The digital hub 

Through the safe and secure curation of patient information and with the appropriate 

and agreed access methods, the hub will aim to provide leading researchers, 

innovators and industry access to de-identified linked patient information in near to 

real time to enable them to make discoveries that have not been possible before 

now, creating cutting edge developments in disease treatment and prevention.   

The hub is also promoting a consent to contact register which aims to link gained 

consent to participate in future research to a medical record in WSIC which will 

support feasibility for clinical trials and research and recruitment supporting the 

LTP’s ambition to improve patient participation in research.  

Genomics  

In NW London there are two Genomic Medicine Centres (GMC). The main centre is 

hosted by Imperial, with Northwick Park and Hillingdon Hospitals serviced through 

the Kennedy-Galton Centre at Northwick Park. 

These services form the NW London Genomic Laboratory Hub (GLH) which is 

hosted by Great Ormond Street Hospital. The consolidation of these services 

through the GLH allows for the same standards and protocols for genomic testing to 

be offered for the population of NW London. 

  

Page 137



 

122 
 

7.0  Enablers 

7.1 Workforce 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Recruitment is a problem, and outsourcing to agency staff reduces continuity 

of care. 

 Staff can appear overworked and rushed. 

 Poor levels of staffing. 

 Reluctant to call services for help, as people know they are busy. 

 Pharmacists need more training and knowledge. 

 More mental health training and awareness across primary care. 

 Training for carers. 

 Better understanding and use of voluntary organisations.  

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

The NW London Workforce Board has been working collaboratively to develop and 

implement our workforce strategy, which looks at our workforce challenges, 

vacancies and agency worker use and includes plans to address these. 

Workforce planning and identifying future need has so far: 

 Improved staff retention by an average of 2%  

 Reduced agency spend by £55m and shifted the balance from agency to bank 

staff in the last two years.  

 Developed a training academy at Central London Community Trust to support 

skills development and retention. 

 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan says: 
 
‘As a service, we will now take sustained and concerted action to: ensure we have 

enough people, with the right skills and experience, so that staff have the time they 

need to care for patients well; ensure our people have rewarding jobs, work in a positive 

culture, with opportunities to develop their skills and use state of the art equipment, and 

have support to manage the complex and often stressful nature of delivering 

healthcare; strengthen and support good, compassionate and diverse leadership at all 

levels –managerial and clinical – to meet the complex practical, financial and cultural 

challenges a successful workforce plan and Long Term Plan will demand.’  

 

Page 138



 

123 
 

Recruitment and retention 

 Recruitment to new roles including: nursing associates, physicians 

associates, and clinical pharmacists in primary care.  

 Successful roll out of the NHS England’s International GP programme.  

 Trust–driven and Capital Nurse initiatives to improve nursing recruitment. 

 Introduced a “grow your own” plan to promote health careers in NW London 

connecting health and social care college students to NHS careers. 

 Established innovative local schemes to support retention in primary care; 

GPs working in areas of high deprivation, GP development programmes, 

preceptorship and a legacy, mentorship and supervision scheme for nurses. 

 The radiography career framework now provides career pathways for 

radiographers. 

Workforce transformation and new ways of working 

 Supported Primary Care Networks (PCNs) with change management. 

 Training in care homes to support reduction in hospital admissions and 

improved quality of end of life. 

 Information and training for carers. 

 Provided health coaching training to inform and empower patients to self-care 

and provide carers with skills in caring and emotional resilience. 

 Implemented ‘Make Every Contact Count’ to encourage changes in behaviour 

that have a positive effect on everyone’s health and wellbeing. Over 2500 

people trained and 16 trainers to ensure sustainability. 

 Published with trade unions and West London NHS Trust a fair and safe shift 

allocation charter, which we monitor through electronic rostering. 

Talent, leadership and organisational development 

 Established the NW London Change Academy programme to support health 

and social care staff to develop and apply practical skills and knowledge to 

deliver place-based, integrated care. 

 Implemented leadership and change management programmes to support 

multidisciplinary working across health and care. 

 Delivered transformation programmes to increase capacity and capability to 

lead and accelerate change, commission for outcomes and value, and deliver 

sustainable solutions.  

 

Volunteering 

 Developed use of volunteers to improve and enhance the patient experience, 

complementing the work of employed staff across our trusts and representing 

the diversity of the communities we serve. 

Page 139



 

124 
 

What do we plan to do next? 

We are committed to changing the shape of health and care services by shifting the 

centre of care away from hospital into local communities, supporting people to take 

control of their own health and wellbeing. This will also contribute to returning to 

financial balance through transforming care pathways away from high cost hospital 

settings into the community and developing extended roles to offer care and 

treatment from different health professionals, more widely than from hospital 

consultants and GPs alone. We will have effective workforce plans that transform 

approaches to use of current roles, establish and embed new roles and upskill the 

workforce to work in this new way. Training and education for non-hospital staff will 

be delivered through training hubs enabling a system wide approach to staff training 

and development. This will provide parity with hospitals and enable new roles, or 

dual roles, and enable extension of existing modes of delivery to be developed, 

including work-based learning opportunities. 

Our workforce plan 

NW London workforce plans support the move to integrated care while working 

within planned budgets. The workforce is planned to increase by 2% over the next 

five years with the following components: 

 The workforces for community, mental health trusts and primary care are 
planned to increase as we focus on moving health care out of hospital, 
alongside enhanced mental health provision. 
 

 The workforce of acute and specialist trusts will reduce as we focus on 

treating people in the community where it is safe to do so; and, reducing the 

length of time people stay in hospital. 

 

 GP numbers are planned to rise, so that we meet the current national average 
GP: Patient ratio. 
 

 Nursing numbers are planned to increase slightly.  
 

 General practice nursing numbers are expected to stabilise over the next five 
years.  
 

 Plans to recruit and retain nurses will be supported by increases in 
multidisciplinary qualified staff delivering direct patient care in non-acute 
settings. There is planned recruitment of over 500 additional roles in primary 
and community care including: therapists, clinical pharmacists, physician's 
associates, and nursing associates. London Ambulance Service qualified 
ambulance staff is also planned to increase. 
 

 The ambition is to ensure reductions in management and support staff so that 

focus can be given to front-line care.  

Page 140



 

125 
 

Planned activities 
 
Make the NHS the best place to work 
 

 Develop a wellbeing of workforce strategy for staff. 

 Consolidate occupational health provision to improve access and quality of 
service provided to staff. 

 Create flexible, portable and attractive career opportunities for GP trainees 
on qualifying, including portfolio careers and fellowships through the SPIN 
programme. 

 
Improve leadership culture 
 

 Develop a system-wide leadership and organisational delivery (OD) 
programme for system leaders and lead clinicians to support the 
organisational challenges in developing an Integrated Care System (ICS). 

 'Compassionate and inclusive' leadership for Primary Care Network Clinical 
Directors Leadership and OD Programme.  

 Develop ‘Talent Board’ programmes to improve diversity of senior leaders 
impacting on race and disability equality standards. 

 Embed values and behaviours frameworks, focusing on recruitment, 
appraisals, leadership, management and behaviours development and 
measuring impact equality, diversity and inclusion. 

 Continue to roll-out care home training and information for carers 
 
Deliver a holistic approach to workforce transformation and workforce 
growth  
 

 ‘Grow Your Own’ programme to develop NW London as a place to work for 
the local population, working with colleges to increase access and 
applications to health and care careers and apprenticeships. 
  

 Implement and embed new roles and apprenticeship programmes including: 
maternity support worker, physicians associate, leadership and 
management. 
 

 Develop International mental health nurse recruitment strategy and plan 
and extend international GP recruitment programme. 
 

 Extend agency worker plan to reduce dependence on and cost of agency 
workers.  
 

 Utilise staff passports to enable flexible movement of staff and quicker 
transfer between roles focussing on medical workforce and locums, in the 
first instance. 
 

 Collaborate with higher education providers to improve delivery of 
undergraduate and postgraduate qualifications including the ‘Advanced 
Clinical Practice’ qualification. 

Page 141



 

126 
 

 
Change the workforce operating model 
 

 Pool resources and funding, where possible to deliver workforce 
development across provider organisations, aligned to system needs. 

 Upscale nursing recruitment and retention initiative and implement nursing 
associate roles to increase capability to support the nursing workforce, 
using apprenticeships and direct entry.   

 Increase nursing placement capacity in areas with greatest nursing 
shortages. 

 Ensure equitable distribution of medical training posts linked to quality of 
training and service activity. 

 Further roll-out of successful local retention initiatives to grow the primary 
care workforce.  

 Develop and implement workforce plan for community pathways to improve 
nursing and wider staffing group utilisation within out of hospital settings 
and care aligned to Integrated Care Systems.  

 
Volunteering 
 

 Review and explore STP/ICS integrated volunteering approaches to 
optimise the use of volunteers to improve and enhance the patient 
experience, providing volunteers the opportunity to view health care as a 
career, alongside work experience programmes. 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

By increasing training, employment and retention of healthcare professionals and by 

developing new roles and professional capabilities, local people can: 

 Access professionals with the right mix of skills and expertise to deliver safe 

and high quality care in the right way, at the right time and in the right place. 

 Know that staff are well supported and have the time and resources they 

need to care for and support them. 

 Have services locally that are commissioned and provided by organisations 

with the values and positive culture to put the patient first in everything they 

do. 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 The workforce has increased resilience, health and wellbeing – as demonstrated 

through staff /stakeholder surveys. 

 Staff development needs are met, with monitoring of agreed action plans, 

improvements in partner engagement, and achievement of ICS workforce 

milestones. 

 Values and behaviours are embedded throughout organisations. 

 Feedback on health and wellbeing initiatives are positive. 

Page 142



 

127 
 

 Performance systems are embedded and achieve high level of engagement. 

 Clinical and staff engagement increases. 

 A system wide approach to workforce development is in place.  

 Recruitment and retention rates increase, as well as local recruitment rates.  

 Retention of GPs increases with positive feedback on retention initiatives. 

The investment in introducing the nursing associate role and introducing high quality 

place-based placements for all undergraduate nurses improves recruitment and 

retention in nursing and support to nursing roles. 

We will measure improvement including: 

 Reduction in vacancy rate, turnover and bank and agency spend. 

 Increased stability and retention.  

 Improved experience and retention of all newly qualified staff. 

 Increased number of apprentices and utilisation of apprenticeship levy. 

 Increased number of new roles introduced. 

 Improved staff engagement and stability. 

 Increases in how encouraged and supported staff feel. 

 Increased engagement.   

 Increased number and diversity of participants attending leadership 
programmes.  

 Improved appraisal quality measures in staff survey. 

 Increased number of staff accessing learning.   

 Increase number of internal promotions. 

 Reductions in gender pay gap. 

 Increases in BME and female representation at senior levels.  

 Reduction in sickness and absence. 
 

 

  

Page 143



 

128 
 

7.2 Digital – Delivering digitally enabled care across the NHS 

 

In NW London we have a strong focus on digital solutions to support and improve 

services and patient care.  This chapter should be read in conjunction with all other 

chapters in this plan to see the full digital transformation picture for NW London. This 

chapter focusses on digital priorities not yet discussed in previous chapters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) sets out how the NHS will move to a new 21st 
century service model, and this is set out through the implementation of five major 
practical changes: 
  

 Boosting ‘out-of-hospital’ care and dissolving the historic divide between 
primary and community health services.  
 Redesigning emergency hospital services.  
 Giving people more control over their own health and more personalised care 
when they need it.  
 Digitally-enabling primary and outpatient care into the mainstream.  
 Increasing the focus on population health and local delivery through new 
Integrated Care Systems (ICSs).  

  
The LTP reiterates the need for investment in digital programmes, while emphasising 

that the current arrangements do not work well for either patients and citizens or 

health and care professionals, since neither has access to all the information they 

need at the point of care. NW London is using the recent NHS England London work 

on a Strategic Development Investment Framework, in order to develop a 

comprehensive digital strategy and prioritised investment plan. This will set out how 

we will address the specific digital sections of the LTP and how digital technology will 

enable and underpin our wider transformation plans over the next five years. NWL is 

also working with the other STPs across London to align strategies and deliverables 

as well as working on a number of joint programmes to achieve consistency for 

patients and deliver wider benefits and economies of scale.  

  

The NHS Long Term Plan 

‘The NHS is made up of hundreds of separate but linked organisations, and the burden 
of managing complex interactions and data flows between trusts, systems and 
individuals too often falls on patients and digital services. 

‘In ten years’ time, we expect the existing model of care to look markedly different…. 
with improved NHS IT systems and in developing new technology. We will make sure 
staff have the technology they need to do their jobs, and our systems can talk to each 
other and share vital information to support the delivery of care.’ 

 

Page 144



 

129 
 

  

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Digital information is useful and accessible for most people, but not for all. 

 Lack of 21st Century-standard digital systems in the NHS. 

 Potential loss of face to face relationships with their clinicians. 

 The inability of many professionals across different services to see a patient’s 
medical records, meaning that people have to repeat their medical history 
many times. ‘Fragmented knowledge is not good for care!’ 

 Not everyone is sure of the benefits of digital services and do not see them as 
a priority until unwell or needed urgently. Having to access digital services at 
those times can then be seen as an unnecessary barrier or burden. 

 Privacy, security and confidentiality issues. 

 GDPR compliance and the ability to opt-out. 
 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

 Two of our hospitals are part of the ‘NHS Global Digital Exemplar’ 

programme. Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust has successfully 

implemented a new comprehensive electronic patient record system, with 

Chelsea & Westminster NHS Foundation Trust in the process of implementing 

the same system.  These Trusts have started to realise the long-term benefits 

of integrated digital patient records in terms of quality, safety and efficiency of 

hospital care. 

 

 However, London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust (LNWUHT) 

and The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (THH) have suffered from 

a historical lack of investment in technology. Both hospitals operate on a 

Page 145



 

130 
 

mixture of digital clinical systems and paper (e.g. medication prescribing and 

administration are still paper-based).  Together these hospitals serve half of 

our boroughs in NW London, and 50% of our patients. These trusts have 

appointed a new Chief Information Officer who will drive forward the 

procurement of a digital care record; however, this is dependent on funding 

from NHS England and the Trusts, which has yet to be confirmed.  The 

projected cost over 10 years is £43m against expected benefits of £125m.  

Until this project is funded, it will not be easily possible to realise shared care 

records or support service transformation through integrated care in the four 

boroughs of Hillingdon, Brent, Harrow and Ealing. 

 

 Our local community and mental health trusts all have digital clinical systems 

that are reasonably mature, though in some boroughs they use different 

systems from primary care, so records cannot currently be shared with GPs.  

 

 In primary care, GP practices are largely paperless through the use of digital 

systems (SystmOne in five CCGs, EMIS Web in three CCGs).  Within each 

CCG, sharing between practices supports evening and weekend services 

across practices (extended access hub services), for which direct 

appointment bookings can be made by NHS 111.  The GP systems have 

additional capability to support sharing across practices as part of Primary 

Care Networks, although further funding is required for full implementation.  

Implementation of electronic patient triage and online consultations is under 

way to meet the “Digital First” target of the NHS Long Term Plan. 

 

 NW London has successfully developed a comprehensive patient database – 

Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC) to collect annonymised information 

about people’s healthcare and social care. This informs the dashboards and 

analytical tools to enable doctors to identify patients who may be at risk and 

require additional help, and to support managers to allocate the right 

resources. 

 

This information is already critical to the management of the emerging 

Integrated Care Partnerships and will be essential for Primary Care Networks.  

WSIC is also a platform to share de-identified data for research purposes, 

subject to appropriate Information Governance, as part of national ‘Digital 

Innovation Hub’ intentions and is an exemplar for population health 

management within the ‘One London’ Local Health and Care Exemplar 

(LHCRE) programme.  

 

 NW London is in the process of implementing a Health & Care Information 

Exchange (HCIE), led by Imperial as a Global Digital Exemplar and part of the 

‘One London’ LHCRE programme.  This will share information when needed 

Page 146



 

131 
 

between health and care professionals, and with patients, their families and 

carers (subject to strict confidentiality rules).  This capability is essential for 

making GP patient data securely available in other settings, sharing data with 

other partnership areas (15% of our acute activity is performed by trusts 

outside NW London), and enabling the transformation of out of hospital care 

and virtual outpatients.  Initial efforts are concentrating on provisioning the 

viewing of shared records between health care environments using CERNER 

HIE and subsequently on supporting clinical workflows using the One London 

Discovery architecture.  

 

 Our ‘digital citizen’ engagement programme has over 100 patient digital 

ambassadors, who support patients with digital care services like ‘Health Help 

Now’ app (downloaded by over 100,000 people) and the patient portal (the 

‘Care Information Exchange’) in use by over 30,000 patient users. These are 

expected to be extended further through the ‘One London’ programme – 

although again dependent on further funding to ensure continuity. 

 

 Development of ‘Cassius’ - a new cyber-secure shared network that will 
support all of our 390 GP practices, using Microsoft Cloud technology to 
provide one network for all practices rather than having individual network 
servers in each practice. This will help protect data and NHS IT systems from 
cyber attack and make it easier for staff to work across many different sites.  
 

 NW London has established an advanced information governance framework 

to support the sharing of patient records where required for people’s care, 

while protecting confidentiality.   

What do we plan to do next? 

Subject to the availability of funding, we plan to: 

 Continue the roll out of Cerner electronic patient records at the two trusts 

where this has been initiated. 

 Procure and implement a new electronic patient record system in LNWUHT 

and THH. 

 Integrate community and mental health systems with the Health and Care 

Information Exchange, to support integrated care and patient engagement. 

 Extend primary care systems to support PCNs and integrate with the Health 

and Care Information Exchange. 

 Continue to invest in Whole Systems Integrated Care (WSIC), to enable 

doctors to have a holistic view of patients’ health and care, and to support 

development of PCNs. 

 Build a ‘Digital Innovation Hub’ in NWL capitalising on the success of WSIC 

and enabling research use of anonymised data. 

 

Page 147



 

132 
 

 Continue to invest in the Health and Care Information Exchange, extending it 

to other care organisations, linking it to other London footprints as part of ‘One 

London’, promoting it to further patients, and exploiting it to deliver better and 

more efficient care.  This will include sharing social care information, subject 

to strict confidentiality rules and respecting patients’ wishes about whether to 

share. 

 Continue to engage with NW London citizens about the use of digital 

technologies and further the use of digital technologies. 

 Continue to develop the NW London Information Governance framework. 

 

Planned activities 
 
Current plans are uncertain given the local System Financial Recovery Plan and 
consequent constraints on funding, and awaiting announcements from NHSX 
regarding its capital programmes (Health System Led Investment – HSLI, 
Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration – EPMA, Global Digital 
Exemplar - GDE, and Estates and Technology Transformation Fund – ETTF). 
 
Internal system programmes in providers, such as Cerner within Imperial and 
Chelsea & Westminster, will continue. However, our wider digital programme 
awaits confirmation of future funding before its extension can be secured. 
 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 People will have easier access to information about services, and understand 

their health and care better, through access to their records and online advice 

about their conditions, enabling them to take more responsibility for their 

health and care and improving outcomes. 

 Care professionals will be able to look after people better because they will 

have more information about their health and care in other settings. 

 People will know that the information held about them is accurate and secure, 

and has been shared with those professionals who need it, so that they do not 

have to repeat their story, and so that care can be co-ordinated efficiently. 

 People’s treatment and care services will be targeted to meet their own 

needs, and the needs of the wider community they live in. 

 The care system as a whole will run more efficiently and deliver higher quality, 

which should bring better outcomes across the population.  

 

 

Page 148



 

133 
 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 The hospitals of LNWUHT and THH will have digital systems to support 

patient care, removing the reliance on paper (e.g. for prescribing and 

medicines administration). 

 More people have access to and use of online health and care records, 

measured by the numbers of users of the Health & Care Information 

Exchange and other patient portals such as GP Patient Online. 

 Measures of the numbers of times health and care records are shared by 

professionals across partner organisations. 

 People have better tools to help manage their heath and care, measured by 

increased uptake of online patient services and apps. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 149



 

134 
 

7.3 Estates 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What do we know people are concerned about? 

 Accessibility 

 Premises that fit the need for modern health and care services 

 Clean and energy-efficient premises, that do not waste resources or harm the 

environment 

What progress has been made as a system so far? 

NHS England has graded our current estates strategy as ‘strong’, one of only a 

limited number in the country to achieve this top rating. The strategy captures our 

response to the clinical strategy, population need, demand and population growth.  

We have also: 

 Developed a detailed delivery plan, bringing together all priority projects into a 

single plan. 

 Developed a capital investment plan across acute, community and primary 

care estate. 

 Established an effective and collaborative Strategic Estates Committee with 

representatives from commissioners, providers and key partners. 

 Aligned with ‘One Public Estate’ – Partnership between Cabinet Office, 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, CCGs, and NHS 

Property Services (PS), working to support collaborative property-led projects 

in local areas. 

 Developed Kingswood Hospital - £4.190m invested to develop additional beds 

for people with learning difficulties/autistic spectrum disorders. 

 

NHS Long Term Plan says: 

‘The NHS will improve the way it uses its land, buildings and equipment. This will mean 
we improve quality and productivity, energy efficiency and dispose of unnecessary land 
to enable reinvestment while supporting the government’s target to build new homes for 
NHS staff. We will work with all providers to reduce the amount of non-clinical space by 
a further 2%. By 2020, we aim to reduce the NHS’ carbon footprint by a third from 2007 
levels.  

‘We will also improve the way we manage our estate to help to reduce emissions and to 
improve air quality.’ 

 

Page 150



 

135 
 

What do we plan to do next? 

 Deliver local services hubs to support the shift of services from a hospital 

setting to a community-based location. 

 

 Align estates and technology strategies to maximise the potential impact of 

technology to transform service delivery and potential efficiencies in designing 

new healthcare accommodation. 

 

 We will optimise property costs by maximising use of existing space and using 

technology to reduce physical infrastructure required for service delivery. 

 

 Continuing to identify opportunities for consolidation and co-location of 

primary care services to maximise the potential availability of NHS England’s 

Estates Technology Transformation Fund to improve services. 

 

 We have identified key areas for investment (utilising local SSDPs and estate 

strategies) to ensure future primary care premises are fit for purpose to 

support delivery of high quality primary care. 

 

 Work with Trusts to ensure unoccupied floor space does not exceed 2.5 per 

cent; floor space used for non-clinical purposes should not exceed 35 per 

cent. 

Successful capital schemes 

 St Mary’s Hospital - £1.865m awarded for the development of an 

Endovascular Hybrid Theatre. This will facilitate integration of fixed imaging 

equipment into an operating theatre to enable safer surgery and intervention. 

 

 Park Royal Mental Health Wards - £2.35m awarded to reconfigure wards to 

deliver single sex accommodation on two adult in-patient wards. 

 

Planned activities 
 

 Development of an estates delivery plan. 
 

 Evaluate and map current health estate, including tenure, current void and 
under-utilisation across the health system. Develop strategies to reduce the 
void and improve efficiency of estate usage. 

 

 Utilisation and optimisation studies will continue to be used to review the 
performance of existing estate and buildings. This will inform the design and 

Page 151



 

136 
 

development of new efficient and technologically advanced buildings and 
facilities. 

 

 One public estate – to work closely with public sector partners to optimise 
joint opportunities for estate rationalisation, utilise creative investment that 
delivers transformational change, generate efficiencies (capital receipts and 
reduced running costs) and support economic growth (homes and jobs). 

 

 Work effectively with local authority planning teams to develop Local Plans, 
IDP and Neighbourhood plans that convey the health requirements and 
estate renewal to secure funding (s106 or Community Infrastructure Levy) 
from housing developers. 

 

 Develop outline and full business cases that support strategic investment 
for acute, community and primary care transformation, including reviewing 
revenue implications and cost pressures. 

 

 

What difference will this make to people in NW London? 

 Hubs will offer more services in one place, closer to home. 

 Improved and better value services. 

 Reduced the cost of our estate so that money can be put back into patient 

services. 

 Improved the quality of existing buildings. 

 

How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 More patients can access services at the right time, at the right location and to 

be seen by the right person. 

 Patients benefit from modernised and appropriate primary care 

accommodation. 

 Capacity for primary care is better aligned to the recent and forecast 

increases in our population. 

 Optimised use of the health estate. 

 Void space costs are reduced. 

 

 

  

Page 152



 

137 
 

7.4 Finance 

Currently the services we provide cost more than the resources allocated to us and 

we need to address this. In NW London as at April 2019 we collectively have an 

underlying NHS deficit of £324million across our clinical commissioning groups and 

NHS service providers, with financial challenges also present for our local authorities.  

The £324m represents 6.5% of the total NHS resources in NW London. 

Building a Financially Sustainable System 

The North West London system therefore faces difficult choices as we work to ensure 

we are able to continue to deliver world-class care and realise the ambition of London 

being the healthiest global city within the financial and staffing resources available to 

us. We have to review each one of the Long Term Plan commitments and assess how 

we are able to deliver it and over what time scale and importantly we have to leverage 

the synergy of working as a system. Using the experience and knowledge of our 

clinicians working together across organisations to standardise and consolidate our 

services so that all our residents are provided equal opportunity to access high quality 

care when they need it. 

To provide more financially sustainable services we are working together to deliver 3 

key aims:  

 ensuring we maximise the amount of money available to spend on direct 

care delivery through reducing our back office, administration and supplies 

costs, 

 maximising value and delivering our services as cost effectively as 

possible through standardising our approaches, enabling our staff to operate 

at the top of their license 

 developing more proactive and preventative care thereby managing demand 

for high-cost hospital services 

 

Within these broad areas we will specifically focus on the following areas as we 

work to reduce the gap in our system finances. We believe that these give us the 

greatest opportunity to reduce expenditure, improve value and increase the quality 

of care our residents receive.  Our approach to these drives our transformation 

focus and is embedded within our integrated programme areas (as previously 

described). 

 

Maximising expenditure available for direct care  

 Reducing our back office costs and developing more shared services 

 Moving to the top quartile for procurement 

 Managing the cost of our medicines 

 Assessing and reducing our programme costs 

 Reducing the cost of our estates and maximising the digital opportunity to drive 

automation and less intensive care models 

Page 153



 

138 
 

 Working as a single CCG  to reduce duplication and fragmented commissioning 

 

Maximising cost effectiveness of services 

 Developing consistent and standardised pathways within the community and 

through our acute providers 

 Enabling our staff to work at the top of their license, introducing new roles and 

standardising roles 

 Reducing the number of people staying in hospital for a very long time  

 Focussing on how we use our drug budgets 

 Using our clinical expertise and tools such as the GOLD diagnostic to identify 

services that can be provided across providers 

 

Managing demand 

 Support to GPs and consistent referral arrangements 

 Working with our new primary care networks and integrated care partnership to 

drive this consistent and proactive approach 

 Developing alternatives to A&E so patients and professionals feel confident 

being cared for outside of hospital 

 Developing a more proactive approach to managing long term conditions 

 Better detection of cancer 

 

How will we involve local people and organisations? 

We will be talking to local authorities, local residents and other stakeholders as our 

plans for the next few years take shape. Some elements of our plan may require 

specific public engagement plans and we will work with patients, the public and all 

our stakeholders to get their input and build consensus around the best ways 

forward.  

  

Page 154



 

139 
 

 

8.0  Glossary 

Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) Created by NHS England to work with 

local health and care systems to select, encourage, develop and deliver innovative 

solutions that improve patient care and aid economic growth across our region. 

Better Care Fund (BCF) A local single pooled budget to incentivise the NHS and 

local government to work more closely together around people, placing their 

wellbeing as the focus of health and care services, and shifting resources into social 

care and community services for the benefit of the people, communities and health 

and care systems. 

Care Programme Approach (CPA) The Care Programme Approach is a national 

framework for mental health services assessment, care planning, review, care co-

ordination, and service user and carer involvement focused on recovery. 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Regulates health and care services in England 

and ensures these services provide people with safe, effective, compassionate, high-

quality care. 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Clinically led statutory NHS body 

responsible for the planning and commissioning of health care services for their local 

area. They plan, commission and monitor services. Commissioning of health 

services can take place at the local level by CCGs, or at a nation-wide level by NHS 

England. Local authorities also commission social care. 

Continuing Health Care (CHC) NHS funding that meets the health and social care 

needs of people with the most complex health needs. 

Co-production Is when an individual influences the support and services received, 

or when groups of people get together to influence the way that services are 

designed, commissioned and delivered. Fundamentally, co-production recognises 

that people who use services (and their families) have knowledge and experience 

that can be used to improve services. The Social Care Institute for Excellence 

describes co-production as “people who use services and carers working in equal 

partnerships with professionals toward shared goals.” 

Diabetes remission – Patients with type 2 diabetes can reduce their blood sugar 

levels weight and cholesterol through healthy life style choices. Doing this can mean 

the patient no longer has diabetes symptoms, called remission.  

Diabetes Ten-Point Training A simple ten point guide for clinicians to use to help 

patients with diabetes. 

Digital Accelerator An NHS England programme to support embedding of new 

technology to enhance and improve NHS services. 

Page 155



 

140 
 

 

Digital First Providing digital alternatives to accessing GP appointments, this 

includes the use of online forms, apps and other digital technology. 

Discover The ‘Discover health research register’ was launched in 2018. Discover is 

a register of adults 18 and over living in NW London who are interested in health 

research and want to find out more about health research opportunities. The register 

is for both healthy people and also those with a medical condition. 

Elective care Treatment that is scheduled in advance as it does not involve a 

medical emergency. 

Enabler A person or system that makes something possible. In the NHS enablers 

are the systems and processes that help achieve change and improvement. These 

include IT, estates, workforce and communication and engagement teams. 

End of life care Support for people who are in the last months or year of their life.  

Engagement Is a term commonly associated with many forms of patient, service 

user or public involvement. It describes processes, both formal and informal, through 

which commissioners may invite local communities to become involved in discussion 

about the shape of their local services. 

Equality Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) A process designed to ensure that a 

policy, project or scheme does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or 

vulnerable people. 

e-Referrals – Electronic referrals made from a GP to a clinical specialist 

Extended access services – GP evening and weekend appointments that are 

available in each borough for all patients registered with a GP to access. 

Governance The ways that organisations ensure they run themselves efficiently and 

effectively, and the ways organisations are open and accountable to the people they 

serve for the work they do. 

Health Help Now An app available in all NW London boroughs that provides health 

advice and access to GP appointments and care records. It is linked to the NHS app. 

Health and Wellbeing Board A statutory formal committee of the local authority that 

promotes greater integration and partnership between bodies from the NHS, public 

health and local government. It produces a joint strategic needs assessment and a 

joint health and wellbeing strategy for their local population. 

Health Education England Health Education England is an executive non-

departmental public body of the Department of Health, which provides national 

Page 156



 

141 
 

leadership and coordinates education and training within the health and public health 

workforce within England. 

Health inequalities Differences in health status between different population 

groups, or in the personal, social, economic, and environmental factors that influence 

health status. 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(HOSC) Reviews and scrutinises matters relating to the planning, provision and 

operation of local health services. A Joint Health Scrutiny Committee oversees all 

eight boroughs in NW London 

Healthwatch Local statutory organisation, commissioned by the local council to 

listen to the needs, experiences and concerns of people who use health and social 

care services to make sure that service commissioners and providers put people at 

the heart of care 

“Hear and Treat” and “See and Treat” provision of telephone advice and treatment 

of people in their homes saving needless trips to hospital. 

IAPT  - A service providing evidence-based treatments for people with anxiety and 

depression- also called talking therapies. 

Integrated Care System (ICS) A partnership of NHS organisations, local councils, 

the voluntary sector and others in a geographical area, who take collective 

responsibility for managing resources, standards, and improving the health of the 

population they serve. 

Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 

Integrated care partnerships (ICPs) are alliances of NHS providers that work 

together to deliver care by agreeing to collaborate rather than compete. These 

providers include hospitals, community services, mental health services and GPs. 

Social care and independent and third sector providers may also be involved. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) This looks at the current and future 

health and care needs of local populations to inform and guide the planning and 

commissioning (buying) of health, well-being and social care services within a local 

authority area. 

Learning from Deaths Review (LeDeR) National programme to support local areas 

to review the deaths of people with learning disabilities, identify learning from those 

deaths, and take forward the learning into service improvement initiatives. 

Local Medical Committee (LMC) local representative committees of NHS GPs who 

represent their interests in their localities to the NHS health authorities. 

Page 157



 

142 
 

My Care Choices a plan for people to record and share their choices for care, 

including for their end of life care. Once completed consent can be given for the 

person’s GP to record their choices on the My Care Choices Register, which is 

accessible for the professionals involved in the person’s care. 

My COPD An app that helps people with COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary 

disease) to better manage their condition. 

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Evidence-based 

guidance for clinicians, commissioners and providers of health and care. 

Neighbourhood integrated care across a range of services around populations of 

between 30,000 and 50,000. These services typically include general practices, 

community teams, some mental health services and adult social care. 

NHS England (NHSE) Sets the priorities and direction of the NHS in England, and 

encourages and informs the national debate to improve health and care. It 

commissions some NHS services directly, and delegates authority to CCGs to 

commission other services.  

NHS Long Term Plan The plan for the transformation of NHS services in England 

over the next 10 years, to improve quality of care and the health outcomes of the 

population. 

Online/e-consultations A form on the GP website that can be used by patients to 

get advice from their GP without the need to book an appointment. 

One London (LHYCRE) A programme running across London looking at how both 

medical and social care records can be joined up and made available to 

professionals across health and social care, to benefit patient care and outcomes. 

Out of hospital care A form of care that is available outside of major hospitals, often 

referred to as primary and community care. ‘Primary care’ is the advice and 

treatment you receive from your local GP. 

PAM – patient activation measure An assessment a GP does with a patient with a 

long-term condition to see how much of a patient’s own healthcare they can manage 

them self. 

Palliative care Aims to improve the quality of life of anyone facing a life-threatening 

condition. It includes physical, emotional and spiritual care. 

Personal Health Budget (PHB) An amount of money to support the identified 

healthcare and wellbeing needs of an individual, which is planned and agreed 

between the individual, or their representative, and the local clinical commissioner. It 

is a different way of spending health funding to meet the needs of an individual, and 

gives the individual greater choice and control over their care. 

Page 158



 

143 
 

Population health management Collection and analysis of data on patients and the 

public, to help improve planning and management of health and care services in the 

local system. 

Primary care Principally GP practices, but also includes community pharmacists, 

dentists and opticians. 

Primary Care Networks (PCN) GP practices working together and with community, 

mental health, social care, pharmacy, hospital and voluntary services in their local 

areas. 

Providers Acute, ambulance, community and mental health services that treat 

patients and service users in the NHS; social care providers including local 

authorities, care homes and home care organisations; and community and voluntary 

organisations. 

Psychiatric Liaison Service Specialist mental health assessment and treatment for 

patients attending general hospitals. 

Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) Indicators of the overall achievement of 

a GP practice through a points system. Practices aim to deliver high quality care 

across a range of areas for which they score points. Put simply, the higher the score, 

the higher the financial reward for the practice. 

Reconfiguration Changing the arrangement, structure or model of organisations or 

services. 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) The framework for referral to treatment consultant-led 

waiting times to ensure that each patient’s waiting time clock starts and stops fairly 

and consistently. 

Rightcare NHS programme to improve spend and outcomes in care, by diagnosing 

the issues and using evidence to identify opportunities for improvement, developing 

solutions and delivering improvements for patients, populations and systems. 

Risk stratification Identifying patients who are at high risk of an adverse event so 

that they can be offered preventive care today aimed at averting costly, unpleasant 

health problems tomorrow. 

Secondary care Either planned (elective) care such as a cataract operation, or 

urgent and emergency care. 

Self care or self management All the actions taken by people to recognise, treat 

and manage their own health, either independently or in partnership with the 

healthcare system. 

Page 159



 

144 
 

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership or Health and care partnership 

(STP) Created in 2016, to bring local health and care leaders together to plan around 

the long-term needs of local communities. England is divided into 44 STPs 

System Delivers what cannot be achieved in neighbourhoods and places, to 

improve and transform care, to provide oversight and accountability at ICS level. 

Page 160



 

1 
 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC):  Babylon 
GP at Hand update  
 
20 January 2020  
 

Summary  This document provides an update on 
Babylon GP at Hand.  

Date 20 January 2020  

Owner  Janet Cree, Managing Director, 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG  

 
Babylon GP at Hand: Briefing for JHOSC 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Babylon GP at Hand is a GMS practice in Hammersmith and Fulham, contracted 

to the CCG to provide services under a standard GMS contract to its registered 
population.  It is a digital first practice that offers services to patients within 
Hammersmith and Fulham and in a range of other geographic locations. 
 

1.2 The practice started offering digital first services in November 2017. The 
practice list size has increased from 2,500 to 74,358 as at January 2020.  This is 
made up of 72,640 on the main list and 1,718 for Birmingham.  
. 

1.3 The practice has been authorised to provide services in a number of locations 
across London and Birmingham in line with contract variations approved by the 
CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee and NHS England. 

 
1.4 In November 2019 Babylon GP at Hand submitted a contract variation to provide 

services in Manchester. This was considered by NHS England and an objection 
to the application was issued at the end of November 2019. The grounds for the 
objection were that the variation to the Sub-Contract would  currently put the 
safety of BGPaH’s patients at serious risk and that the sub-contractor would be 
unable to meet practice’s obligations under their GMS Contract 

 
1.5 The CCG is therefore currently working with the practice and colleagues in 

Manchester to address the quality assurance issues that were addressed as 
part of the development of service in Birmingham with a view to reviewing the 
variation request in due course. 

 
1.6 In November 2019 the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

discussed a proposal to lift the list size growth restriction put in place for 
Birmingham that was set when the contract variation was first approved.  The 
Committee was not fully assured that all the clinical pathway work had been 

Page 161



 

2 
 

completed and asked for more assurance.  At the Committee meeting in 
December 2019 the Committee received the additional assurance and agreed to 
lift the restriction on list size growth on the basis that Babylon GP at Hand: 

 would confirm before reaching 2600 patients that the first extract of Diabetic 
Eye Screening recall patients had taken place;  

 would confirm that the first patients recalled for cervical screening had 
received requested appointments.  

 would, in the slightly longer term, liaise with the local breast screening 
services to identify their first cohort of women becoming eligible for failsafe 
screening and confirm recalls are in place 

 
1.7 In June 2018 the CCG and NHS England commissioned an independent 

evaluation of the service. This was undertaken by Ipsos Mori and published in 
May 2019. https://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news,-publications-
policies/publications-policies.aspx?n=9446. The key areas of enquiry focussed 
on: 

 What is the impact of BGPaH on registered patients? 

 What is the impact of BGPaH on the wider health system? 

 What is the impact of BGPaH on the workforce? 
 

1.8 The headline conclusions were: 
 

 The sustained growth in list size shows an appetite for ‘something’, that was 
not being met by traditional general practice  

 Satisfaction is high for most Babylon GP at Hand patients and more so than a 
matched sample of other patients with their own practices  

 These patients have chosen a model on the basis of access and 
convenience; i.e. 24 hours a day within 2 hours  

 GPs working for Babylon GP at Hand stated a consistent set of motivating 
factors for doing so; primarily they were attracted by the potential of a better 
work-life balance  

 These GPs were also positive about the support and development 
opportunities provided  

 
1.9 NHS England recently consulted on proposals for the future commissioning 

arrangements for digital first practices in order to ensure that there was a level 
playing field for potential providers and clear/transparent mechanisms for 
funding those CCGs were digital first practices are established in the future.  
The key lines of enquiry in the consultation were: 

 should there be reform of out-of-area registration rules to fit better with the 
world of digital-first providers and primary care networks, and if so, how?  

 should there be improvement to the responsiveness of CCG allocation 
adjustments to reflect in-year patient flows, and if so how?  

 should there be change the current premium for new patient registration?  

Page 162

https://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news,-publications-policies/publications-policies.aspx?n=9446
https://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/news,-publications-policies/publications-policies.aspx?n=9446


 

3 
 

 should patients be allowed to choose to register with a wider array of new 
digital-first providers, and if so, could this be done in a way that helps under-
doctored areas and tackles health inequalities, and also avoids current and 
future transaction costs of local APMS procurements? 

 
1.10The key outcomes from the consultation were: 
 

 NHS England and NHS Improvement will take forward the proposal to 
disaggregate a patient list and create a new APMS contract when a provider 
registers a certain number of out-of-area patients in another CCG 

 The threshold will be set at 1,000 patients 

 NHS England and Improvement will make a CCG adjustment based on the 
age and gender of the patients registering with digital first practices, plus the 
practice they were previously registered with 

 NHS England and NHS Improvement heard significant concerns and it has 
been decided not to take forward the proposal in this area and to leave 
arrangements on the new patient registration premium unchanged 

 There was broad agreement NHS England and NHS Improvement should not 
create new opportunities for providers to set up new digital-first services 
anywhere in England and instead for targeting these opportunities in areas of 
greatest need e.g. under-doctored areas, which is the proposal that will now 
be taken forward 

 
2.  Hammersmith and Fulham Position 
 
2.1 Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and the North West London Collaboration of 
CCGs submitted a response to the NHS England consultation on digital first and 
have been directly involved with the process by which NHS England is planning to 
deal with the issue of exceptional list size growth. The CCG is continuing to work on 
the assumption that the full costs arising in Hammersmith and Fulham will be fully 
mitigated. Our current view is that this will be in the region of £24m. However, there 
is a potential unmitigated risk to the CCG based on the approach being proposed by 
NHS England following the conclusion of the consultation.   
 
2.3 The CCG has assessed the potential impacts following the NHS England 
consultation and identified that:   
 

 The disaggregation of patient lists and creation of new APMS contracts when 
a provider registers over 1000 out-of-area patients in another CCG area will 
have the most significant impact for Hammersmith and Fulham CCG. This 
falls into two main categories; financial and Primary Care Network (PCN) 
configuration. 

 With the overall financial consequences of the Babylon GP at Hand 
development still subject to discussions with NHS England in respect of full 
mitigation, this ‘burden’ will be in part transferred to other CCGs. However, if 

Page 163



 

4 
 

Babylon GP at Hand continues to expand into other areas by using a sub-
contract variation of the Hammersmith and Fulham CCG contract, the 
responsibility of ensure appropriate clinical and corporate governance, i.e. 
clinical assurance and contractual implications, will remain with Hammersmith 
and Fulham CCG until such time as the proposed 1000 registrations are 
reached.  

 Currently there are 18 other CCGs each with over 1000 residents registered 
to Babylon GP at Hand. In total this equates to around 46,000 patients. If this 
level of registered patients is disaggregated away from Hammersmith and 
Fulham, the Babylon GP at Hand PCN will have a registered list of fewer than 
30,000, which is below the NHS England stipulated list size for a PCN. This 
could lead to a reconfiguration of the current Hammersmith and Fulham 
PCNs, which inevitably would have a significant impact on the new and 
evolving Hammersmith and Fulham PCNs. 

 At this stage it is difficult to assess the full implications of the capitation 
approach for funding allocation with NHS England and Improvement making 
CCG adjustment based on the age and gender of the patients registering with 
digital first practices, plus the practice they were previously registered with.  

 
2.2 From a financial perspective engagement with NHSE has been ongoing at CFO 
level. In relation to making adjustments to allocations so that the financial pressures 
of GP at Hand are mitigated in year, NHS England wrote to impacted CCGs in 
December 2019. That letter confirmed that “following the consultation on digital first 
primary care, the boards of NHS England and NHS Improvement agreed that, given 
the very rapid expansion of Babylon GP at Hand (BGPaH), which may be replicated 
in other digital providers, …a capitation approach to adjust allocations for in-year 
flows…” will be implemented.  
 
The letter also confirmed that NHS England will make a series of adjustments to 
recognise patients that transferred prior to 2019/20, and then patients that have 
transferred during 2019/20. The total value of these adjustments remains to be 
confirmed, however the initial transfer for patients registering with Hammersmith and 
Fulham CCG prior to 2019/20 has been implemented. 
 
2.3 Implementation of the wider outcome of the consultation will be subject to 
legislative changes. It is unclear at this time when those changes would be brought 
forward. Given that, the NW London CCGs and all other London CCGs, are already 
including in their forecasts the expectation of an allocation adjustment, any risk is 
expected to be confined within Hammersmith and Fulham. 
 
2.4  The development of the Babylon GP at Hand practice has created a significant 
additional workload for the CCG, specifically in relation to the number of contract 
variations that have needed to be considered, and more recently in relation to the  
assurance work associated with the expansion to Birmingham. Babylon GP at Hand 
has already submitted a contract variation to provide services in Manchester which 

Page 164



 

5 
 

has not proceeded because of an objection raised by NHS England.  However, it is 
likely that this will be approved at some point in the future and similar levels of work 
assurance work to that undertaken in Birmingham ensure that services are being 
provided safely and are compliant with the requirements of the GMS contract will be 
required. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC):  estates 

vision  

20 January 2020  

Summary  The NHS in North West London will not 
be able to publish a full estates strategy 
until our clinical strategy is in place. This 
document sets out the vision for estates 
in North West London, the framework in 
which we are working (i.e. the national 
Long-Term Plan), what ambitions we 
have for estates in North West London, 
and what challenges we expect to face.    

Date 20 January 2020  

Owner  David Cox, North West London STP 
Estates Lead 

 
 

1. NHS Long-Term Plan: national estates vision  
 

2. NHS Long-Term Plan: North West London estates vision  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 167



2 
 

 
 

1. NHS Long-Term Plan: national estates vision  
 
The NHS Long-Term Plan has a full section on improving the use of estates (land, 
buildings and equipment). The work of the Long-Term Plan will be measured against 
five tests (view full list here). Test five is entitled: “The NHS will make better use of 
capital investment and its existing assets to drive transformation.”  
 
The NHS estate benefits from world-leading facilities which allow us to deliver 
outstanding patient care. There are also parts of the NHS estate which are older 
than the NHS itself, and could never meet the demands or standards expected of a 
modern health service. In addition to this, the NHS needs to look at serious 
enhancement to our digital capability and diagnostic equipment if we are going to 
meet the needs of our patient population.   
 
Investment and sustainability  
 
In 2017m £3.9bn was allocated to the NHS to support estates transformation and to 
tackle the maintenance backlog. At a national level, a number of possible reforms 
are under consideration which support a better management of funds, with greater 
productivity, planning, and control over capital. For example, there are proposals to 
reduce fragmentation of funding resources, and make sure capital decision-making 
is able to focus on the long-term needs, not short-term damage control.  
 
The national plan commits to working with all providers to reduce the amount of non-
clinical space by a further 2%, and pledges an aim to reduce the NHS carbon 
footprint by a third (from 2007 levels) by 2020. It also sets out an ambition to improve 
the way we manage our estate to help to reduce emissions and to improve air 
quality.  
 

2. NHS Long-Term Plan: North West London estates vision  
 
In alignment with the national plan and its tests, our North West London ambitions 
for our estates strategy are that it should:  

 Improve quality and patient care  

 Improve productivity  

 Be more sustainable, for example in terms of energy efficiency  

 Reinvest money from unnecessary land into patient care  

 Support government target of building new homes for NHS staff.  

In addition to these national ambitions, we know from public engagement locally in 
North West London that our patient population has expressed concerns about 
accessibility, premises that fit the need for modern health and care services, and the 
need to be as environmentally-sustainable as possible.   

Investment and sustainability 

Page 168



3 
 

Future funding allocations for North West London will be dependent upon the HIP 
bids and capital decisions, which have not yet been made. North West London has 
put in a bid for investments to develop and improve the estates at St Mary’s Hospital, 
Hammersmith Hospital, Charing Cross Hospital, and Hillingdon Hospital.   
 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust is developing practical and credible options 
for a full redevelopment of the St Mary’s Hospital site, as well as significant 
developments at our Charing Cross Hospital and Hammersmith Hospital sites, with 
the Western Eye Hospital being incorporated into these plans. 
 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust is working to progress the St Mary’s Hospital 
development as soon as possible, with funding primarily from the sale of surplus 
land. The Trust continues with its own programme of smaller scale estate 
improvements at Charing Cross and Hammersmith (and the co-located Queen 
Charlotte’s and Chelsea and Westminster) Hospitals, before undertaking a mixture of 
major refurbishments and new build supported with central funding beginning around 
2025/26. The Trust will seek to co-locate the Western Eye Hospital within the most 
appropriate part of its estate. 
 
Reflecting the refreshed organisational strategy and the wider North West London 
picture, the emerging plans are expected to support a new approach to working with 
partners to provide more joined-up care, and to support continuing innovation and 
clinical advances. It is recognised that we will require at least the same level of 
inpatient beds and both our existing A&E departments in order to meet future need. 
 
The NHS in North West London will also be looking at further hub developments. 
These will be planned on a case-by-case basis, taking into account local need, 
workforce and building capacity, existing conditions and the availability of funding 
and/or development opportunities.  
 
The 20-bed 'decant' ward planned for the Hillingdon site has received planning 
permission from the local authority and funding is in place, so winter pressures and 
our planned rolling programme of ward upgrades will both be addressed by this 
development. We intend to get on with this as soon as possible.  
 
A multi-storey ward unit, also planned for the Hillingdon site, will go out to tender 
shortly and its final form and function is still under discussion. Some site clearance of 
older buildings and repositioning of facilities such as the waste and recycling yard 
and some car parking, will be undertaken as part of this project. The proposed 
completion date is by the end of 2020.  
  
The emergency department expansion at Hillingdon is in its final phase, with 
additional consulting rooms, treatment rooms and a dedicated plaster room for the 
Urgent Treatment Centre. 
 
There is also ongoing work at Hillingdon within the boiler house, which is nearing 
completion, and work continues on an incinerator upgrade in order to bring that back 
into action.  
 

Page 169



4 
 

In North West London we have a backlog maintenance issue which amounts to 
£1.037bn. Without resolving this major issue, it could become very difficult to deliver 
adequate, safe and appropriate care for patients in North West London to the 
standards we would desire. Not only do we have parts of the estate in North West 
London which are in very poor condition but the age of the buildings means that the 
will need an urgent and serious refresh if we are going to keep our patients safe and 
well. This needs to be incorporated carefully into our estates strategy as we look at 
the best ways to transform estates with the capital available to us.  
 
How will patients benefit from our estates strategy?  

The North West London estates strategy will test itself against the benefit to patients, 
both via its alignment to the North West London clinical strategy (when published) 
and via its alignment to the national Long-Term Plan.  

The benefits to patients include:  

 Hubs will offer more services in one place, closer to home 

 Improved and better value services. 

 Reduced the cost of our estate so that money can be put back into patient 
services. 

 Improved the quality of existing buildings. 

 How will we know that we’re making a difference? 

 More patients can access services at the right time, at the right location and to 
be seen by the right person. 

 Patients benefit from modernised and appropriate primary care 
accommodation. 

 Capacity for primary care is better aligned to the recent and forecast 
increases in our population. 

 Optimised use of the health estate. 

 Void space costs are reduced. 

 
Progress in North West London so far 
 
NHS England has graded our current estates strategy as ‘strong’, one of only a 
limited number in the country to achieve this top rating. The strategy captures our 
response to the clinical strategy, population need, demand, and population growth.  
 
We have also:  
 

 Developed a detailed delivery plan, bringing together all priority projects into a 
single plan.  

 Created a London Estates Board, now operating in shadow form, which 
provides the opportunity for London to manage its own regeneration and to 
work as a wider system to deliver the necessary estate investment through 
collaborative working. 

Page 170



5 
 

 Developed a capital investment plan across acute, community and primary 
care estate.  

 Established an effective and collaborative Strategic Estates Committee with 
representatives from commissioners, providers and key partners.  

 Aligned with ‘One Public Estate’ Partnership between Cabinet Office, Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government, CCGs, and NHS Property 
Services (PS), working to support collaborative property-led projects in local 
areas.  

 Developed Kingswood Hospital - £4.190m invested to develop additional beds 
for people with learning difficulties/autistic spectrum disorders.  

 

Successful capital schemes  
 

 St Mary’s Hospital: £1.865m awarded for the development of an Endovascular 
Hybrid Theatre. This will facilitate integration of fixed imaging equipment into 
an operating theatre to enable safer surgery and intervention.  

 

 Central and North West London: £5,212m to improve mental health 

accommodation. 

 

 Park Royal Mental Health Wards: £2.350m awarded to reconfigure wards to 

deliver single sex accommodation on two adult in-patient wards. 

 

 Park Royal Practice: £1.8m capital funding awarded for a new primary care 

practice within Central Middlesex Hospital 

 

 Yiewsley Health Centre: £0.5m capital funding awarded to increase primary 

care capacity 

 

 Burnley Practice: £0.5m capital funding awarded to increase primary care 

capacity within Willesden Centre for Health and Care 

 

 The Hillingdon Hospital Trust: £16m emergency funding to address patient 

safety and priority infrastructure backlog maintenance  

 

 
What do we plan to do next?  

 
 Deliver local services hubs to support the shift of services from a hospital 

setting to a community-based location.  

 Align estates and technology strategies to maximise the potential impact of 
technology to transform service delivery and potential efficiencies in designing 
new healthcare accommodation.  

Page 171



6 
 

 We will optimise property costs by maximising use of existing space and using 
technology to reduce physical infrastructure required for service delivery.  

 Continuing to identify opportunities for consolidation and co-location of 
primary care services to maximise the potential availability of NHS England’s 
Estates Technology Transformation Fund to improve services.  

 We have identified key areas for investment (utilising local SSDPs and estate 
strategies) to ensure future primary care premises are fit for purpose to 
support delivery of high quality primary care.  

 Work with Trusts to ensure unoccupied floor space does not exceed 2.5 per 
cent; floor space used for non-clinical purposes should not exceed 35 per 
cent. 

 Development of an estates delivery plan 

 Evaluate and map current health estate, including tenure, current void and 
under-utilisation across the health system. Develop strategies to reduce the 
void and improve efficiency of estate usage and determine additional 
infrastructure requirements by overlaying housing zones and developments 

 Utilisation and optimisation studies will continue to be used to review the 
performance of existing estate and buildings. This will inform the design and 
development of new efficient and technologically advanced buildings and 
facilities. 

 One Public Estate – to work closely with public sector partners to optimise 
joint opportunities for estate rationalisation, utilise creative investment that 
delivers transformational change, generate efficiencies (capital receipts and 
reduced running costs) and support economic growth (homes and jobs). 

 Work effectively with Local Authority Planning Teams to develop Local Plans, 
IDP and Neighbourhood plans that convey the health requirements and estate 
renewal to secure funding (s106 or Community Infrastructure Levy) from 
housing developers. 

 Develop Outline and Full Business Cases that support strategic investment for 
acute, community and primary care transformation, including reviewing 
revenue implications and cost pressures. 

 Rationalise and invest in existing estate and dispose of estate that is not fit for 
purpose. 

 Work with property partners in redeveloping existing NHS estate to provide 
new, modern, fit for purpose estate and support local housing objectives. 

 

 

Page 172


	Agenda
	1 JHOSC Agenda
	Draft Minutes - JHOSC 22 July 2019
	Draft Minutes - JHOSC 30 October 2019
	ITEM 5 Background Appendix Only - draft North West London Long-Term Plan
	Item 6 - Babylon GP at Hand
	Item 7 - Update on North West London Estates Strategy


